
 

 
Telephone Enquiries: Democratic Services, (01254) 380116/380109/380184 
Email:  memberservices@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 
Published on Tuesday, 10 March 2020 

Page 1 of 3  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Cabinet 
 
Wednesday, 18 March 2020 at 3.00 pm, 
Queen Elizabeth Room, Scaitcliffe House, Ormerod Street, Accrington 
 
Membership 
 
Chair: Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (in the Chair) 
 
Councillors Paul Cox, Munsif Dad BEM JP, Joyce Plummer, Loraine Cox and Jenny Molineux 
 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

PART A: PROCEDURAL AND INFORMATION ITEMS 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence   
 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest and Dispensations   
 
 

3.   Minutes of Cabinet  (Pages 5 - 22) 
 
To approve the Minutes of the last meeting of Cabinet held on 12th February 2020. 
 

4.   Minutes of Boards, Panels and Working Groups  (Pages 23 - 28) 
 
To receive the Minutes of the meetings of the following Boards, Panels and Working 
Groups: 
 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

Page 2 of 3 

 

 
 

Meeting Date 

Regeneration and Housing Panel 6th January 2020 

Cabinet Committee (Street Naming) 24th February 2020 
 

PART B: PORTFOLIO ITEMS 
 

5.   Reports of Cabinet Members   
 
To receive verbal reports from each of the Portfolio Holders, as appropriate. 
 

Portfolio Holder for Housing and Regeneration (Councillor Loraine Cox) 
 

6.   B with Us Allocations Policy  (Pages 29 - 72) 
 
Report attached. 
 

Portfolio Holder for Education, Leisure and Arts (Councillor Munsif Dad BEM, JP) 
 

7.   Health and Wellbeing  (Pages 73 - 76) 
 
Report attached. 
 

Portfolio Holder for Resources (Councillor Joyce Plummer) 
 

8.   Amendment to the Rules, Regulations and Procedures for Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Licensing  (Pages 77 - 122) 
 
Report attached. 
 

PART C: EXEMPT ITEMS 
 

9.   Exclusion of the Public   
 
Recommended That, in accordance with Section 100A(4) Local Government 

Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during the 
following items, when it is likely, in view of the nature of the 
proceedings that there will otherwise be disclosure of 
exempt information within the Paragraphs of Schedule 12A 
of the Act specified at the items. 

 
Details of any representations received by the Executive about why the following 
report should be considered in public – none received. 
 
Statement in response to any representations – not required. 
 

Leader of the Council (Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE) 
 



 

Page 3 of 3 

 

10.   Barnfield & Hyndburn Limited  (Pages 123 - 126) 
 
Exempt information by virtue of Paragraph 3 - Relating to the financial or business affairs 
of any particular person (including the authority holding that information) 
 
Report attached. 
 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

 
CABINET 

 

 
Wednesday, 12th February, 2020 

 
Present:  Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (in the Chair), Councillors Paul Cox, 

Joyce Plummer and Loraine Cox 
 

In Attendance: Councillors June Harrison, Eamonn Higgins and Dave Parkins 

  

Apologies: Munsif Dad BEM JP and Jenny Molineux 
 

 
247 Apologies for Absence 

 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Munsif Dad BEM JP and 
Jenny Molineux. 
 

248 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
There were no reported declarations of interest or dispensations. 
 

249 Minutes of Cabinet 
 
The minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held on 15th January 2020 were submitted for 
approval as a correct record. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct 

record. 
 

250 Minutes of Boards, Panels and Working Groups 
 
The minutes of the following meetings were submitted: 
 

 Regeneration and Housing Panel – 10th June 2019 

 Regeneration and Housing Panel – 21st August 2019 

 Regeneration and Housing Panel – 14th October 2019 

 Cabinet Waste and Recycling Group – 19th December 2019 

 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and noted. 
 

251 Reports of Cabinet Members 
 
The following verbal reports were provided: 
 
Councillor Paul Cox (Deputy Leader of the Council) 
 
Councillor Paul Cox reported that, a new look play area in Church Kirk was already proving 
popular with local children, with youngsters enjoying lots of new equipment there, including 
an exciting aerial runway and a large side to side swinging rope.  There was also a climbing 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

frame and an overhead rotator, along with swings, a basket swing and an interactive 
snakes and ladders game for family fun. 
  
Pupils from the Sacred Heart Primary School in Church were already fans of the large 
swinging rope, which provided a centre piece within the play area and was the first of its 
kind in Hyndburn.  It could be used by several children at once and would swing back and 
forth like a pirate ship at a theme park.  
The Hyndburn Green Spaces Forum, working closely with Hyndburn Council’s Parks Team, 
had secured a grant from the Lancashire Environmental Fund for £30,000, with Hyndburn 
Council providing the remainder of the funding.  The facilities would help to improve the 
health and wellbeing of local children and their families. 
 
Resolved - To note the verbal report provided by the Deputy Leader 

of the Council. 
 

252 Global Resettlement Scheme - Request for Procurement Rules Exemption 
 
Councillor Loraine Cox, Portfolio Holder for Housing and Regeneration, reported on a 
proposal to seek a waiver of the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules in respect of the 
purchase of casework support and voluntary sector support for the Global Resettlement 
Scheme implementation in Hyndburn. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
The Global Resettlement Scheme (GRS) is being introduced by the Home Office from 
2020/21 and will consolidate all current resettlement programmes for refugees.  Lancashire 
has been asked to be involved by the Home Office and Lancashire County Council (LCC) is 
the lead authority for its co-ordination on behalf of all Local Authorities in Lancashire. 
 
The GRS will broaden the geographical focus beyond the Middle East and North Africa 
region.  Therefore, refugees could come from many countries including Syria, Iraq, Iran, 
Somalia and Sudan.  
 
The funding structure and delivery of the programme for the first cohort arriving in 2020/21 
will be very similar to the current Syrian Resettlement Programme in Lancashire.  Both the 
funding structure and numbers beyond 2020/21 are subject to agreement from the 
Treasury. 
 
All Lancashire local authorities have been requested to pledge and commit to resettle 10 
refugee households over a 5 year period.  Hyndburn has committed to receive the first 5 
households in July 2020.  Preparations are now underway to enable this to happen. 
 
Whilst a lot of the arrangements and logistics are co-ordinated by LCC there are numerous 
responsibilities on Hyndburn Borough Council to undertake prior to the refugees arrival.  
These will be detailed in the Agreement between LCC and the Council (to be agreed) and 
include the following:- 
 

 Sourcing suitable self-contained accommodation; and 

 Casework Support Service. 

 

Page 6



 
 
 

 

 
3 

It was reported that Onward Homes, who provided the accommodation for the 10 Syrian 
Refugee households who arrived in July 2018, have agreed to source and provide houses 
for the 5 families arriving in July 2020 under the GRS. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The Council could undertake a procurement exercise to choose a service provider for the 
above services but this is not recommended for the reasons stated in paragraphs 3.8, 3.10 
and 3.11 of the report. 
 
Resolved (1) That Cabinet waives the Council’s Contract Procedure 

Rules in respect of the appointment of Calico Enterprise 
Ltd to provide casework support for a period of 2 years 
for the refugee households arriving in Hyndburn in July 
2020 as part of the Global Resettlement Scheme.  

 
(2) That Cabinet waives the Council’s Contract Procedure 

Rules in respect of the appointment of Maundy Relief (on 
behalf of THRIVE) to provide voluntary sector support for 
a period of 2 years for the refugee households arriving in 
Hyndburn in July 2020 as part of the Global Resettlement 
Scheme. 

 
(3) That Cabinet delegates authority to the Head of 

Regeneration and Housing in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and Housing to agree 
the terms of the Council’s agreement with Calico 
Enterprise Ltd and Maundy Relief and the terms of the 
Local Authority Agreement between the Council and 
Lancashire County Council. 

 
253 Pavement Cafe Licensing Policy 

 
Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, provided a report seeking 
approval to the adoption of a Policy and standard conditions for the licensing of pavement 
cafes under section 115E of the Highways Act 1980 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
Under Section 115E of the Highways Act 1980, a district Council may grant permission for 
the service, amenities, recreation and refreshment facilities on pedestrianised areas of the 
highways.  The powers can be used to licence street cafes to enable premises fronting on 
pedestrian areas to have tables and chairs outside the premises for their customers. 
 
Alfresco eating is becoming a more widespread aspect of urban life and the presence of 
tables and chairs on the pavement can make a positive contribution by adding vitality, 
colour, life and interest to an area.  Hyndburn Borough Council supports and encourages 
the provision of pavement cafes in the area as they can help maximise the use of public 
spaces, aid the local economy and add to the facilities offered to people who visit, live, and 
work in Hyndburn. 
 
Whilst the Council wishes to encourage pavement cafes, it is important that they are 
properly located and managed.  This is to ensure that they meet the standards expected in 

Page 7



 
 
 

 

 
4 

Hyndburn and that they do not obstruct the highway nor create a hazard for pedestrians, 
especially for blind, partially sighted and other disabled people.  
 
The area to be used must take into account other needs in the immediate vicinity e.g. 
kerbside parking, bus stops and pedestrian crossings.  Pedestrians’ needs must be 
paramount.  The expanse of the pavement cafe must not conflict with any access or 
dropped crossings that are required for free passage of normal road users.  Barriers and 
tapping rails should be positioned and maintained to the satisfaction of Hyndburn Council 
and should be totally removed outside the permitted hours of operation of the cafe, 
restaurant or bar. 
 
In order to ensure that Pavement Cafes are run in such a manner so as to enhance the 
area and not to cause a problem to others using the pedestrianised areas, it is important 
that a robust policy is in place to deal with the issuing and maintenance of the licences 
issued under the Highways Act 1980. 
 
The granting of such permissions is similar to the processing of other licensing applications 
dealt with by the Licensing Section and, as many of the premises likely to apply under the 
Highways Act 1980 are likely also to have premises licences issued under the Licensing Act 
2003, it seems sensible for them to be dealt with within the same service. 
 
Under Section 115F of the Highways Act 1980, a Council may attach such conditions as it 
feels fit to a Street Cafe licence.  Accordingly, it is proposed that the standard conditions set 
out in Appendix 1 to the Policy, also be approved. 
 
Based on the predicted time spent on administering and controlling pavement cafes it is 
proposed that the application fee should be set at £125. 
 
There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons for rejection. 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet approves the proposed Policy and standard 

conditions for pavement cafe licences and approves the 
application fee of £125. 

 
254 Disability Service (Specialist Accommodation Unit) - Update from Overview and 

Scrutiny (Resources) Committee Call-In 
 
Councillor Loraine Cox, Portfolio Holder for Housing and Regeneration, provided a report 
on the findings of the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee “Call-in” in respect of 

the Cabinet’s decision to approve a £300,000 contribution from the Council’s Capital 
Programme towards the provision of an adult specialist unit.  The unit would form part of 
Lancashire County Council’s proposed development of two specialist accommodation units; 
one for disabled adults and one for disabled children both in Great Harwood. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
At its meeting on the 15th January 2020, Cabinet approved a £300,000 contribution from the 
Council’s Capital Programme towards an adult specialist unit.  That decision was 
subsequently “called in” by the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee, which met to 
consider the matter on the 6th February 2020.  
 
After careful consideration, the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee released the 
Cabinet decision in full for implementation. 

Page 8



 
 
 

 

 
5 

 
There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons for rejection. 
 
Resolved - That the Cabinet notes that its decision of the 15th 

January 2020 in respect of the Disability Service 
(Specialist Accommodation Unit) was released in full for 
implementation, following the use of the Call-In 
procedure. 

 
255 Financial Position December 2019 - Report for the Year Ending 31st March 2020 

 
Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, provided a report informing 

Cabinet of the financial spending of the Council up to the end of December 2019 and the 

financial forecast outturn position for the Accounting Year 2019/20.  Members considered a 

table within the report which set out the core financial details. 

 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
The spend for the first 9 months of the financial year to the end of December 2019 is 
£8,756,000 compared to a Budget of £8,887,000 giving a positive variance of £131,000 
over the first 9 months of the year. 
 
The current forecast spend to the end of the financial year in March 2020 is £10,776,000 
compared to a Budget of £10,994,000.  This forecast produces a positive variance of 
£218,000 by the end of the financial year.  There are small adverse forecasts for Planning 
and Transportation, and Environmental Services.  Regeneration and Property Services 
have a larger adverse variance of 16% of Budget.  Elsewhere positive variances are 
sufficient to produce an overall surplus for the year.  
 
Environmental Services  
 
Environmental Services are predicting a year end adverse variance of £21,000.  This stems 
from salary savings of £24,000 and £1,000 of other savings on Food Safety.  Waste 
Services’ income is up £48,000, along with £22,000 of salary savings and £103,000 positive 
variance on recycling, less £50,000 of additional miscellaneous expenditure for an overall 
£123,000 surplus on their budget.  Parks and Cemeteries are predicting a positive variance 
of £31,000 with the Parks Service indicating savings of £19,000 on salaries and £5,000 on 
miscellaneous costs offset by £36,000 of reduced income.  Cemeteries are predicting an 
additional £36,000 income this year and salary savings of £8,000 less £1,000 of additional 
extra miscellaneous spend.  The Town Centre and Market Hall Budget is indicating an 
overall adverse variance of £200,000, comprising £190,000 reduced income at the Market 
Hall and income from CCTV down by £10,000, less £27,000 of salary savings reduced by 
£27,000 of additional expenditure.   
 
Culture and Leisure Services 
 
Culture and Leisure Services are indicating a positive variance of £24,000 due to £30,000 
of savings on leisure budgets less £6,000 additional net expenditure at the Haworth Art 
Gallery. 
  
Planning and Transportation  
 

Page 9



 
 
 

 

 
6 

Planning and Transportation are predicting an adverse variance for the year of £32,000.  
This is due to a predicted shortfall in income compared to budget on Building Control of 
£65,000 and additional salary expenditure in this area of £26,000.  Elsewhere on the 
Budget there are £27,000 of staff savings and £46,000 of additional income less £14,000 of 
miscellaneous additional expenditure. 
 
Regeneration and Property Services 
 
Regeneration and Property Services are predicting an adverse variance of £169,000 at 
year-end with salary costs up by £74,000 over the year compared to budget and expected 
additional costs of £138,000, less £43,000 of additional income. 
 
 
Policy and Corporate Governance 
 
Policy and Corporate Governance are predicting a positive variance of £21,000.  This 
stems from salary savings of £281,000 less the Corporate Savings Target for the year of 
£165,000, predicted increases of £100,000 on Housing Benefit Costs, along with £82,000 of 
additional miscellaneous costs less £87,000 of additional income. 
 
Non Service Items 
 
The current estimate for the year is a positive variance of £395,000. 
 
There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons for rejection. 
 
Resolved - That the Cabinet notes the report and asks the Corporate 

Management Team to continue to reduce costs and 

increase income over the remaining months of the 

financial year. 

 
256 Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020/21 to 2022/23 - February 2020 Update 

 
Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, provided a report on the 3-year 
projections of income and spending for the Council ahead of formulating its 2020/21 
Revenue and Capital Budgets. 
 
Councillor Plummer highlighted some key issues from the report including: 
 

 Global uncertainty and uncertainty around the Government’s future approach to 

supporting local councils; 

 The high levels of certainty around the financial position for 2020/21; 

 Uncertainty around the financial position in 2021/22, as a result of the likelihood of 

the Government reactivating its Fair Funding Review; 

 The possibility of more funding being made available to local authorities in 2021/22, 

but questions about to which authorities that funding might be directed given the 

pressures on adult social care; 

 The potential for Hyndburn Borough Council to lose its Revenue Support Grant in 

2021/22 and some of the funding available through Business Rates Retention, but 

an optimistic view that changes might only be relatively small; and 

 A forecast of a relatively balanced Budget in 2022/23. 

 

Page 10



 
 
 

 

 
7 

In respect of the 2021/22, a 9.1% shortfall would equate to around £1M of savings required, 
but in the worst case scenario up to £2M could be required.  The Three Year Standard 
Model forecast set out in the report was based upon a £1M shortfall. 
 
The main elements included in the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) were as 
follows:- 
 

 Objectives and Elements of the Strategy; 

 Service Planning to support overall Strategy; 

 Integrated Resource Planning with Service Plans; 

 Financial Analysis 2020/21 to 2022/23 (Resources; Government Grant; Business 

Rates; Council Tax; Expected Loss of Income); 

 Changes in Costs (Salaries Costs; Pension Costs; Supplies and Service Costs; 

Capital Costs); 

 Growth; 

 Reserves; 

 Other Assumptions; 

 Scenarios; 

 Robustness of Forecast; and 

 Overall Net Position 

 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
The Cabinet requires an update on its medium term financial outlook ahead of setting the 
Budget for 2020/21 and determining the level of Council Tax for the new financial year.  
This report also ensures those decisions are taken with a view to the overall position of the 
Council going forward and are not limited to a narrow one year perspective. 
 
Resolved - That the Cabinet approves the report and the 

accompanying Medium Term Financial Strategy. 
 

257 Prudential Indicators Monitoring & Treasury Management 2020/21 
 
Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, provided a report setting out 
proposals for the Council’s policy and objectives with respect to treasury management, to 
explain how it will achieve its objectives and manage its activities; and to agree an 
investment strategy for 2020/21. 
 
Councillor Plummer highlighted that the purpose of the report was to set the limits on how 
the Council used its cash and the limits on both borrowing and investments.  The Council 
intended to live within its means and did not wish to increase borrowing unnecessarily.  It 
intended to repay debt whenever it could.  The report also highlighted that interest rates 
were currently low.  Included in the report were the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) for 
year 2020/21, the Treasury Management Policy Statement 2020/21 and the policy on 
capital expenditure. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
Treasury management is defined as: 

Page 11



 
 
 

 

 
8 

 

 The management of the Council’s investment and cash flows, its banking, money 

market and capital market transactions; 

 The effective control of the risks associated with these activities; and 

 And the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks. 

 
The Council is required to operate a balanced budget which means that cash raised during 
the year will meet cash expenditure.  Part of treasury management is to ensure the cash 
flow is properly planned with cash available when needed.  Surplus monies are invested in 
line with the Council’s low risk preferences. 
 
The second function of treasury management is funding the Council’s capital plans.  The 
plans give a guide to the future borrowing need of the Council.  The management of this 
longer term cash flow may involve arranging long or short term loans or using longer term 
cash flow surpluses.  Occasionally outstanding debt may be restructured to reduce Council 
risk or meet cost objectives. 
 
The report has been prepared in line with the Treasury Management Code and Guidance 
(2017) written by The Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy (Cipfa).  In the 
case of local authorities in England and Wales, the Code is significant under the provisions 
of the Local Government Act 2003.  This requires local authorities ‘to have regard (a) to 
such guidance as the Secretary of State may issue, and (b) to such other guidance as the 
Secretary of State may by regulations specify’.  The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and 
Accounting) (England) Regulations 2003 in paragraph 24 require local authorities to have 
regard to this guidance.  Acceptance of the report fulfils those obligations. 
 
The report included further details in respect of the following matters: 
 

 The Prudential Code and Prudential Indicators; 

 Capital Expenditure and the Capital Financing Requirement; 

 Minimum Revenue Provision; 

 Affordability Prudential Indicators; 

 Treasury Management Strategy 2020/21 – 2022/23 (Current Treasury Position; 

Expected Movement in Interest Rates; Borrowing and Debt Strategy  2020/21 – 

2022/23); 

 External Debt Overall Limits; 

 External v Internal Borrowing; 

 Limits on Activity (Treasury Management Indicators; Proposed Limits for Maturity 

Structure of Borrowing); 

 Debt Rescheduling; 

 Investment Strategy; 

 Treasury Management Practices (TMP); 

 Policy on the Use of External Service Providers; and 

 Treasury Management Strategy In-Year and Year-End Reporting. 

 
There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons for rejection. 
 
Resolved - That the Cabinet agrees to recommend the Council: 
 

(1) To adopt the Prudential Indicators and Limits detailed 

in the report. 

 

Page 12



 
 
 

 

 
9 

(2) To approve the Treasury Management Strategy, and 

associated indicators, as set out in Section 8 of the 

report. 

 
(3) To approve the Investment Strategy as set out in 

Section 13 of the report. 

 
(4) To approve that the Minimum Revenue Provision 

(MRP) for the year 2020/21 – Appendix 1. 

 
(5) To approve the Treasury Management Policy 

Statement 2020/21 – Appendix 2. 
 
(6) To approve the Treasury Management Practices 

Statement 2020/21 – Appendix 3. 
 

258 General Fund Revenue Budget 2020/21 
 
Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, provided a report setting out 
proposals for the 2020/21 General Fund Revenue Budget.  It also provided an overview of 
key issues arising from the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 
 
The decision to set the Budget would be a principal decision of the Council.  The role of the 
Cabinet was to recommend a proposed Budget to the Council. 
 
Councillor Plummer highlighted key points from within the report including: 
 

 Predicted spending in 2020/21 of £11.3M; 

 Estimated revenue available in the sum of £11.2M; 

 A requirement of £116k to balance the Budget, to be financed by corporate in-year 

savings; 

 A proposed Band D Council Tax of £250.52, which equated to around a 10p/week 

increase (approximately 2%) from last year’s figure; 

 The majority of houses in Hyndburn were in Band A, which would be subject to a 

7p/week increase; 

 In setting the Budget, assumptions had been made about likely increases in salaries 

and non-pay expenses (both 2%); 

 If any estimates were too low an overspend would result, for which in year action 

would need to be taken; 

 There were a number of other potential threats during the year, but the Council had 

a good track record of financial management and usually returned a Budget surplus; 

 A list was provided of the anticipated precept requirements of Lancashire County 

Council, Lancashire Police and Crime Commissioner, Lancashire Fire and Rescue 

Authority and Altham Parish Council. 

 
Overall, the planned Budget gave rise to a moderate rise in Council Tax against a 
background of continuing pressure on public finances. 
 
The report provided further details as follows: 
 
The Council’s proposed Revenue Budget for 2020/21 includes net expenditure of 
£11,227,000. 
 

Page 13



 
 
 

 

 
10 

Under these proposals, Council Tax for Hyndburn residents will rise for Hyndburn Council 
provided services by £5.00 (2.04%) for a Band D property.  (The amounts due for each 
band were set out in an Appendix to the report).  The increase is equivalent to 10p per 
week for a Band D property, but for most residents the increase will be less than 7p per 
week as the majority of households in Hyndburn are Band A properties that pay two-thirds 
the value of a Band D property in Council Tax. 
 
This is the only the fourth rise in Council Tax for Hyndburn services since 2009/10 and the 
average annual increase over this period has been below 1%.  This is significantly below 
the rate of inflation over this period.  If the Council had increased Council Tax simply by 
inflation (CPI) over the last 11 years rather than the actual increases made, Council Tax for 
Hyndburn’s services would have been almost 13% more expensive at £282.83 for each 
average Band D property within Hyndburn which is £32.31 more than proposed for 2020/21 
at £250.52. 
 
The increase in Council Tax by Hyndburn Council is a result of cost pressures from wages, 
other expenditure inflation and the loss of income which have risen at a faster rate than the 
increases generated from Government Grant or Business Rates.  The level of increase in 
overall expenditure would have been greater except for the reduction in pension costs this 
year.  The Triennial Review of the Council’s employer contribution by the independent 
actuary to the Pension Fund has allowed the Council to reduce its level of contribution by 
£528,000 this year, with a further £500,000 reduction expected in 2021/22. 
 
Lancashire County Council, the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Combined Fire 
and Rescue Authority have not yet formally taken their decisions on Council Tax Levels for 
2020/21.  It is expected that the County Council will raise its Council Tax for each 
household by a general increase of 1.99% and a 1.99% increase to assist with meeting the 
cost of Adult Social Care which equates to a 3.99% increase overall.  It is expected that the 
Police Commissioner will increase a Band D Property by £10 and that the Fire and Rescue 
Authority will recommend a 1.99% increase. 
 
Altham Parish Council has set a separate precept for its activities for the twelfth time in 
2020/21.  This year the Parish Council does not intend to increase its precept.  The Band D 
charge for Altham Parish Council will therefore remain at £40.27 for the year and will 
precept the Collection Fund for £12,685.  (Details of the proposed position on other 
Bandings for properties in Altham were supplied in an Appendix). 
 
In setting the Budget for 2020/21 the Council faces continued volatility around some of the 
most significant items within its Budget.  Major reforms of local government finance have 
transferred the risk of business rate revenues and Council Tax benefits to the Council.  The 
certainty on which the Council could budget and manage its finances has therefore 
decreased since 2013 and it will be important going forward to plot any deviations away 
from the expected figures and take appropriate action if these should start to emerge.  This 
might result in the need to reduce spending during the year, if revenue analysis during the 
year starts to indicate the amounts of funds received will fall short of the target. 
 
The Cabinet intends to continue the good financial stewardship of the Council’s affairs by 
continuing the successful policies introduced over the last 16 years to manage costs 
effectively and promote appropriate service investment.  This Budget will therefore deliver, 
 

 A continuation of the established approach of limiting enhancements on early 

retirement, continuing our rigorous approach to absence management and 

committing to minimising borrowing costs.  These actions have already stemmed 

the build-up of unproductive costs within the organisation.  In each of these cases 

Page 14



 
 
 

 

 
11 

the Council has put a stop to the costly and financially damaging policies of the past 

and created a healthier and more financially stable culture within the Council. 

 

 While the Council is not incurring any further borrowing costs it is able to invest  just 

over £3.1m in total for the year on Capital Schemes, with £966,000 going to support 

those with medical and physical difficulties to live independent lives in their own 

homes, it will continue its work to improve Accrington Town Centre building upon the 

£2m already spent in this area with a commitment to another £1¼ m of investment 

into this key area and provide money to improve facilities at our Sport Halls and 

Council buildings to ensure services can continue to be provided from these 

locations for many years to come. 

 

 Despite costs of over £85,000 to provide car parking in Hyndburn for residents and 

visitors and particularly for shoppers, the Council will continue to provide this facility 

free of charge and not introduce charges for parking in Hyndburn.  The Council 

believes this action will help bolster the town centres through these difficult 

economic times and provide an incentive for people to shop locally rather than drive 

and pay to shop elsewhere across the North-West 

 

 Further reductions in accommodation costs, building on the success over the last 11 

years including further rationalising the Council’s accommodation and looking at 

more ways of using accommodation more effectively.  The Council will also continue 

its actions to reduce its carbon emissions and energy costs and continue 

contributing to the improvements of its environmental footprint by positive action.  

 
The Council intends to continue to deliver all of the above and remains committed to a 
radical agenda of improvement while managing within its available resources.  This will be 
more difficult in the years to come, given reduced resources from the Government.  
However, there remains a firm commitment and absolute determination amongst Members 
and Officers of the Council to control the finances of the Council, drive forward on the 
efficiency agenda and continue to improve service delivery.  The Council wishes to continue 
to push forward on the drive for delivering value for money as a key priority. 
 
The rewards of strong financial control remain clearly evident.  The Council has built itself 
back from experiencing major difficulties in controlling expenditure and a position of 
negative reserves in 2003/04 to a situation by March 2019, in which Balances are over 
£2.1m and the Revenue Budget for 2019/20 is predicting a saving of over £218,000 which 
will contribute to improving the strength of the underlying financial position. 
 
Within the Budget for 2020/21 there are a number of areas which are subject to our best 
estimation.  There are therefore a number of risks around the budget, should these 
estimated costs or revenue amounts vary during the year.   
 
After the introduction of the Government reforms to Business Rates Funding of Local 
Government, the Council now carries a significant risk around the level of monies available, 
fluctuating substantially from this source.  In addition, as the calculation of how much funds 
will be available is dependent on a number of factors including debt collection rates, the 
size of appeals against business rates assessment and the success of these appeals, new 
rules around levies, safety nets and pooling, the introduction of new rules on rates relief on 
retail premises and small businesses, as well as predicted levels of growth or decline in 
business activities and the estimation of a number of figures which will only truly emerge 
after the end of the financial year, the imprecision in these estimates is regarded as high 
and could be subject to variations of hundreds of thousands of pounds.  The volatility 

Page 15



 
 
 

 

 
12 

around these forecasts is expected to remain for a number of years until the new system 
becomes bedded down and more robust data emerges on which to make more reliable 
forecasts. 
 
The threat of significant pay inflation during 2020/21 is viewed as low.  An assumption of a 
2% pay award has been included in the roll forward figure.  As yet there is no formal 
agreement between the Employers’ side and Trade Unions over a pay settlement for 
2020/21.  However, with a limited increase in funding from Government this year and 
continuing strong pressures on expenditure there appears little room for wage increases 
substantially above the current level of inflation.  Any increase in wages agreed at a 
national level beyond the 2% built into the roll forward position will increase in-year financial 
pressures making it more difficult for the Council to avoid overspending and will increase 
the need for more savings to be generated in future years, with the pressure to reduce staff 
numbers growing in such circumstances. 
 
With inflation likely to be low over the period and our strong past record on tracking in-year 
spend, plus the level of our Reserves, the Council should have confidence going into the 
year ahead that it will be able to deliver its Budget. 
 
The detailed report included further information on the following matters:- 
 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy; 

 Continuation Budget; 

 Growth Pressures; 

 Available Resources (Core Government Revenue Support Grant (RSG); Business 

Rates; Council Tax; New Homes Bonus); 

 Budget Proposals 2020/21 (General Financial Pressures; Budget Saving 

Proposals); 

 Reserves; 

 Risks and Risk Management; and 

 Consultation 

 
In summary, the Budget for 2020/21 will be £11,227,000 and will be supported by a Council 
Tax levy of £250.52 for a Band D property—translating into a revenue source of £5,247,000 
to meet services to the local community.  The Budget has been determined in light of 
continuing upward pressure on costs, previous financial difficulties that continue to 
overhang the Council, the available funding from Government and the Council’s strong 
desire to provide high levels of service to the Community in line with its priorities. 
 
Councillor June Harrison expressed concern for elderly residents who, on top of having to 
deal with numerous annual price increases, now had to contend with the planned removal 
of free television licences for over 75s. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
The recommendations in the report provide an appropriate platform on which the Cabinet 
can recommend a Budget to the Council which meets the objectives and key priorities of 
the people of Hyndburn. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 

Page 16



 
 
 

 

 
13 

There have been a wide number of individual proposals put forward to produce a Balanced 
Budget.  Options have been rejected on a variety of grounds including policy objectives, 
practicalities and the potential for additional costs to be incurred.  Further options may be 
presented at the Council meeting. 
 
Resolved (1) That Cabinet proposes to Council an increase Council 

Tax for 2020/21 of £5.00 per year for a Band D property.  
This is equivalent to less than 10 pence per week and as 
most households in Hyndburn are Band A rather than 
Band D properties, the vast majority of households will 
only see a rise of 7p per week.  This is only the fourth 
increase in Council Tax by Hyndburn Council in 11 years.  

 
(2) The Budget for 2020/21 will therefore be £11,227,000 as 

detailed in Appendices 1 and 2. 

 
(3) That Cabinet recommend approval of the savings 

approach outlined for 2020/21 as set out in Appendix 3 to 

ensure the Council has a balanced budget. 

 
(4) That Cabinet notes the significant improvement made in 

relation to budget monitoring and cost reduction within 

the Authority over the past 16 years and confirms its 

commitment to continuing this approach in the year 

ahead.  

 
(5) That Cabinet recommends during the financial year 

2020/21, the Deputy Chief Executive be delegated 

responsibility to amend the Budget (following 

consultation with the Leader of the Council) for technical 

reasons, such as the restructuring of cost centres, the re-

apportionment and re-allocation of overheads etc., 

provided such amendments have an overall neutral 

impact on the Budget. 

 
(6) That Cabinet recommends during the financial year 

2020/21, the Deputy Chief Executive be delegated 

responsibility to amend the Budget (following 

consultation with the Leader of the Council) should the 

estimate of Business Rates not be sufficiently accurate, 

by drawing on reserves if needed or paying over 

additional contributions to reserves. 

 
(7) That, to aid future financial management planning, any 

surpluses generated during 2020/21 are set aside to help 

the Council reduce its cost base over the next three 

years, support its long term capital programme or 

strengthen its overall reserve position. 

 
(8) That Cabinet recommends that the New Homes Bonus 

and any additional funds from Government that are not 

ring-fenced funding as well as any further surplus on the 

Collection Fund can be used if required to support capital 

Page 17



 
 
 

 

 
14 

expenditure as determined by the Deputy Chief Executive 

in the overall financing of capital expenditure or be 

transferred to reserves. 

 
259 Capital Programme 2020/21 

 
Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, provided a report inviting the 
Cabinet to consider the Council’s capital investment priorities for 2020/21 and 
recommending to the Council a Capital Programme for approval at its meeting on the 27th 
February 2020, having regard to key linkages between the management of the Council’s 
capital and revenue resources. 
 
Councillor Plummer highlighted some key messages from the report as follows: 
 

 Some £3.1M of capital; investment was planned in the local economy in 2020/21; 

 Specific schemes included £1.25M of investment in the Market Hall including interior 

refurbishment and leisure usage and removal of the outdoor pavilions to create car 

parking and additional public space, with a view to increasing footfall; 

 Support to people to continue living in their own homes through use of £1M 

Disabled Facilities Grant, which would help to alleviate pressure across other public 

services including the NHS and adult social care 

 Other improvements to the Council’s sports facilities, Willows Lane Depot and ICT; 

and 

 Capital funding would be available from both internal and external sources. 

 
The Report sets out the Council’s Capital Programme for 2020/21.  In the past 20 years, the 
Council has funded significant programmes of Capital Expenditure which sometimes 
exceeded £15m per annum.  In these more austere times it is not possible to fund 
investment into the local community at these levels.  However the Council is able to put 
forward a substantial capital investment programme of over £3.1m, despite the severe 
reductions in public spending that have been necessary due to the Recession.  This has 
only been made possible by the Council’s effective financial management over recent 
years, which has seen it avoid additional borrowing and increase its revenue reserves, 
while reducing its operating costs. 
 
It is intended that the Council will continue these strong policies of financial management 
and this year will again avoid increasing its borrowing.  It will rely on securing external 
sources of funding, using capital receipts, making revenue contributions to capital projects 
and will use unspent monies to fund its programme.  It will also apply a rigorous approach 
to selecting projects by examining all proposals against its corporate objectives and only 
selecting the most pressing and deserving projects to fund.  This is in accordance with the 
Council policy of limiting the increase in debt and borrowing costs, while ensuring the 
Council’s objectives are met. 
 
The Revenue implications of the strategy to finance the Capital Programme are a key 
element in the affordability issues on the Revenue Budget this year.  The programme 
contains a limited amount of risk this year.  The level of risk is significantly down from 
previous financial years.  This is largely due to the smaller programme and the removal of 
much of the risk around the level of available capital funds to meet the proposed 
expenditure.  The Council’s overall resources and management systems are believed to be 
sufficiently robust to effectively monitor these risks and ensure appropriate action is taken if 
they should materialise. 
 

Page 18



 
 
 

 

 
15 

The Council will continue with its strategy adopted for over 10 years of attempting to reduce 
its level of debt wherever possible by restricting borrowing and repaying debt and will 
continue to work extensively with external funders to bring forward realistic plans for Capital 
investment in the area. 
 
Overall the Council will be investing £3.1m in Capital investment in 2020/21.  There is a 
significant amount of the total resource available this year dedicated to supporting people 
with disabilities to continue to live in their own homes, along with continued investment in 
Accrington Town Centre and the Council’s key buildings and infrastructure that it needs to 
deliver services to the public.  
 
The details behind all of these proposals remain at the outline stage only and further work is 
required to ensure that these projects provide positive benefits to the Community and the 
Council.  Each project is therefore required to submit further detailed plans if required in 
order to obtain final approval for expenditure to occur and to obtain final clearance from the 
Deputy Chief Executive, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Resources. 
 
The Capital Programme does require a degree of flexibility within it, to respond to sudden 
demands for Capital expenditure, actions to be taken on the receipts of monies and 
revisions to proposals as projects are not financially viable or encounter other problems 
such as securing external funding.  The Capital Programme Working Group (CPWG) will 
report back to Cabinet at frequent intervals throughout the year to ensure Cabinet is kept 
apprised of the current situation and any approvals necessary for alteration are obtained. 
 
Councillor Plummer reminded Members that the various Budget papers would also be 
considered by the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 18th February 2020, 
prior to submission to Council on 27th February 2020. 
 
The Leader of the Councillor remarked that a High Street Task Group would be established 
to look at future major investment into Accrington Town Centre.  The Council had recently 
secured access to Government professionals.  A broad based Panel, to include cross-party 
membership and representatives of local businesses, would lead the development of the 
future vision for the Town Centre. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
These schemes represent the best value for money and meet the Council’s overall 
corporate policy objectives, within the funding envelop for the year. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
A wider programme of funding has not been considered due to the Council’s policy 
commitment to limiting Capital Expenditure to affordable levels and seeking to repay debt. 
 
Resolved - That the Cabinet agrees to recommend the Council: 
 

(1) To approve a Capital Programme for 2020/21 of 

£3,107,775 as set out in Appendix 1.  

 
(2) That the programme is funded by new anticipated 

direct external grants of £976,000 and £2,131,775 of 

new investment from the Council’s resources.  

Page 19



 
 
 

 

 
16 

External grant funding must be secured before any 

internal funds are committed to projects that rely on 

external funding to proceed. 

 
(3) That delegated authority is given to the Deputy Chief 

Executive, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder 

for Resources to flex the programme in accordance 

with the available funding, provided this does not 

require any additional borrowing. 

 
(4) That the individual projects within the Capital 

Programme require the written authorisation of the 

Deputy Chief Executive following consultation with 

the Portfolio Holder for Resources before 

commencing and incurring expenditure and that 

Service Managers provide the Deputy Chief 

Executive, with written details of estimated costs of 

schemes with full justification of the need and 

benefits from undertaking the capital investments 

before approval is provided and that approval to 

commence is delegated to the Deputy Chief 

Executive, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder 

for Resources. 

 
(5) That Projects are timed to minimise the need for 

borrowing and the Deputy Chief Executive be 

requested to seek project start dates after September 

2020 whenever this is practical. 

 
(6) That in-year underspends are not made available to 

fund new projects during the year. 

 
260 Haworth Art Gallery's Application for Arts Council England Museum Accreditation 

 
In the absence of the Portfolio Holder for Education, Leisure and Arts, Councillor Munsif 
Dad BEM JP, the Leader of the Council introduced a report which presented Haworth Art 
Gallery’s proposed policies and plans which formed the Council’s Museum Accreditation 
submission to Arts Council England.  The report also sought the Cabinet’s approval to the 
detailed application for accreditation, which was available to view on the Council’s website. 
 
Councillor Parkinson noted that the Art Gallery was one of the Borough’s jewels and 
featuring the renowned Tiffany Glass collection, monthly events held by staff and a privately 
run café.  Accreditation should help to provide better access to external funding 
opportunities.  Councillor Parkinson wished the Gallery and its staff well for the future. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 

Page 20



 
 
 

 

 
17 

The Museum Accreditation Scheme is the UK industry standard for museums and galleries 
and sets out nationally-agreed standards which promote and inspire confidence with the 
public and funding bodies.  Accreditation does this by making sure museums manage their 
collections properly, engage with visitors and ensure that they are governed appropriately. 
The Haworth needs to renew its Arts Council England Museum Accreditation and a draft 
submission has been prepared for Cabinet to consider. 
 
Accreditation is required by all Museums and Art Galleries to be eligible for funding by Arts 
Council England or National Lottery Heritage Fund and is renewed every 5 years.  Having 
accreditation has allowed Haworth Art Gallery to access funding for the successful Stables 
and Motor House Artists’ Studios.  As a result the project has been used as a model for 
best practise with the National Lottery Heritage Fund (NLHF). 
 
The application includes a number of sections, including a series of plans and policies 
which are summarised as follows. 
 
For the Governance and Management section of Accreditation, an approved Forward or 
Business Plan is required which covers the current and subsequent planning year will be 
written in accordance to the Arts Council of England guidelines for Museum and Art Gallery 
Accreditation.  The section is required to include appropriate governance and management 
standards including a clear statement of purpose, an appropriate constitution and a 
satisfactory structure for governance and management.  It is also required to cover a set 
period and include the key aims Haworth Art Gallery wants to achieve and an explanation 
of how these aims will be achieved in terms of staff and volunteers, equipment and 
budgets. Budgets for the current year and subsequent planning year are required.  The 
section must include a review date. 
 
Under the Managing Collections section of Accreditation three policies are required.  They 
are a policy for Developing Collections and include acquisition and disposal.  An approved 
Documentation Policy which details the management of collections ensuring all objects are 
properly accounted for and useable.  Lastly an approved Collections Care and 
Conservation Policy setting out details of ethical commitments and legal requirements to 
improve the way objects are cared for and conserved for future generations.  The policies 
must include review dates. 
 
In order to be accessible to the public an approved Access Policy is required.  This section 
will cover how people can see, use and reference Haworth Art Gallery’s collections, gain 
access to museum buildings and site, and how we share information about the collection 
with people.  This should include using a variety of interpretive methods to exhibit the 
collections, enabling public access to the collections, buildings and sites, and associated 
information and the date the policy will be reviewed. 
 
The aim is to submit Haworth Art Gallery’s Accreditation return to the Arts Council England 
portal Grantium by 29th February 2020. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The Haworth Art Gallery does not have to apply for Accreditation, however, it would make 
the gallery un-able to apply for external funding from Arts Council England, National Lottery 
Heritage Fund and various other funding bodies. 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet approve the draft application for Arts 

Council England Museum Accreditation for Haworth Art 
Gallery as proposed in the report. 

 

Page 21



 
 
 

 

 
18 

There were no items taken in private. 
 

 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 22



 

 
1 

 
REGENERATION AND HOUSING PANEL 

 

 
Monday, 6th January, 2020 

 
Present:  Councillor Loraine Cox (in the Chair), Councillors Mohammad Ayub, 

Jean Battle MBE, Tony Dobson, Stewart Eaves, Joyce Plummer and 
Dave Parkins 
 

Apologies None  

  

 
71 Apologies for Absence and Substitutions 

 
 

No apologies or substitutions were received at the meeting.  
 
Councillor June Harrison attended the meeting as an observer.  
 

72 Declarations of Interest 
 

No declarations of interest were submitted at the meeting.  
 

73 Minutes of Last Meeting held on 14th October 2019 
 

The minutes of the last meeting of the Regeneration and Housing Panel held on 
14th October 2019 were submitted for approval as a correct record. 
 
Agreed - That the Minutes be received and approved as a 

correct record. 
 

74 Regeneration and Housing Funding Programme 2019-20 
 

The Regeneration Manager submitted a report on the progress of the 2019/20 
Regeneration and Housing Capital Programmes. The report looked at the 
£1,171.88M spend up to the 17th December 2019.  Members were referred to 
Appendix 1 within the report, which listed the progress on individual projects. Some 
of the schemes have altered slightly in terms of spend with some additional funding 
being granted for individual projects.  
 
The Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) Policy was updated at Cabinet on the 17th July 
2019 and we are now able to use our discretionary powers in order to maximise 
spend on the programme.  
 
Councillor Plummer expressed concern regarding St John’s and asked if money 
could be allocated due to the deterioration of St John’s. A comprehensive approach 
needs to be given to this area within Hyndburn.  
 
Councillor Battle queried how residents would find out about available DFG  and is 
there better ways the money can be used, especially on run down parts of the 

Public Document Pack

Page 23

Agenda Item 4.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

Town. The Head of Regeneration and Housing suggested meeting outside of this 
Panel Meeting for a further detailed discussion on the subject.  
 
The Regeneration Manager informed Members that the team is now fully staffed 
and working through the backlog of work and due to the amount of schemes coming 
into the Council an additional post will be added to the 2020/21 budget.  
 
Councillor Dobson requested the dates for commencement on the Hudson Street 
Improvement Programme. The Regeneration Manager confirmed the contractor has 
started on site on the 25th November 2019 and the contract will run for 30 weeks, 
more up to date information will be sent to Councillor Dobson after the meeting.  
 
The Members and Officers had a discussion around empty properties and 
properties that require facelifts. The responsibility is with the proprietor as well as 
the Council, there are options for Compulsory Purchase Orders but these demand 
the Council to pay the monies up front, which is not always possible.  
 
Councillor Ayub discussed a particular property that has received several notices 
and prosecutions but the owner constantly ignores these, which affects the 
neighbour’s frustrations. The Head of Regeneration and Housing replied to ensure 
the Members of the Panel knew enforcement action is taken seriously and it is 
getting the right balance of support and encouragement to uplift and invest in the 
neighbourhoods. He asked to meet with Councillor Ayub outside of this meeting to 
discuss the particular household mentioned.  
 
 
Agreed     (1) That the report be noted;  

(2) That the Head of Regeneration and Housing will 
arrange separate meetings with the Councillors on 
the issues raised. 
(3) That the Regeneration Manager will send a 
further update to Councillor Dobson regarding 
Hudson Street Facelift.  

 
75 Hyndburn's Homelessness Strategy 2020 - 2025 

 

The Head of Regeneration and Housing introduced the Hyndburn’s Homelessness 
Strategy 2020-2025. The Strategy sets out our strategic aims and plans for 
providing and improving services for homeless households in the district over the 
next five years. It has a specific focus on rough sleeping and considers the 
effectiveness of homelessness following the introduction of the Homelessness 
Reduction Act in 2018.  The strategy was approved in December 2019 and will be 
available on the Council’s website early January 2020.  Members were asked to 
note the report. 
 
Councillor Dobson, who is the chair of the Community Safety Partnership (CSP), 
where this subject is discussed regularly, made an observation that unfortunately 
some people don’t want to be helped or rehoused and therefore aren’t making the 
right steps to change.  
 

Page 24



 
 
 

 

 
3 

The Head of Regeneration and Housing confirmed that there is no reason why 
anyone should be sleeping rough in Hyndburn as there is ample accommodation.  
 
Councillor Battle commented that many families are accessing the Citizen’s Advice 
Bureau due to debt problems, which can then lead to homelessness. The Head of 
Regeneration and Housing asked Councillor Battle to ensure people know about 
accessing the Council’s Housing Advice Team.  
 
The Members had a discussion around Department of Working Pensions (DWP) 
Officers based in foodbanks to give advice and talk to residents. They also 
discussed the growing amount of foodbanks within the Country and that there is still 
a requirement to tackle mental health and addictions as this can be the root cause 
to accessing a foodbank.  
 
The Chair reflected on the great work that the Maundy service offer in Hyndburn, 
they are open 365 days a year, they do a great job and without them and the 
volunteers, the service could not work so well.  
 
Agreed    - That the report be noted.  
 

76 Be with us Allocations Policy Review 
 

The Housing Advice and Homelessness Manager submitted a report to advise 
Members of the proposed revised B with US Allocations Policy and the consultation 
that has taken place between 13th December 2019 and 24th January 2020.  
 
The proposed changes are highlighted in Appendix 2 of the report.  
 
The panel had a discussion around the housing related debt payments and cleared 
up any confusion. If a person has a housing related debt over £500 they will be 
disqualified from joining the housing register, however if the debt is less than £500 
they will qualify to join the register but the debt will need to be cleared before an 
offer of accommodation can be provided.  
 
The Chair and Councillor Battle queried the Homeowners section of the appendix 
relating to a person having an equity of £120K being disqualified from joining the 
housing register both Councillors felt it should be higher amount.  
 
Agreed    (1) That the report be noted; and 

(2) That the Head of Regeneration and Housing checks the 
previous figure regarding a person’s equity.  

 
 

77 Enforcement around Fly Tipping, Littering and Graffiti 
 

The Head of Regeneration and Housing advised the panel of the report that went to 
Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee in December 2019. The report 
focussed on fly tipping, littering and graffiti enforcement taken by the Council in 
November 2018.  
 
The panel were asked to note the report and asked for any comments.  

Page 25



 
 
 

 

 
4 

 
Councillor Plummer asked for clarification on the timescales of enforcement once a 
letter has gone to a resident. The Head of Regeneration and Housing confirmed it is 
5 days and he would circulate the Frequently Asked Questions to Panel for their 
perusal.  
 
Agreed    (1) That the report be noted; and  

(2) The Head of Regeneration and Housing send the 
FAQ’s to the Panel.   

 
78 Disability Service: Specialist Accommodation Unit 

 
The Head of Regeneration and Housing informed the Panel Members of Lancashire County 
Council’s intention to develop two new specialist accommodation units; one for disabled 
adults and one for disabled children both in Great Harwood.  
 
A copy of the draft Cabinet report was issued for the Panel’s information and to comment 
on, Cabinet will be invited to support a £300,000 contribution from the Council’s Capital 
Programme towards these two accommodation units.  
 
The Panel had a discussion regarding the report and felt Lancashire County Council should 
provide further detailed information before this is agreed and requested to know if Ribble 
Valley Borough Council had also been required to contribute from their Capital Programme.  
 
The Head of Regeneration and Housing confirmed there is provision within the Capital 
Programme under the Disabled Facilities Grants income.  
 
Agreed    (1) That the report be noted; and  

(2) The Head of Regeneration and Housing seeks further 
information from Lancashire County Council.  

 
 

79 Urgent Business 
 

There was no urgent business.  
 

80 The Time and Date of Future Meetings: 
 

The date of the next meeting was confirmed to be Monday 9th March 2020.  
 

 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 26



 
1 

 
CABINET COMMITTEE (STREET NAMING) 

 

 
Monday, 24th February, 2020 

 
Present:  
 
 

Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (in the Chair),  
Councillors Paul Cox and Jenny Molineux 
 
 

Apologies Loraine Cox and Munsif Dad BEM JP 

  

 
269 Apologies for absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Loraine Cox and 
Munsif Dad BEM JP.  
 
Councillor Paul Cox acted as a substitute representative for Councillor Munsif Dad 
BEM JP.  
 

Councillor Jenny Molineux acted as a substitute representative for Councillor 
Loraine Cox. 
 

The were no reported declarations of interest or dispensations.  
 

270 Minutes of the Last Meeting 
 

The Minutes of the last Cabinet Committee – Street Naming held on the 20th March 
2019 were submitted for approval as a correct record.  
 
Resolved – That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct record.  
 

271 Street Naming Proposal - John Street, Oswaldtwistle 
 

The Chief Planning and Transportation Officer submitted a report to seek approval 
for the naming of two streets on a new build residential development located off 
John Street, Oswaldtwistle.  
 
Members discussed the Fire Service request to suggest a separate street name for 
the second street (Old Mill Close) as there was a physical divide in the road access. 
Members agreed with this decision.  
 
Resolved – That the two streets be named as per the Officers 
recommendation in the report.  
 

272 Street Naming Proposal - Miller Fold Avenue, Accrington 
 

The Chief Planning and Transportation Officer submitted a report to seek approval 
for the naming of two streets for a new build residential development located off 
Miller Fold Avenue, Accrington.  
 

Public Document Pack

Page 27



 
 
 

 

 
2 

Resolved – That the two streets be named as per the officer’s 
recommendation in the report.  
 

 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 28



 

Page 1 of 6 
 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 18 March 2020 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Loraine Cox – Housing and Regeneration  

REPORT AUTHOR: Fiona Goodfellow 

Housing Strategy and Policy Manager 

Regeneration and Housing 

TITLE OF REPORT: B with Us Allocations Policy  

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

  

KEY DECISION: Yes If yes, date of publication: 18 March 2020 

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To seek Cabinet approval of the revised B with Us Allocations Policy.  
 
2. Recommendations  
 
 I recommend that Cabinet:- 
 
2.1 Approve the revised B with Us Allocations Policy attached at Appendix 1. 
 
2.2 Delegate authority to the Head of Regeneration and Housing in consultation with the 

Portfolio Holder for Housing and Regeneration to make any final amendments 
necessary as a result of legal advice on the policy. 

 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 Hyndburn Borough Council is a member of the sub-regional choice based lettings 

partnership called B-with-us. The partnership has a common allocations policy for the 
allocation of social housing across the sub-region (Blackburn with Darwen, Hyndburn, 
Burnley, Pendle and Rossendale). Members include the 5 local housing authorities 
plus 12 registered providers. Hyndburn’s main registered housing provider is Onward 
Homes. 

 
 

Page 29

Agenda Item 6.



 

Page 2 of 6 
 

3.2 Section 166a of Part VI of the Housing Act 1996 requires that every local housing 
authority in England have a scheme for determining the priority of households seeking 
social housing, as well as a procedure to be followed in the allocation of such housing, 
including a policy.  To fulfil the requirement for a scheme the Council is a member of B-
with-us. 

 
3.3 The allocations policy is periodically reviewed as a result of legislative changes, case 

law and statutory guidance. A review is required to ensure the policy remains effective 
and legally robust. The current review has taken into consideration the requirements of 
the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, the Localism Act 2011 and elements of the 
Equality Act 2010 plus updated guidance.   

 
3.4 Consultation - The draft Allocations Policy was subject to stakeholder, customer and 

public consultation from 13th December 2019 to 24th January 2020. The consultation 
received around 1,900 responses with 370 from the Hyndburn area.  In the main the 
changes were supported by the majority of respondents. The B with Us Steering Group 
has had regard these consultation responses in producing the final version of the 
policy attached to this report for approval and adoption.  

 
3.5 Main changes to the policy 
 

 Clarity in respect of eligibility and qualification criteria. 
 

 Local Connection – the introduction of a local connection criteria in order to 
qualify to join the register. Anyone who applies must have a local connection 
with Pennine Lancashire, which is defined as: 
  

 Resident for at least six of the last twelve months, or three of the last five 
years  

 Have a close family member resident for at least five years 
 Be employed in Pennine Lancashire for the last six months 

 
There are exemptions to local connection qualification, which include but are not 
restricted to, people fleeing domestic abuse, serving and former members of the 
armed forces and homeless applicants.   

 

 Housing-related debt – greater clarity in terms of how housing debts owed will 
be considered under the scheme. Applicants with over £500 housing related 
debt will now be disqualified, and applicants with debt below £500 will qualify 
but not be made an offer until the debt is cleared.  Statute barred debts (not 
been chased for over 6 years) will not be taken into account. 

 

 Homeowners - this is a new element intended to help ensure best use of stock 
by only allocating to those persons who are unable to secure alternative 
accommodation. Thus applicants who are homeowners will be disqualified from 
joining the housing register unless they qualify for a priority band (Bands 1, 2 or 
3) and are selling their properties.  There are currently 197 Hyndburn 
homeowner applicants registered with B-with-us, and 108 of these are expected 

Page 30



 

Page 3 of 6 
 

to be in the top 3 bands under the new policy and therefore still qualify for 
assistance. 

 

 Deliberate worsening of circumstances - This is a new criteria and is intended to 
ensure that applicants do not deliberately worsen their circumstances in order to 
be awarded higher priority. In allocations law, it has been a long held principal 
that applicants should not benefit by being given a higher priority banding if they 
deliberately worsened their own circumstances.  This stated principle is now 
explicit in the proposed allocations policy.    

 

 Removal of Community contribution – This has been removed in the revised 
policy. Due to the excessive number of additional households who could 
potentially be given a community contribution banding following the changes, 
following consultation the Steering Group decided to remove the banding to give 
other band 4 applicants, i.e. those under-occupying, meaningful priority.  

 

 Homelessness - Following the implementation of the Homelessness Reduction 
Act 2017 in April 2018, bandings were temporarily altered to reflect the new 
duties which local authority partners were required to meet. The allocations 
policy has now been revised to reflect these changes. 

 

 Banding changes – re-arrangement of some of the criteria within bands to 
ensure that those in a reasonable preference category continue to receive 
sufficient priority. This includes the ending of cumulative need, the removal of 
community contribution (see above) and the addition of a fifth band which will 
ensure that anyone not meeting any specified criteria within the bandings can 
still join the housing register and bid for properties. 

 
In addition administration and procedural changes will be implemented to ensure a 
more streamlined experience and process for both the applicant and housing provider. 

 
3.6 Impact of the proposed changes to the allocations policy 
 

In implementing the recommendations made following external legal advice, significant 
changes are required and unfortunately many applicants will see their banding reduced 
as a result. However, the over-riding priority is that the new allocations policy is fully 
compliant with the legal and regulatory framework for the allocation of social housing. 

 
3.7 Timescales – all the B with Us partners are required to ratify and approve the revised 

policy and this will take place over the next couple of months. Following this changes 
will be made to the software to reflect the policy changes which could take another 
couple of months. It is anticipated that the revised policy will become operation during 
summer 2020. Customers will be advised of progress via the B with Us website. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 31



 

Page 4 of 6 
 

 
 
 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 The Council is required by the Housing Act 1996 to have a housing register and a 

policy for the allocation of accommodation irrespective of whether it owns any housing 
stock or not and to keep this policy up to date and reflective of current legislation and 
guidance. 

 
5. Consultations 
 
 To ensure consultation was robust the following has taken place:- 
 
5.1 Consultation on the B with Us draft Allocations Policy with partners, service users and 

the public took place between 13th December 2019 and 24th January 2020 as referred 
to in this report. The consultation received around 1,900 responses with 370 from the 
Hyndburn area. The results of this helped inform the final version. 

 
5.2 The Council’s Regeneration and Housing Panel and the Homeless in Hyndburn Forum, 

which includes representation from key Hyndburn stakeholders including Shelter, has 
been consulted throughout the review process and their views and comments taken 
into account at each stage. 

 
5.3 In addition all the B with Us partners – both Local Authorities and Registered Providers 

– consulted on the policy through their own consultation processes. 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

As a result of the proposed changes to the 
current allocations policy, the B-with-Us 
software / database will need to be 
reconfigured significantly, which will mean 
additional costs. However, these costs will be 
met through reserves held by the B-with-Us 
partnership, and therefore no additional 
funding from the Council will be required. 

Legal and human rights 
implications 

Failure to update the current allocations 
policy risks the potential for a legal challenge. 
Independent legal advice has been sought on 
the policy twice to ensure it complies with 
legislation. 

Assessment of risk 
 

If the Council does not agree to the proposed 
revised allocations policy and as a result, 
there is a delay to updating the allocations 
policy, there is risk of legal challenge against 
the allocations policy and potential 
subsequent loss of reputation / financial 

Page 32



 

Page 5 of 6 
 

penalty for the Council as a partner in the 
scheme. 
As the policy is changing, in particular the 
priority bandings, some households with a 
current application will have their relative 
priority changed. Whilst the banding changes 
present a potential reputational risk, the 
changes are necessary to have an effective 
and efficient policy to meet housing need in 
the Borough 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  

The Council is subject to the public sector 
equality duty introduced by the Equality Act 
2010. When making a decision in respect of 
the recommendations in this report Cabinet 
must have regard to the need to: 
• eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation; and 
• advance equality of opportunity 
between those who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and those who don’t; 
and 
• foster good relations between those 
who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and those who don’t. 
For these purposes the relevant protected 
characteristics are: age, disability, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual 
orientation. When making a decision in 
respect of the proposals in this report 
members should have regard to the 
Customer First Analysis annexed to this 
report at Appendix 2. 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 Copies of documents included in this list must be open to inspection and, in the case of 
 reports to Cabinet, must be published on the website.  
 
 
If the report is public, insert the following paragraph. If the report is exempt, contact 
Member Services for advice. 
 
8. Freedom of Information 
 

Page 33

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


 

Page 6 of 6 
 

8.1 The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 
 Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information 
 Act 2000. 
 
 

Page 34



B-with-us Allocations Policy – Last updated February 2020 APPENDIX 1 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Allocations Policy 
 
 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 35



Page 2 of 34 
 

Contents 

Section Page 
1: Overview 1.1 Introduction 3 

1.2 Partnership agreement 3 

1.3 Purpose 4 
1.4 Principles 4 

1.5 Adopting this policy 7 
1.6 Avoiding discrimination 7 

1.7 Discretion 7 

1.8 Challenges about this policy 8 
2: Information, 
Applications, 
Suspensions and 
Decision Making 

2.1 Information 9 

2.2 Applications 10 
2.3 Reviews 13 

2.4 Suspensions 14 
2.5 Decision Making 14 

3: Eligibility and 
Qualification 

3.1 Eligibility 15 

3.2 Qualification 16 
3.3 Local connection 18 

3.4 Exemptions to Local Connection 19 
3.5 Transfer applicants 19 

3.6 Determining eligibility and qualification 20 
3.7 Subsequent applications 20 

3.8 Deliberate worsening of circumstances 20 

4: Allocations 4.1 Determining priority for an allocation 21 
4.2 Prioritising applicants 21 

4.3 Bedroom allocation 22 
4.4 Changes in circumstances 23 

4.5 Local Lettings Plans 24 

4.6 Additional priority 24 
5: Being Allocated a 
Property 

5.1 Choice based lettings 26 

5.2 Refusal of accommodation offers 26 
5.3 Direct lets 27 

5.4 Other general points 27 
Appendices Appendix One – Local Connection 29 

Appendix Two – Homeless Prevention 31 
 

Page 36



Page 3 of 34 
 

Section 1: Overview 

1.1 Introduction 
B-with-us is a partnership agreement between local housing authorities and registered providers of 

social housing in Pennine Lancashire (all listed below). The partnership has agreed, by the signing of 

a Memorandum of Understanding document, to operate a common sub-regional choice based 

lettings scheme, and has the intention of being more efficient in the allocation of social housing in 

Pennine Lancashire. 

It is not intended to create a formal legal partnership within the meaning of the Partnership Act 

1890. The term “partnership” is intended to convey a sense of collaborative working. 

1.2 Partnership Agreement 
The following B-with-us partners are local housing authorities with a legal obligation to allow people 

to register with them for an allocation of social housing (which continues to exist even where local 

housing authorities have previously transferred the ownership and/or management of their housing 

stock to a large scale voluntary transfer company): 

 Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council 

 Burnley Borough Council 

 Hyndburn Borough Council 

 Pendle Borough Council 

 Rossendale Borough Council 

The following B-with-us partners are registered providers of social housing, registered with the 

Regulator of Social Housing, which take, process and determine applications and maintain the 

housing register, plus advertising, shortlisting and making offers for their homes (referred to as 

“Processing Partners”): 

 Calico Homes 

 Onward Homes 

 Together Housing Association 

The following B-with-us partners are registered providers of social housing, registered with the 

Regulator of Social Housing, which advertise, shortlist and make offers for their homes: 

 Accent Housing 

 Great Places Housing Group 

 The Guinness Partnership 

 Irwell Valley Housing Association Limited 

 Muir Group Housing Association Limited 

 Places for People Limited 

 Progress Housing Group 

 Regenda Group 

 Your Housing Group 

Page 37



Page 4 of 34 
 

1.3 Purpose 
This policy shall demonstrate how B-with-us partners will allocate social housing to new applicants 

and transfer applicants (applicants living in Pennine Lancashire who are existing tenants of any 

partner organisation) who are seeking to move to another property. 

B-with-us partners intend to let homes in a fair, transparent and effective way that is lawful and 

makes best use of the homes available. 

This policy explains the rules for determining priority between applicants and for the allocation of 

homes owned by members of the partnership.  

This policy has been framed with consideration to the housing requirements of current tenants and 

future potential tenants. 

Applicants will be afforded choice in the allocation offered. 

1.4 Principles 
This policy has been formulated having had regard to the law and regulatory requirements, 

including: 

 Housing Act 1996, Part 6 

 Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 

 Localism Act 2011 

 Asylum and Immigration Act 1996 & 1999 

 Data Protection Act 2018 

 Equality Act 2010 

 The regulatory framework for registered providers of social housing in England, published by 

the Regulator of Social Housing, in particular the Tenancy Standard, published April 2012 

This policy has been formulated having had regard to case law judgements made in the English 

Courts and statutory guidance published by the UK Government, including: 

 Allocation of accommodation: guide for local housing authorities in England, July 2012 

 Providing social housing for local people statutory guidance on social housing allocations for 

local authorities in England, December 2013 

 Right to move statutory guidance on social housing allocations for local authorities in 

England, March 2015 

 Improving Access to Social Housing for Victims of Domestic Abuse in Refuges or Other Type 

of Temporary Accommodation, November 2018 

This policy is specific only to the allocation of residential dwellings owned and managed by B-with-us 

partners. 

All B-with-us partners commit to maintaining a joint housing register. B-with-us partners operate a 

single system for taking applications, determining whether a person is eligible and qualifies to join 

the housing register and the shortlisting of applicants on the housing register for an offer of an 

allocation.  

Administration of applications and maintenance of the housing register is undertaken by Calico 

Page 38



Page 5 of 34 
 

Homes, Onward Homes and Together Housing Association on behalf of all B-with-us partners.  

Advertising and shortlisting is carried out by each registered provider for their own stock. 

For the purpose of this policy, an allocation is defined as occurring when a B-with-us partner makes 

an offer of housing accommodation in Pennine Lancashire to a person. This also includes the 

following situations: 

 Where one joint tenant has terminated the tenancy by serving a notice to quit to a 

registered provider member of B-with-us, and the other former joint tenant remains in the 

home 

 Where a tenant has died and the remaining household member has no succession rights but 

has lived with the tenant for some time or was the tenant’s carer, or needs to live in the 

property for care for the tenant’s dependents 

 Where a tenant has moved to a care home and the remaining household member has no 

right to assignment of the tenancy but has lived with the tenant for some time 

Actual entry by the person into the tenancy agreement is a housing management function and is 

therefore outside the scope of this policy. Each B-with-us partner has separate policies in place to 

explain how lettings will be agreed between tenant and landlord. 

When drafting this policy, B-with-us has consulted with public authorities and voluntary 

organisations, plus previous, current and future potential tenants. Regard was also had to: 

 Blackburn with Darwen Homelessness and Rough Sleeper Strategy 2019-2022 

 Blackburn with Darwen Tenancy Strategy 2012 

 Burnley Homelessness Strategy 2013-2018 

 Burnley Tenancy Strategy 2012 

 Hyndburn Homelessness Strategy 2014-2019 

 Hyndburn Tenancy Strategy 2012 

 Pendle Homelessness Strategy 2012-2017 

 Pendle Tenancy Strategy 2013 

 Rossendale Prevention of Homelessness Strategy 2018-2021 

 Rossendale Tenancy Strategy 2013 

If any alterations are made to this policy, B-with-us will take any steps which it considers reasonable, 

within a reasonable period of time, to bring the alterations to the attention of those likely to be 

affected by them. This includes any alterations that may affect the relative priority of a large number 

of applicants or which may affect any B-with-us procedures. 

Beyond the scope of this policy, in accordance with Housing Act 1996, part 6, section 170, registered 

provider members of B-with-us will cooperate with any requests from local authority B-with-us 

members to offer accommodation to rent, to such extent as is reasonable. 

This policy satisfies the functions detailed below, which relate to the administration of statutory 

responsibilities for the allocation of housing accommodation, which the local authority members are 

bound to: 

Page 39



Page 6 of 34 
 

 Devising a housing allocations scheme 

 Allocating dwellings in accordance with the chosen scheme policy 

 Ensuring the local allocations policy is available for anyone to view 

Elected members of local housing authority B-with-us partners are prohibited from taking part in any 

decision of an individual allocation relating to a person who is, or wishes to be, resident in their 

constituency ward area. Elected officers can seek to obtain general information and participate in 

making decisions about the overall content of this policy and the allocation of housing 

accommodation. 

Officers of B-with-us partners who are related to or are a close friend of a housing register applicant 

shall not make a decision on the allocation of a property to this applicant without following their 

partner organisations’ appropriate procedures.  

Applicants who are either not eligible for social housing or who meet the disqualification criteria as 

set out in this policy will be excluded from the register. For further information see section 3. 

Applicants will be prioritised for an allocation of housing accommodation by 1) banding status (e.g. 

housing need), 2) their effective date (the date they were awarded that band status), 3) their 

registration date (the date they submitted their application), and 4) the date and time they placed 

their bid. For further information, see section 4. 

Applicants will be afforded choice in the homes available to let through B-with-us. This will be 

subject to certain limitations as set out in section 5. 

B-with-us partners apply the Public Sector Equality Duty under the Equality Act 2010. This has been 

duly considered when formulating this policy and any associated procedures and protocols. 

A separate Equality Impact Assessment has been completed and copies can be downloaded from the 

B-with-us website or requested from any B-with-us partner. 

To ensure compliance with public sector equality duties, reasonable adjustments will be considered 

for each individual applicant and property, including: 

 Accessible advertising 

 A property’s accessible features being advertised 

 A mechanism to identify the requirements of disabled applicants 

 A mechanism to allow extra time for disabled applicants if they need it 

 A mechanism for providing support in making applications 

Lettings made by nomination from any local authority to a registered provider (regardless of 

whether they are a member of B-with-us) are set out in legally binding contractual arrangements 

between the local authority and registered provider and are therefore outside the scope of this 

policy. 

The B-with-us policy will not override the local authority partner organisations statutory obligations 

for re-housing, though there will be occasions where exceptions are made following discussions 

between senior members of staff at registered provider partners and local authority partners. 

Page 40



Page 7 of 34 
 

1.5 Adopting this policy 
This policy has been subject to an impact assessment required under equalities legislation and by 

each B-with-us partner’s own statements of equality. Public authorities, voluntary organisations and 

other persons were afforded a reasonable opportunity to comment on a draft version of this policy. 

Prior to adopting this policy, views were gathered of former, current and future potential tenants.  

Consultation also took place with tenants, residents and communities throughout the five local 

authority areas to which this policy applies. 

The B-with-us partners will review this policy at least every five years; however amendments will be 

made as required to reflect any significant change in legislation and/or regulations. Any major 

change to this policy will be subject to further consultation.  

An annual report will be published about the allocations made as a result of this policy. The report 

will consider matters such as the quantity of allocations made (by registered provider, by local 

authority area, by property type, by bedroom number, etc), the number of applicants newly 

registered and those who did not re-register or who were determined to be not eligible or 

disqualified, the number of allocations refusing a final offer, the number of successful bids made, 

along with other matters determined to be relevant. 

This report will inform whether this policy is achieving the intentions of the purposes and principles 

set out in section 1. 

All employees involved in the operation of this policy will receive training on how to administer the 

policy and this training will be revisited at least annually.  

1.6 Avoiding discrimination and enhancing equality of opportunity 
B-with-us partners apply an equality duty by adhering to the Equality Act 2010, section 149. Regard 

has been made to the public sector equality duty when formulating this policy. Furthermore it will 

inform decision-making on individual cases. Allocations will be monitored to determine whether 

equal opportunities obligations are being met.  

This policy intends to ensure that at all times non-discriminatory decisions will be made about the 

allocation of homes.  

When formulating this policy, equality impact assessments were undertaken to avoid discrimination 

and to be able to demonstrate compliance with the public sector equality duty. 

Any subsequent variation to this policy will also be subject to an equality impact assessment. For 

further information, please see Equality Impact Assessment published on the B-with-us website. 

B-with-us partners will provide regular, accurate and generalised information on how homes owned 

and/or managed by B-with-us partners are let and how waiting lists are managed to actively dispel 

any myths and misconceptions arising about allocations of housing accommodation and migration. 

1.7 Discretion 
Discretion will be exercised in circumstances which fall outside the remit of this policy, and following 

consultation between a B-with-us local authority partner and a registered provider partner.  

Page 41



Page 8 of 34 
 

1.8 Challenges about this policy 
Applicants can challenge the policy via the processing partner administering their applications. If a 

challenge cannot be resolved at this level, it will be escalated to the B-with-us Steering Group for 

further clarity. 

If the response from the Steering Group is not satisfactory, applicants may seek the help of the Local 

Government Ombudsman and/or the Housing Ombudsman Service. 

Applicants will also be informed of their right to pursue judicial review challenges about this policy. 

 

  

Page 42



Page 9 of 34 
 

Section 2: Information, Applications, 
Suspensions and Decision Making 

2.1 Information 
A copy of this policy will be provided free to anyone who requests it. The policy is also available on 

the B-with-us website, and there is a link to the B-with-us website from the website of each B-with-

us partner. 

Additionally, information will also be provided about: 

 The procedures associated with initial consideration of an application and the treatment of 

any bid made by an applicant for specific accommodation 

 Potential stock availability 

 Eligibility, qualification and disqualification criteria for joining the B-with-us housing register 

and being offered an allocation of housing accommodation 

General information will be provided profiling the housing stock of each B-with-us partner. For any 

given dwelling, the following information will be provided: 

 Type (e.g. house, flat, bungalow, etc) 

 Size (e.g. one bedroom, two bedrooms, etc) 

 Bathroom facilities (e.g. shower, bath, etc) 

 Location (e.g. by electoral ward or town/village, etc) 

 Whether it is accessible or has been adapted 

 Whether there is access to a shared or private garden 

Every person will be provided with information and advice about their rights to make an application 

for an allocation of housing accommodation. Furthermore, assistance or signposting to relevant 

agencies will be provided to any person who is likely to have difficulty in making an application.  

Information will be provided in translation and alternative formats as required, and/or upon request. 

The needs of specific groups (e.g. the housebound, prisoners, Gypsies, Travellers, etc) will be taken 

into account when making arrangements for access to information.  

Information will be made available in a variety of formats, including online, hard copy and via the 

telephone.  

Every applicant will be informed that a copy of this policy is available on the B-with-us website. 

Applicants will also be provided with the following information: 

 How their application is likely to be treated 

 Whether or not they have been accepted as eligible 

 Whether or not they qualify 

 The number of bedrooms they are likely to be allocated 

 The method that will be used in assessing their needs 

Page 43



Page 10 of 34 
 

 Their position on the shortlist at point of bid and afterwards 

 An indication of the likely time that an applicant will have to wait to receive an offer or to 

make a successful bid will be available on the B-with-us website, by reference to average 

waiting time or the number of allocations of similar properties in the previous year and/or 

quarter 

 Any facts taken into account when making a decision as to whether to make an allocation of 

housing accommodation 

 Their right to request a review of any decision informing them that they are not eligible 

and/or do not qualify to join the housing register, or for an offer of an allocation of housing 

accommodation 

 The review decision, along with the grounds for that review decision in a written 

acknowledgement 

 The right to seek an appeal in court on any point of law in this policy (or the administration 

of it) that is irrational, illegal, or fails to follow public law procedural requirements 

All B-with-us partners are subject to the information disclosure requirements of the Data Protection 

Act 2018.  The administration of this policy will ensure compliance with this legislation. For further 

information, please reference each partner’s data protection policy. 

Applicants will be advised of their right to make a complaint to the Information Commissioner if they 

believe any B-with-us partner has failed to fulfil its obligations and responsibilities as set out in the 

Data Protection Act 2018.  

All persons making an application to join the B-with-us housing register have the right to 

confidentiality. An application will not be divulged to any other party without the applicants’ 

consent, except where there is a legal imperative to do so (such as safeguarding, national security, 

etc.). 

Consent to share information may be sought from the applicant for B-with-us partners to discuss the 

application with those who can provide evidence which can help determine an application (e.g. 

doctors, social workers, police, etc). For further information, see the B-with-us partners Information 

Sharing Agreement contained within the Memorandum of Understanding, which is available on the 

B-with-us website. 

2.2 Applications 
All applications must be made using the prescribed online application form. Applications may be 

made by a sole individual or by two joint applicants. Anyone who might usually reside with the 

applicant can feature as part of the application as a household member. 

A usual housing member is a person who primarily (for the majority of the time), or exclusively lives 

with the applicant, or they usually live with the applicant but are temporarily absent due to 

circumstances beyond their control.  

Separate guidance to aid the completion of an application is available on the B-with-us website.  

In addition to the application, documents must be submitted as evidence to verify the information 

provided by the main applicant and for any household member on the application aged 18+. 

Documents could include: 

Page 44



Page 11 of 34 
 

 Birth certificate 

 National insurance number 

 Passport or other current immigration document to confirm right to enter and remain in the 

UK 

 A utility or council tax bill from the past three months to prove address history 

 Bank or building society financial statements for the past three months to verify income and 

expenditure 

B-with-us will receive applications from any person, regardless of the location in which they 

presently reside, including those of no fixed abode.  

All applicants will be required to renew their application annually, on the anniversary of the date 

that they were accepted onto the housing register. Applicants will be notified in writing that their 

application is due for renewal and will be given 28 days to complete their renewal. Failure to renew 

their application will result in the applicant being removed from the register.  

Every applicant will be provided with a warning about offences in relation to the application process 

prior to them making an application. Applicants will be disqualified and may be prosecuted for fraud 

if they deliberately withhold information, provide misleading information or do not notify B-with-us 

of any change in circumstances (e.g. change of income, change in household information, etc).  

Every applicant will be provided with information and advice about their rights to make an 

application, and assistance will be provided free of charge to any person who is likely to have 

difficulty in making an application (e.g. due to physical or mental impairment, special circumstances, 

etc). This assistance will also be provided to those who might require help placing a bid on an 

available B-with-us property. 

Applications from current tenants of one of the B-with-us partners living in Pennine Lancashire will 

be classed as Transfer Applicants (whether this is as an assured, assured shorthold or other type of 

tenancy). Transfer applicants have the right to: 

 Make applications 

 Have their applications considered 

 Be notified of their rights to information and review 

Transfer applicants who have no housing need will be disqualified from joining the B-with-us housing 

register. Only those who would be entitled to a reasonable or additional preference will qualify.  

Transfers will be dealt with through the provisions of this policy and will be dealt with on the same 

basis as a new applicant, but in addition to general eligibility checks, transfer applicants can expect a 

visit as part of their verification checks to determine if they qualify to join the register.  

Transfer applicants are required to obtain a reference from their current landlord prior to making an 

application.  

Transfer applicants will be prioritised in the same way as new applicants (by banding status, then 

effective date, then by registration date, then by date and time that their bid was placed). 

Tenants will not be able to transfer in the first twelve months of their tenancy, except in exceptional 

circumstances. 

Page 45



Page 12 of 34 
 

Transfer offers at B-with-us partners own initiative (e.g. as part of a decant programme) will not 

count as triggering the provisions of this policy.  

Processing applications will involve a preliminary assessment. First consideration will be given to 

whether the applicant is eligible for social housing under the terms of the statute and this policy. The 

matter of qualification will then be decided. 

For further information on eligibility and qualification criteria, see section 3.  

Any application which gives rise to a reason to believe a person may be homeless or threatened with 

homelessness will result in the applicant being signposted to the relevant Local Authority for 

assistance under the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017. 

Separate procedures have been published for the administering of the following matters: 

 Assessing a new application or amending an existing one 

 Processing shortlists for allocations 

 Exercising discretion when making allocations decisions 

 Reviewing allocation decisions 

Decisions about whether an applicant is eligible and qualifies to join the B-with-us housing register 

will be made by any one of the three processing partners, and will be done in strict accordance with 

this policy and associated procedures. 

Applications will be processed within a reasonable period of time – for specific time scales, please 

refer to the B-with-us website. If progress is considered to be unduly slow, applicants will be entitled 

to make a complaint using the complaint procedure of the B-with-us partner who is administering 

the application. Please see the separate complaint procedures of each B-with-us partner for further 

information. 

If this proves unsatisfactory, applicants may seek the help of the Local Government Ombudsman of 

Housing Ombudsman Service. 

Complaints may be made by contacting: 

 Local Government Ombudsman  

 Housing Ombudsman  

Detailed scrutiny will take place when an applicant has successfully expressed an interest for a 

particular property. This will determine whether: 

 The applicant is still eligible 

 The applicant is still a qualifying person 

 The applicant meets any specific criteria for the property 

 The applicant’s household size matches any size criteria for the property 

 That the applicant can afford to pay the costs of the property 

Page 46



Page 13 of 34 
 

2.3 Reviews 
Reviews in respect of suitability of an offer of accommodation will be undertaken by the relevant 

registered provider partner administering the application. 

The B-with-us local authority partners will assist as appropriate. 

Reviews will be carried out in strict accordance with this policy and any associated procedures. 

The power to award discretion to an applicant is limited to senior employees at each of the three 

processing partners, following a discussion with a senior member of staff at the relevant local 

authority. 

Consideration of an application will be based on the information provided on the application form 

and any evidence supplied by the applicant or any information gained from other relevant persons 

(such as doctors or support workers, for example).  

Unsuccessful applicants who have been declared not eligible or disqualified may make a further 

application whenever they feel there has been a change to their circumstances. 

Applicants will be removed from the housing register in the following circumstances: 

 At the applicants’ request 

 If an applicant becomes ineligible or is unable to demonstrate continued eligibility for an 

allocation of social housing 

 If an applicant fails to provide information requested by a B-with-us partner by any deadline 

given 

 When they fail to renew their application on the anniversary of their acceptance onto the B-

with-us housing register 

 When they fail to supply evidence of their eligibility and that they qualify by any given 

deadlines 

 When an applicant has successfully been allocated housing and has signed the tenancy 

agreement 

Confirmation of an applicants’ removal from the housing register will be provided to the applicant. 

Applicants will be informed of their right to request an internal review of any of the decisions below: 

 The applicant is not eligible for an allocation of housing accommodation 

 They do not qualify for an allocation of housing accommodation 

 The type of property they are eligible to bid for 

 The number of bedrooms they are entitled to 

 Decisions made in relation to an applicant’s financial resources, behaviour, tenancy history 

and local connection 

 Suitability of an offer of accommodation 

An internal review will be a re-consideration of all relevant facts, law and/or regulations at the time. 

The review will be carried out by an employee of the registered provider B-with-us partner that 

administered or shortlisted the application. A separate document exists detailing the procedure for 

internal reviews. 

Page 47



Page 14 of 34 
 

Notification of the outcome of an internal review will be in writing. 

Applicants will be informed of their right to pursue an appeal to the court, where they believe 

evidence exists that a decision is irrational, illegal or fails to follow public law procedural 

requirements. This includes a refusal to take an application, plus any internal review decision. 

If applicants are dissatisfied with how their application has been handled they will be informed of 

their right to seek the help of the Local Government Ombudsman or the Housing Ombudsman 

Service.  

2.4 Suspensions 
In some situations it will be necessary for B-with-us to suspend applications for a specified amount 

of time. 

For example, if an incomplete application is submitted, or further information is required to confirm 

an applicant’s eligibility, qualification or banding, the application will be suspended (usually for 28 

days) to allow the applicant time to update their application or provide the relevant further 

information.  

If the required updates are not made or the further information is not provided before the 

suspension review date, the application will be closed. 

Applicants will be made aware of the reason their application is suspended, when their suspension 

review date is, and what they need to do for the suspension to be removed. 

While an application is suspended, the applicant will be able to login and update their application 

but will not be able to place any bids or receive any offers of accommodation.  

2.5 Decision Making 
Applicants will be notified in writing of the decision on their application, either by letter or email 

(depending on their indicated preference).  

The primary decisions that will arise for a new application are: 

 Eligible and qualify – application activated 

 Eligible but disqualified – application closed 

 Not eligible – application closed 

Where the application has been activated, the applicant will be informed that they may begin 

placing bids on any available property for which they are eligible. 

 

 

  

Page 48



Page 15 of 34 
 

Section 3: Eligibility and Qualification 

3.1 Eligibility 
The following applicants will be eligible to join the B-with-us housing register: 

 British citizens (England, Scotland, Wales, Northern Island, Isle of Man and Channel Islands) 

 Commonwealth citizens with a right of abode in the UK immediately before 1st January 1983 

(excluding citizens from Pakistan and South Africa, but inclusive of citizens from Gambia and 

Zimbabwe) 

 Irish Citizens 

 EEA nationals who under the EU Settlement Scheme who have been granted limited leave to 

enter or remain (also referred to as “pre-settled status”), will be eligible for the time 

indicated on their EU Settlement Scheme card 

 EEA nationals who under the EU Settlement Scheme have been granted indefinite leave to 

enter or remain (also referred to as “settled status”) 

 Persons exempt from immigration control (e.g. diplomats ad their family members based in 

the UK, some military personnel, etc) 

 Persons granted refugee status by the UK Government 

 Persons granted exceptional leave to enter or remain in the UK with condition that they and 

any dependents may have recourse to public funds (e.g. humanitarian or compassionate 

circumstances) 

 Persons with current leave to enter or remain in the UK with no condition or limitation, and 

who are habitually resident in the Common Travel Area (a person whose maintenance and 

accommodation is being sponsored must be resident in the Common Travel Area for five 

years since date of entry or date of sponsorship, unless the sponsor has died) 

 Persons who have humanitarian protection granted under the Immigration Rules (e.g. a 

person whose asylum application has failed but they face real risks of harm if they returned 

to their state of origin) 

 Persons who are relevant Afghan citizens with limited leave to enter or remain in the United 

Kingdom, who are habitually resident in the Common Travel Area 

The following applicants will not be eligible to join the B-with-us housing register: 

 Persons not habitually resident in the United Kingdom of Great Britain & Northern Ireland, 

Republic of Ireland, Isle of Man, Channel Islands 

 Persons from abroad where they have the right to reside in the United Kingdom of Great 

Britain & Northern Ireland, Republic of Ireland, Isle of Mann, Channel Islands as follows: 

o As a job seeker or a family member of a job seeker; or 

o An initial right to reside in the first three months of residence; or 

o A derivative right to reside on the basis of being a non-EEA national who is the 

primary carer of a British citizen child or dependent adult, where such child or 

dependent adult would be unable to live in the UK or another EEA state if their carer 

left the UK (a “Zambrano carer”) 

Page 49



Page 16 of 34 
 

 EEA nationals who have no leave to remain, either limited or indefinite, under the EU 

Settlement Scheme 

 Persons whose only right to reside in the UK is an initial right for no more than three 

months, including those who would become an unreasonable burden on the social 

assistance system of the UK 

A joint tenancy cannot be granted to two people if any one of them is not eligible. If one person is 

eligible, a tenancy may be granted to the eligible person. 

Current tenants of a B-with-us registered provider have already had their eligibility determined and 

are therefore eligible for a further allocation regardless of their immigration or habitual residence 

status. 

Only applicants who are habitually resident will be eligible for an allocation of housing 

accommodation. The following tests will be carried out to confirm if an applicant is habitually 

resident: 

 The degree of permanence in the persons residence in the United Kingdom of Great Britain 

& Northern Ireland, Republic of Ireland, Isle of Man, Channel Islands 

 The association between a person and the place of residence 

 Whether a person has accumulated an appreciable period of continuous residence prior to 

making an application 

 Visits abroad for holidays or to visit relatives and other temporary periods of absence will be 

disregarded 

 Exemptions from the habitual residence test include EEA national and their family members 

who are workers or self employed, or have certain permanent rights of residence, or have 

been removed from another country to the UK 

Confirmation of immigration status of an applicant from abroad will be obtained from the Home 

Office by emailing evidenceandenquiry@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk. 

The eligibility of an applicant will be considered at the time their application is initially processed and 

again at the point of offer of an allocation. If an applicant is eligible initially but becomes ineligible, 

they will be removed from the B-with-us housing register and notified. 

3.2 Qualification 
The following rules apply to new and transfer applicants applying to join the B-with-us housing 

register. 

The following arrangements explain those applicants who will be disqualified from the joining the B-

with-us housing register: 

 Persons incapable of holding a tenancy agreement: 

o Persons defined as a child in UK law (persons aged 0-17 years), unless the person 

meets one of the following criteria; 

 Has been assessed by a local authority partner under homelessness 

legislation and who is owed a full statutory duty under section 193(2) of the 

Page 50

mailto:evidenceandenquiry@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk


Page 17 of 34 
 

Housing Act 1996 (as amended by the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017) – 

see appendix two 

 Meets the criteria for being awarded Band One under the Homeless 

Prevention Scheme – see appendix two 

 Is a teenage parent 

 Those whom the children services authority has determined are ready to 

leave the care of the local authority 

If a child age 16/17 is made an allocation, s/he must have an appropriate adult aged 18 or over to 

hold the tenancy in trust until the child reaches 18. This will be done in the form of an “equitable 

agreement” where the trustee will hold the legal estate, but is not liable for rent. The child may also 

be expected to have the skills to sustain a tenancy and / or be willing to be referred for support to 

assist with tenancy sustainment. 

 Unacceptable behaviour: 

o Persons (the applicant or anyone who usually lives or might be expected to live with 

the applicant) who are guilty of unacceptable behaviour which makes them 

unsuitable to be a tenant will be disqualified from joining the B-with-us housing 

register. This is behaviour which, if they were a tenant, would result in their 

landlord being able to secure an outright possession order.  

The meaning of behaviour for the purpose of this policy will encompass a past 

action or activity on the part of an applicant but will also include an omission, failure 

to act, passivity or inactivity. This extends to any person who usually lives or might 

be expected to live with the applicant. B-with-us partners will only consider an 

applicant to be unsuitable to be a tenant if there has been no improvement in 

behaviour since the unsuitable behaviour occurred.  

o Examples of unacceptable behaviour may include (but are not limited to): 

 Persons who have been given an order made in a civil court that is linked to 

a property or the locality of a property 

 Perpetrators of domestic abuse or hate crime who are subject to a non-

molestation order, an injunction order, an occupation order or a restraining 

order 

 Persons who have an unspent criminal conviction 

 Persons who have committed an act of fraud or withheld, falsified or 

misrepresented any information pertaining to public funds and/or services 

 Persons who have displayed threatening, violent or otherwise abusive 

behaviour towards a council or partner registered provider employee or 

person employed to undertake work on their behalf 

 Housing Related Debt: 

o Persons (the applicant or anyone who usually lives or might be expected to live with 

the applicant) who have housing related debt of £500 or more will be disqualified 

from joining the B-with-us housing register 

o Persons (the applicant or anyone who usually lives or might be expected to live with 

the applicant) who have housing related debt of below £500 will qualify to join the 

Page 51



Page 18 of 34 
 

B-with-us housing register but will not be made an offer of accommodation until the 

debt has been cleared in full 

o Statute Barred Debts will not be taken into consideration when determining 

eligibility and qualification 

o Applicants living in socially rented accommodation whose arrears are the result of 

under-occupation may be exempt – these will be reviewed on a case-by-case basis 

o For the purpose of this policy, Housing Related Debt will encompass rechargeable 

repairs, current rent arrears and former rent arrears owed to any social landlord 

 Breach of tenancy conditions: 

o Persons who have been evicted for any breach of tenancy conditions within the last 

six years, regardless of tenure, will be disqualified from joining the B-with-us 

housing register 

o Example of this may include (but are not limited to): 

 Sub-letting some or all of their property without permission 

 Failing to report repairs 

 Failing to allow contractors to enter their property to carry out maintenance 

 Running a business from their property without permission 

 Allowing their property to be used for illegal or immoral purposes 

 Local connection: 

o Persons who do not have a local connection to any of the local authority areas 

within the partnership (as described in section 3.3 on local connection) will be 

disqualified from joining the B-with-us housing register 

 Homeowners: 

o Persons who have an ownership stake in a property will be disqualified from joining 

the B-with-us housing register, unless they qualify for a priority band (bands 1, 2 or 

3) 

 Applicants with an ownership stake in a property will be expected to 

actively market the property for sale once they are offered a tenancy 

through B-with-us, with an expectation that the owned property would be 

sold within 12 months of accepting the tenancy 

Applicants assessed by a local authority partner under homelessness legislation and who is owed a 

full statutory duty under section 193(2) of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended by the Homelessness 

Reduction Act 2017) will automatically qualify to join the B-with-us housing register. 

3.3 Local Connection 
Applicants will have a local connection if they: 

 Have been continuously resident in Pennine Lancashire for six of the last twelve months, or 

 Have been resident in Pennine Lancashire for three of the last five years, or 

 Have a family member who is resident in Pennine Lancashire and has been for a minimum of 

five years – family members include parents, siblings, children, adult children, grandparents, 

other special persons (the applicant must have an ongoing relationship and be in contact 

with the person providing the local connection), or 

Page 52



Page 19 of 34 
 

 Have been employed in Pennine Lancashire for the last six months and the work is not 

seasonal or temporary and the applicant must be working at the point an offer of a tenancy 

is made 

See appendix one for more information. Evidence of the local connection will be required. 

3.4 Exemptions to Local Connection 
The following applicants will be exempt from requiring a local connection: 

 Statutory homeless applicants and applicants who are victims of domestic abuse, threats of 

domestic abuse or those escaping domestic abuse 

 Applicants who are in a reasonable preference category under section 166A of the Housing 

Act 1996, and a prevention or relief duty is owed by one of the local authority partners 

 Applicants who need to move to take up an offer of permanent employment in any of the 

five local authority areas - proof of the offer of employment will be required and applicants 

will need to demonstrate that they are unable to accept the offer of employment without 

moving into one of the five local authority areas (see appendix one for more information) 

 Applicants who have a continuing care responsibility for someone who is resident in the five 

local authority areas (evidence will be required) 

 Applicants who have or are due to undertake training or higher education in any of the five 

local authority areas with a duration of at least six month (evidence will be required) 

 Applicants who are looked after, accommodated or fostered by Lancashire or Blackburn 

children service authorities in any of the five local authority areas  

 Applicants who were looked after, accommodated or fostered by any other children service 

authority in any of the five local authority areas, providing they were resident in any of the 

Lancashire County Council district plus Blackburn with Darwen for a continuous period of 16 

weeks or more 

 Applicants who were accommodated under Section 95 of the Immigration and Asylum Act 

1999 and granted leave to remain in any of the five Local Authority areas/Pennine 

Lancashire 

 Applicants who are serving or former members of the Armed Forces or the Reserve Armed 

Forces (or their bereaved spouse or civil partners who are leaving military accommodation, 

where the death of their spouse can be partially or wholly attributed to the armed forces) - 

evidence of service will be required 

Her Majesty’s Armed Forces can be defined as any of the military services which are tasked with the 

defence of the United Kingdom and its overseas territories and the Crown dependencies. Her 

Majesty’s Armed Forces consist of the Royal Navy, the Royal Marines, the British Army and the Royal 

Air Force. 

3.5 Transfer Applicants 
All applicants are subject to the eligibility and qualification criteria set out in this policy. Additionally, 

transfer applicants must be assessed as having a housing need in order to join the B-with-us housing 

Page 53



Page 20 of 34 
 

register, these being the criteria laid out in section 4.2 (Band 1, 2, 3 or 4).  

Transfer applicants will be made an offer which ensures they do not inadvertently lose accrued right.  

3.6 Determining eligibility and qualification 
Whether or not an applicant is eligible and qualifies will be considered at the time their application is 

initially processed and again at the point of offer of an allocation. If an applicant qualifies initially but 

later becomes disqualified, they will be removed from the housing register and notified with the 

reasons why they no longer qualify. Applicants will have the right to a review – see section 2.3. 

3.7 Subsequent applications 
Applicants may at any time make a subsequent application to join the B-with-us housing register. 

Applicants should exercise this right if they believe their circumstances or behaviour has changed 

and as such they would no longer be treated as not eligible or disqualified.  

There is no limit on the number or frequency of subsequent applications a person may make. No 

person will be excluded from making an application or be excluded indefinitely from the housing 

register. 

3.8 Deliberate worsening of circumstances 
Applicants whom B-with-us partner(s) determine have worsened their own circumstances may be 

given reduced priority on the B-with-us housing register, by being placed in the band that they 

would have been given had they not worsened their circumstances. 

Examples of what may be considered as deliberate worsening of circumstances include (but are not 

limited to): 

 Applicants who have sold a property that was affordable and suitable for their needs 

 Applicants who have moved into insecure / overcrowded accommodation where there was 

no good reason to do so 

 Applicants who have transferred or gifted a property to someone else within the last five 

years (including social housing tenants who have assigned their tenancy to someone else) 

 Where an applicant has moved additional family / friends into the property which has 

resulted in them becoming overcrowded, where there was no good reason to do so  

Page 54



Page 21 of 34 
 

Section 4: Allocations 

4.1 Determining priority for an allocation 
Applicants will be prioritised for an allocation of housing based on their band, then by their effective 

date (the date they were awarded their highest band), then by their registration date and then by 

the date and time their bid was placed. 

4.2 Prioritising Applicants 
Band One: 

 Applicants assessed by a local authority partner under homelessness legislation and who is 

owed a full statutory duty under section 193(2) of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended by the 

Homelessness Reduction Act 2017) – see appendix two 

 Applicants assessed by a local authority partner under the Homeless Prevention Scheme – 

see appendix two 

 Applicants who urgently need to move on medical or welfare grounds, including: 

o Applicants with an immediate life threatening or progressive condition that is 

affected by their current home or impairs their ability to live in their current home 

o Applicants with a severe disability or terminal illness resulting in them being unable 

to use facilities in the home (such as bathroom or WC) 

o Applicants waiting to be discharged from hospital or residential rehabilitative unit 

and who cannot reasonably return to their present home 

 Applicants living in unsatisfactory housing conditions due to their landlord being in receipt of 

a closing order / prohibition notice by a participating local authority 

 Applicants in owner occupied or privately rented homes within a scheme that will be 

displaced by renewal area or regeneration schemes 

 Existing tenants of registered provider partners who are required to leave their property to 

allow for major improvement work, disposal or demolition 

 Applicants whom the local authority partner and Children’s Services have determined are 

ready to live independently at the conclusion of their placement under Section 20 of the 

Children’s Act 2004 

 Partner Organisation Management Transfer 

o In some exceptional circumstances Band One priority may be awarded to transfer 

applicants who have been assessed by a senior member of staff as having an urgent 

need to move 

Band One applicants will be ringfenced to the awarding local authority area, except high medical and 

care leavers. 

Band Two: 

 Applicants assessed by a local authority partner as being owed a duty to help prevent their 

homelessness – a section 195(2) duty of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended by the 

Homelessness Reduction Act 2017) – see appendix two 

Page 55



Page 22 of 34 
 

 Applicants assessed by a local authority partner as being owed a duty to help relieve their 

homelessness – a section 189B(2) duty of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended by the 

Homelessness Reduction Act 2017) – see appendix two 

 Applicants who are occupying insanitary housing and the local authority has served an 

Improvement Notice 

 A member of the household seeking accommodation is disabled and has been assessed by 

an occupational therapist to require significant adaptations that cannot be fitted in the 

existing home or it is not considered reasonable to do so 

 Applicants needing to move away from a particular locality, where they would be at risk of 

harm if they didn’t, including: 

o Applicants subject to domestic abuse or threats of domestic abuse 

o Applicants subject to any form of hate crime 

o Applicants residing in a refuge or safehouse 

Band Three: 

 Applicants who are homeless within the meaning of Part VII Housing Act 1996 (as amended 

by the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017) but who are not owed a duty under section 

195(2), section 189B(2) or section 193(2) of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended by the 

Homelessness Reduction Act 2017) – see appendix two 

 Applicants needing to move to a particular locality, where hardship would be caused if they 

didn’t, including: 

o Applicants who need to move to commence employment and/or specialist 

education 

o Applicants who need to move to give or receive support 

 Applicants who need to move on medical or welfare grounds, including: 

o Applicants with a diagnosed medical condition that is affected by their current home 

o Applicants whose disability impairs their ability to live in their current home 

 Applicants who are occupying insanitary or overcrowded housing or otherwise living in 

unsatisfactory housing conditions: 

o Applicants that lack one or more bedrooms 

o Applicants occupying a home that is subject to a Category One Hazard under the 

Housing Health and Safety Rating System which is unlikely to be remedied within six 

months 

o Licensee’s 

o Applicants sharing facilities with non-household members (including living room, 

kitchen, bathroom, WC) 

o Applicants living in B-with-us approved supported accommodation in Pennine 

Lancashire, where they and their support provider are in agreement they are ready 

to move on (additional priority will also be awarded to applicants in supported 

accommodation who are ready to move on – see section 4.7) 

Band Four: 

 Partner Organisation Transfer applicants under-occupying by one or more bedrooms 

Band Five: 

 All other applicants who do not qualify for any of the criteria above 

Page 56



Page 23 of 34 
 

4.3 Bedroom allocation 
No more than two people will be expected to share a bedroom. Bedrooms will be allocated to: 

 Each couple living together 

 A parent in a single parent family 

 Each single person aged 21 or over 

 Pairs of resident children aged 0-21 years of the same sex 

 Pairs of resident children aged under 10 years regardless of sex 

Each person over the age of 21 (unless co-habiting as a couple) will require a bedroom. However, 

when a person who is sharing a bedroom reaches the age of 16, the household will be given an 

additional bedroom need (though they will not be classed as overcrowded). For example, a couple 

and two sons aged 14 and 16 will be given a two to three bedroom need. When the eldest son turns 

21, they will be given a three to three bedroom need and would be classed as overcrowded. 

An additional bedroom may be allowed in the following circumstances: 

 Medical reasons 

 To accommodate a carer 

 Child access arrangements 

 Pregnancy (if they would be overcrowded once the baby is born) 

Evidence will be required for all of the above before the additional bedroom will be awarded. Some 

partner organisations may not grant a tenancy if the additional bedroom would lead to an under 

occupation charge.  

Applicants will not be offered a property which would result in them being statutorily overcrowded. 

4.4 Changes in circumstance 
Applicants whose circumstances change once they have been accepted onto the B-with-us register 

must login and update their details without delay.  

Failure to update their application could result in them becoming disqualified and facing prosecution 

for fraud. 

If, as a result of a change in circumstances, an applicant gains a higher banding, their effective date 

will be automatically updated to reflect the date that this band was awarded.  

If an applicant updates their application with a change in circumstances but there is no change to 

their band, their effective date will remain the same. 

If an applicant updates their application with a change in circumstances and they are awarded a 

lower band, their effective date will change to the date they were previously in that band, or to their 

original effective date if they have never been in the lower band (i.e. the original date the 

application was accepted onto the B-with-us housing register).  

If an applicant updates their application and they are assessed as being no longer eligible or no 

longer qualifying, their application will be closed. 

Page 57



Page 24 of 34 
 

4.5 Local Lettings Plans 
In some circumstances, the registered provider partner organisations may decide to let properties 

with additional criteria, in the interests of building strong and sustainable communities or to deal 

with particular local issues. These additional criteria will be laid out in a Local Lettings Plan. 

Upon completion of any local lettings plans, the relevant local authority will be informed of the 

details of the plan. 

Local lettings plans will set out the following: 

 A clear definition of the objective(s) to be achieved, backed up by supporting evidence 

 A method which is likely to achieve the objective(s) 

 A potential equality impact assessment 

 How the scheme will be monitored and who will be involved 

 Mechanisms of reporting and reviewing the scheme 

 How views of local communities have shaped the scheme 

 A clear exit strategy 

Local lettings plans will be used to achieve a wide variety of housing management and policy 

objectives, including: 

 Creating more mixed and/or sustainable communities 

 Dealing with a concentration of deprivation 

 Ensuring properties that are particularly suited to being made accessible (e.g. ground floor 

flats) are prioritised for those with access needs 

 Relocating essential workers such as teachers, nurses, police officers, etc within a reasonable 

travelling distance from their work 

 Supporting people in work/volunteering or people who are seeking work or seeking 

volunteering opportunities 

 Dealing sensitively with lettings in rural areas to sustain communities by giving priority to 

those with a local connection of more than two years 

 Take into account the needs of mobile workers such as those in armed forces 

 Where a child to adult ratio could be lowered on an estate where there is a high child 

density, or conversely, young single people could be integrated into an estate where there is 

a high older person ratio 

 Where there are reasons to positively discriminate due to age, for example accommodation 

that is only suitable for applicants under the age of 35 years or over the age of state pension 

entitlement 

These plans should be reviewed on an annual basis. 

4.6 Additional Priority 
In some cases applicants may be awarded Additional Priority as well as their awarded band.  

Applicants awarded Additional Priority will appear at the top of their band on shortlists, overriding 

their effective date.  

Page 58



Page 25 of 34 
 

Applicants will qualify for Additional Priority if: 

 They (or a member of their household who is moving with them) are currently serving or 

former members of the UK Armed Forces 

 They are currently living in B-with-us approved supported accommodation and have been 

awarded Band Three – Unsatisfactory for living in supported accommodation, and a 

satisfactory “supported move on form” or reference has been received from the support 

provider confirming that the applicant is ready to move on from supported accommodation 

Verification will be sought from these applicants at the point of offer, to verify that they are or were 

serving members of the Armed Forces or that they are currently living in supported accommodation 

and are now ready to move on. If satisfactory evidence is not provided, the additional priority will be 

removed.  

Page 59



Page 26 of 34 
 

Section 5: Being Allocated a Property 

5.1 Choice based lettings 
Available properties will be offered via a choice based system, meaning applicants will be able to 

express preferences/choice about the property they are allocated through B-with-us via a bidding 

system.  

Available properties will be advertised on the B-with-us website and at some offices of B-with-us 

partners. Adverts can be added Monday – Friday and will remain live for seven days.  

Applicants may place up to five bids per week on any properties for which they are eligible. In some 

cases, at the discretion of B-with-us partners, applicants may bid for a property which is larger than 

their required size. 

At the end of the seven day advertising cycle, a shortlist will be generated including all applicants 

who placed a bid on the property. Applicants will be prioritised by banding, then by effective date, 

then by registration date, then by date and/or time that their bid was placed.  

The applicant at the top of the shortlist will be checked to ensure they are still eligible and still 

qualify, and if they do they will be provisionally offered the property.  

If the top applicant declines the provisional offer of an allocation, the next highest bidder will be 

provisionally offered the property (once checks have been made to confirm they are still eligible and 

still qualify). This process continues until a successful allocation is made.  

B-with-us partners will be able to reject bids made by applicants if they consider them to not be 

suitable for the property.  Examples of what may make an applicant unsuitable for a property may 

include (but are not limited to): 

 The applicant is no longer eligible as defined by the rules of this policy 

 The applicant no longer qualifies by the rules of this policy 

 The applicants’ banding has been incorrectly calculated by B-with-us 

 The applicants’ banding has changed between the date the bid was made and the date the 

property is to be provisionally offered 

 The applicant doesn’t satisfy the criteria for the property 

 The applicant cannot be contacted by the registered provider or the applicant fails to return 

contact within 24 hours 

5.2 Refusal of accommodation offers 
Applicants who refuse three offers of accommodation within a twelve month period will be unable 

to bid for six months if the reasons for refusal are deemed to be unreasonable.  

Examples of unreasonable refusals include (but are not limited to): 

 Area unsuitable 

Page 60



Page 27 of 34 
 

 Failure to respond to provisional offer (at any stage) 

 Repeated bids on property type/area that the applicant has previously refused or deemed 

unsuitable 

 Personal circumstances, e.g. applicant says they are not ready to move 

This list is not exhaustive and circumstances will be considered on an individual basis. 

Applicants may submit an appeal within 28 days of the decision if they feel that the allocation(s) they 

refused were an unreasonable offer, or that their reason for refusal was reasonable. 

5.3 Direct Lets 
B-with-us partners will ensure that the majority of properties becoming available will be let via B-

with-us. There may, however, be situations or exceptional circumstances where a direct letting of a 

property will be made to an applicant. Examples include: 

 Emergency re-housing due to fire or flood 

 B-with-us partner tenants vacating an extensively adapted property for a general needs 

property 

 New build wheelchair accessible homes 

 Adapted property for a homeless applicant  

 Succession of tenancy, mutual exchanges and transfers of interest made under a court order 

Direct lets will only be made following approval from a senior member of staff.  

5.4 Other general points 
Any property may be advertised as First Come, First Served after one complete bidding cycle, if there 

has been no successful allocation of the property to an applicant. First Come, First Served adverts 

can be added Monday – Friday and have no specific cycle end date. Applicants bidding on First 

Come, First Served adverts will be prioritised by the date and time that their bid was placed. 

Provisional offers of accommodation should be made by phone, text message, email, letter or client 

message, and at least two, preferably three contact methods should be used. Applicants will then be 

given at least 24 hours to consider whether to accept the offer, and will be informed of their 

deadline within the provisional offer contact attempts. 

The actual letting will be handled by housing management staff. 

Properties on the ground floor with an accessible bathroom or additional bathroom or toilet will be 

prioritised for applicants who have a medical need for such a dwelling.  

Applicants may not be offered a property in a locality in which he or she has previously been the 

perpetrator or victim of anti-social behaviour, hate crime, violence, or domestic abuse.  

This policy has been drawn up having had regard to the Tenancy Strategy of each local authority B-

with-us partner, plus the Tenancy Policy of each registered provider B-with-us partner. Tenancies 

will be offered in strict accordance with these documents.  

Page 61



Page 28 of 34 
 

Applicants will be informed of the quality of accommodation and will be provided with an 

opportunity to view the property prior to accepting the offer. Applicants can expect that properties 

will be fit for occupation at the date of the letting, or that any repairing obligations imposed on B-

with-us registered providers will be met within a reasonable time from the commencement of the 

tenancy. 

Applicants may be required to provide rent in advance prior to entering into a tenancy agreement 

with any B-with-us registered provider. Rules relating to rent in advance differ between each 

registered provider partner.  

Applicants will not be offered a property where they cannot afford to pay all related potential rental 

and service charges. Applicants’ income, expenditure, debt, loans and savings will be taken into 

consideration by B-with-us registered provider partners. 

Applicants will need to be able to demonstrate (via income or benefits) that they will be able to pay 

all of the following charges: 

 Housing costs (including rent and service charges) 

 Council tax 

 Water (supply and sewage) 

 Electricity 

 Heating (gas, electricity, oil or solid fuels) 

 Priority debts 

Offers of accommodation may be revoked if new information comes to light which would affect the 

allocation. 

If applicants in high priority bands are not bidding regularly (and there is no clear reason for their 

lack of bids, such as waiting for a specific property type that does not become available often or 

waiting for an adapted property to suit medical needs), the partnership may review and possibly 

reduce their banding, or may remove the applicant from the register. 

  

Page 62



Page 29 of 34 
 

Appendices 

Appendix One: Local Connection 
 

Pennine Lancashire 

The “Pennine Lancashire” area is defined as the area covered by the five Local Authorities: Blackburn 

with Darwen, Burnley, Hyndburn, Pendle and Rossendale. 

 

Permanent employment 

Permanent employment for the purposes of obtaining a local connection includes: 

 Full or part time work 

 Apprenticeships 

 Self-employment, providing the work is regular, not intermittent, and this can be evidenced 

Evidence of permanent employment can include payslips, employment contract, or a reference from 

the employer, or if needing to move to commence employment, a letter detailing the employment 

offer will need to be provided. 

 

Right to move 

To comply with the “Right to Move – Statutory guidance on social housing allocations for local 

housing authorities in England 2015”, the following applies to existing social housing tenants. 

Existing social housing tenants will not be disqualified on the grounds of no local connection if they: 

 Have reasonable preference under s.166a(3)(e) because of a need to move to one of the 

Pennine Lancashire districts covered by the partnership to avoid hardship, and 

 They need to move because they currently work in Pennine Lancashire, or 

 They need to move to take up an offer of employment in Pennine Lancashire, and 

 Hardship would be caused if they didn’t move 

If these criteria are met, the applicant will be awarded band three for “applicants needing to move 

to a particular locality, where hardship would be caused if they didn’t”. 

When determining hardship, each will be considered on a case by case basis, and the following 

factors will be considered: 

 The time taken to travel to employment 

 The distance or costs incurred to access the employment  

Page 63



Page 30 of 34 
 

 If failure to move would result in the applicant losing the opportunity to gain a better job or 

promotion, an apprenticeship, increased hours or pay, or move from unemployment to 

employment 

 If the nature of work is likely to be available closer to the applicants home 

 Any relevant personal factors such as existing care responsibilities or medical conditions 

which could be impacted 

A quota of 1% of a partner landlords lets will be prioritised for Right to Move applicants, based on 

the total of the previous year’s lettings by each partner landlord. The number of Right to Move lets 

will be rounded up to the nearest whole figure, and will be advertised giving preference to 

applicants falling under the Right to Move criteria. 

The rationale behind the 1% quota is that it is expected there will be very few qualifying Right to 

Move applicants, however the quota will be reviewed in line with the overall policy. 

 

  

Page 64



Page 31 of 34 
 

Appendix Two: Homelessness 
If an applicant approaches a local authority partner (Burnley Council, Blackburn with Darwen 

Council, Hyndburn Council, Pendle Council or Rossendale Council) for assistance as they are 

homeless, or may be threatened with homelessness, the relevant local authority will make enquiries 

under the 1996 Housing Act (as amended by the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017).  

Whichever legal duty may be owed by the local authority to the applicant will determine which band 

is awarded to the applicant. The banding will only be awarded for the length of time the relevant 

duty is owed. 

Only the relevant local authority partner may award or remove these bands. 

Band One  

An applicant assessed by a local authority partner under homelessness legislation and who is 

owed a full statutory duty under S193(2) of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended by the 

Homelessness Reduction Act 2017). 

This is where a relevant local authority partner has a legal duty to secure accommodation for 

households who are: 

 Eligible, and 

 In a priority need category, and 

 Unintentionally homeless 

Where an applicant is awarded this duty, the local authority partner, so far as is reasonably 

practicable, will discharge its section 193(2) duty to the applicant by securing accommodation within 

its district. As such, the applicant will only be able to bid as a Band One applicant within the relevant 

local authority district. 

Whilst there is recognition of the applicant’s urgent need to secure accommodation, this must also 

be balanced against the pressures caused by demand on the local housing stock. Some areas and 

types of property are in extremely high demand and waiting times can be lengthy. Therefore, it may 

not always be possible to re-house people according to their preferred options. In order to reduce 

waiting times and to facilitate choice, applicants owed a section 193(2) duty will retain Band One 

until they receive one suitable offer of accommodation.  

If an applicant refuses an offer made, they would have the right to request a review of the suitability 

of the accommodation made to the relevant local authority partner. However, if the offer is found to 

be suitable, the local authority may no longer owe the applicant a duty under section 193(2) and this 

would mean that the applicant loses the Band One which had been awarded. In such circumstances, 

their application would be re-assessed and awarded the relevant banding according to their needs. 

Proxy bidding 

If an applicant chooses not to bid for all properties for which they are eligible, the relevant local 

authority partner will begin making proxy bids on behalf of that applicant whilst giving due 

consideration to whether it would be a “suitable offer” if the applicant was to be successful.  

Page 65



Page 32 of 34 
 

If the applicant is not being provided with temporary accommodation by the relevant local authority 

partner, the applicant will be given a minimum two week period to bid wherever they like, from the 

date of the decision letter confirming that the applicant is owed a section 193(2) duty. 

 If the applicant has not been successful after a minimum of two weeks, the relevant local 

authority will place proxy bids for all properties within the applicants indicated “area of 

preference” 

 If the applicant has not been successful after a minimum of four weeks, the local authority 

will also place proxy bids in areas outside the applicants indicated “area of preference” to 

cover more of the local authority district 

 If the applicant has not been successful after a minimum of six weeks, the local authority will 

place proxy bids in all areas of the local authority district 

If the applicant is being provided with temporary accommodation by the relevant local authority 

partner, or at the point that the applicant is provided with temporary accommodation, the relevant 

local authority partner will place proxy bids on the applicants behalf for any properties within their 

“area of preference” that the applicant has not made. 

 If the applicant has not been successful within a minimum of two weeks, the local authority 

will place proxy bids in areas outside the applicants indicated “area of preference” to cover 

more of the local authority district 

 If the applicant has not been successful by the end of a minimum of four weeks, the local 

authority will place proxy bids in all areas of the local authority district 

Applicants should also be aware that the Localism Act 2011 gives local authorities the power to end 

their section 193(2) homelessness duty by offering a suitable private rented home with a fixed term 

tenancy without the applicants consent. 

 

Band One  

An applicant assessed by a local authority partner under homelessness prevention scheme. 

The applicant will be awarded Band One where the local authority has: 

 Accepted a section 195(2) Prevention Duty or 189B(2) Relief Duty, and 

 Considered the applicant to be in priority need and unintentionally homeless, whether a 

decision to that effect has been made or not, and 

 Provided temporary accommodation to meet a section 188 Interim Accommodation Duty or 

the applicant is at risk of being placed in temporary accommodation, for example as a result 

of repossession action through the courts where there is no defence 

And where one or more of the following issues apply: 

 The local authority partner may be at risk of failing a legal duty under homelessness 

legislation 

 There would be considered to be significant financial implications of placing the applicant 

and household in interim accommodation 

Page 66



Page 33 of 34 
 

 The applicant requires a specific type and/or size of property that rarely becomes available, 

such as a three bedroom bungalow or an adapted four bedroom house, or a location where 

vacancies rarely occur 

Under this scheme: 

 The banding will only apply whilst the local authority partner owes the applicant a section 

195(2) Prevention Duty or 189B (2) Relief duty 

 The applicant will be subject to the “one suitable offer” policy and “proxy bidding” as 

described for applicants assessed by a local authority partner under homelessness legislation 

and who is owed a full statutory duty under S193(2) of the Housing Act 1996 

Band Two 

An applicant assessed by a local authority partner a being owed a duty to help prevent their 

homelessness – a section 195(2) duty of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended by the 

Homelessness Reduction Act 2017). 

This banding is awarded where an applicant is assessed by the local authority partner as being at 

risk of homelessness within 56 days and who is actively engaging with the local authority partner 

to prevent their homelessness. 

Band Two 

An applicant assessed by a local authority partner a being owed a duty to help relieve their 

homelessness – a section 189B(2) duty of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended by the 

Homelessness Reduction Act 2017). 

This banding is awarded where an applicant is assessed by the local authority partner as being 

homeless and who is actively engaging with the local authority partner to relieve their 

homelessness.  

Band Three 

An applicant who is homeless within the meaning of Part VII Housing Act 1996 (as amended by 

the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017) who is not owed a duty under section 189B(2) or 

s193(2) of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended by the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017). 

These are applicants who are homeless or at risk of homelessness within the meaning of Part VII 

Housing Act 1996 but who have not been awarded a duty as described for Band One or Band 

Two. 

Such cases include: 

 Applicants who have been found to be intentionally homeless from their previous 

settled address – section 184 of Part VII Housing Act 1996 (as amended) 

 Applicants who become homeless intentionally from any accommodation made 

available as a result of the local authority partners exercise of the functions under 

homelessness legislation – section 195(8)(d), section 189B(7)(d), section 193C(5)(b) and 

section 193(6)(b) of Part VII Housing Act 1996 (as amended) 

Page 67



Page 34 of 34 
 

 Applicants who had refused suitable accommodation that had a reasonable prospect of 

being available for at least six months – section 195(8)(d), section 193(5), section 193(7), 

section 193C(5)(b) and section 193(6)(b) of Part VII Housing Act 1996 (as amended) 

 Applicants notified that they have deliberately and unreasonably refused to cooperate – 

section 193B of Part VII Housing Act 1996 (as amended) 

 Applicants found to not be in priority need – section 184 of Part VII Housing Act 1996 (as 

amended) 

 Referral to another local authority which is not a partner local authority under section 

198 or section 213 of Part VII Housing Act 1996 (as amended)  

 Applicants who voluntarily ceases to occupy as their only principal home the 

accommodation made available for their occupation – section 193C(5)(d) or section 

193(6)(d) of Part VII Housing Act 1996 (as amended) 

 56 days have expired since awarding prevention or relief duty as described in Band Two 

– section 195(8)(b) or section 198B(7)(b) of Part VII Housing Act 1996 (as amended) 

 

 

 

 

Page 68



APPENDIX 2 
 

1 of 4 

 

 

Hyndburn Borough Council 
 
 Customer First Analysis 
 
B with us Allocations Policy 

 
What is it for? 
 
Our corporate values include putting the customer first, providing opportunities for bright futures and 
narrowing inequality across the Borough. 
 
From 1 April 2011, a new legal duty applies to all public authorities.  It covers these protected 
characteristics: 
 

 age; 

 disability; 

 gender reassignment; 

 pregnancy and maternity; 

 race; 

 religion or belief; 

 gender; 

 sexual orientation; and, for some aspects, 

 marriage and civil partnerships. 
 
The duty means that – as previously - we should analyse the effect of existing and new policies and 
practices on equality.  It does not specify how we should do this.  However, legal cases on the 
meaning of the previous general equality duties make it clear that we must carry out the analysis 
before making the relevant policy decision, and include consideration as to whether we can reduce 
any detrimental impact.   
 
The framework overleaf – our Customer First Analysis - is suggested when making a written record of 
the analysis.  This replaces Equality Impact Assessments. 
 
The Analysis should be proportionate to the policy decision being taken.  In some cases the written 
record will be a quick set of bullet points or notes under each heading, to deal with any questions 
which are relevant (or briefly explain why if they aren’t).  Others will need to be much more detailed.  A 
meaningful Analysis will help the Council make the best decision or formulate a policy which best 
meets our customers’ needs. 
 
Please return completed Customer First Analyses to Human Resources.  I can guide you through the 
process if this would be helpful. 
 
If you have any suggestions for improving this process, please let me know. 
 
 
 
Kirsten Burnett 
Head of HR 

Page 69



APPENDIX 2 
 

2 of 4 

Customer First Analysis 
 

1. Purpose 
 

 What are you trying to achieve with the policy / service / function? 
 

The B with us allocations policy ensures that social rented housing within the borough is 
allocated fairly in accordance with legislation (Housing Act 1996 Part VI), recognising housing 
needs and making the best use of the limited stock available. The policy establishes the 
priorities in which applicants may be allocated to properties from the housing register. To help 
and maintain sustainable local communities within the borough 
 

 Who defines and manages it? 
 
Section 166a of Part VI of the Housing Act 1996 requires that every local housing authority in 
England (whether they have any housing stock or not) to have a scheme for determining the 
priority of households seeking social housing, as well as a procedure to be followed in the 
allocation of such housing. To fulfil the requirement for a scheme the Council is a member of B-
with-us. 

 

 Who do you intend to benefit from it and how? 
 

All households in the Borough and Pennine Lancashire who are in housing need and/or 
threatened with homelessness who require alternative accommodation. 

 

 What could prevent people from getting the most out of the policy / service / function? 
 

Inadequate promotion and publicity of the scheme. Inaccurate determination of a households 
housing need that means they don’t receive the appropriate priority under the policy. 

 

 How will you get your customers involved in the analysis and how will you tell people about it? 
 

Customers, service users and the public were consulted on the draft consultation version of the 
allocations policy during December 2019 and January 2020 and their views taken into account 
in finalising the policy. 1900 responses were received to this consultation. 

 
2. Evidence 
 

 How will you know if the policy delivers its intended outcome / benefits? 
 

The B with Us Steering Group and Operational Group alongside the Lettings Facilitator (B-with-
us) will monitor and oversee the operation of the policy. 

 

 How satisfied are your customers and how do you know? 
 

Customers can challenge the policy or their priority on the housing register through the 
partnership. There is also the right to pursue judicial review challenges about the policy.   

 

 What existing data do you have on the people that use the service and the wider population? 
 

Page 70



APPENDIX 2 
 

3 of 4 

Annual monitoring reports on the profile of the customers using the service are produced. 
Additionally ad hoc reports can be produced at any time. Data includes household size and 
profile, age, gender, ethnicity and economic status,   

 

 What other information would it be useful to have?  How could you get this? 
 

The information that can be obtained from the ‘application form / process’ gives sufficient 
information. 

 

 Are you breaking down data by equality groups where relevant (such as by gender, age, 
disability, ethnicity, sexual orientation, marital status, religion and belief, pregnancy and 
maternity)? 

 
Yes. Annual monitoring reports on the profile of the customers using the service are produced. 
Additionally ad hoc reports can be produced at any time. Data includes household size and 
profile, age, gender, ethnicity and economic status,   

 

 Are you using partners, stakeholders, and councillors to get information and feedback? 
 

Feedback is obtained regularly from partners via the B with us Steering and Operational 
Groups, from stakeholders via multi-agency forums e.g. Homeless in Hyndburn Forum and 
from Councillors through day to day contact on individual applications and through Council 
meetings i.e. Regeneration and Housing Panel. 

 
3. Impact 
 

 Are some people benefiting more – or less - than others?  If so, why might this be? 
 

Some households may not be eligible for assistance from the service provided. For example 
restrictions on eligibility determined by statute and through qualification criteria imposed 
through the policy. Applicants under the age of 18 are not legally allowed to hold a tenancy 
agreement in the social housing sector. 
 
Home owners will be disqualified from joining B-with-us unless in housing need, and older 
people are statistically more likely to be home owners. 

 
4. Actions 
 

 If the evidence suggests that the policy / service / function benefits a particular group – or 
disadvantages another - is there a justifiable reason for this and if so, what is it? 

 
The Housing Act 1996 (Part VI) and the accompanying Allocation of accommodation: guidance 
for local housing authorities in England (2012) sets out who is eligible for assistance and gives 
reasonable preference to all vulnerable groups. 

 

 Is it discriminatory in any way? 
 

No legislation and guidance defines eligibility and preference. 
 

 Is there a possible impact in relationships or perceptions between different parts of the 
community? 

 

Page 71



APPENDIX 2 
 

4 of 4 

Certain groups within the community might perceive that ineligibility for services or a reduced 
preference is discriminatory although there is no evidence to this effect.  The policy has been 
developed in accordance with legislation and guidance. 
 

 What measures can you put in place to reduce disadvantages? 
 

Highlight to stakeholders and partner organisations the restrictions that certain groups may 
face in accessing services. Revise the policy further should there be legal challenges that 
prove discriminatory. 

 

 Do you need to consult further? 
 

Not at this stage. 
 

 Have you identified any potential improvements to customer service? 
 

Providing news and updates about the policy on the B with us website. Upgrading the IT 
software that improves customer experience and ease of use. 

 

 Who should you tell about the outcomes of this analysis? 
 

Discussions at the B with us Steering and Operational Groups, Hyndburn Borough Council 
Management Team and Departmental Managers. 

 

 Have you built the actions into your Business Plan with a clear timescale? 
 

Yes 
 

 When will this assessment need to be repeated? 
 

When there is significant amendments to legislation or guidance. 
 
 

Name:   Fiona Goodfellow  Signed:   
 
Service Area:  Regeneration and Housing  Dated: 20th February 2020 

 
If applicable, please attach copy of – or website link to - the cabinet report for reference. 

 
 

Don’t forget to return your written record to HR. 
 

Page 72



 

 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 18 March 2020 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Munsif Dad BEM Health & Communities 

REPORT AUTHOR: Joe McIntyre 

Deputy Chief Executive 

TITLE OF REPORT: Health & Wellbeing 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1. The reports outlines to Cabinet various initiatives that are underway between the 

Council and Hyndburn Leisure to improve the health and wellbeing of Hyndburn 
residents. 

2. Recommendations  
 
2.1. Cabinet notes the report 

3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 

Summary  
 

3.1. Hyndburn has some of the worse levels of inactivity and obesity in England and this 
results in lower life expectancy rates and a poorer quality of health and wellbeing for 
our residents.  Various factors influence these outcomes and improving the health 
and wellbeing of our residents is significant challenge. 

 
3.2. The Council is involved with a wide range of partners, particularly Hyndburn Leisure 

in attempting to address these issues.  A number of important grants from external 
organisations have been secured recently.  In parallel work, the Council is 
undertaking a study of its health and wellbeing needs and provision and examining 
the fitness of its current facilities to meet those requirements and the challenges in 
the future.     

 
  

Page 73

Agenda Item 7.



 

 

3.3. Given the age and nature of its 2 most prominent sport centres at Mercer Hall and 
Hyndburn Sport Centre, there may be a requirement to invest significantly in both 
sites or look to develop new provision in the future, once the outcome of the review of 
the provision of facilities and the Estate Review is completed. 

 
Detail 
 

3.4. Hyndburn is faced with significant challenges around the health and wellbeing of its 
population.  Life expectancy for both men and women is lower than the national 
average in Hyndburn and in the most deprived parts of Hyndburn the life expectancy 
for men is 12.3 years lower and for women 12.0 years lower than in the least deprived 
areas.  Within Hyndburn 27.9% of people classify themselves as inactive (less than 
30 minutes of exercise a day)1.  This is worse than the regional and national 
averages.  Over 75% of the Hyndburn adult  population (over 18)  are classed as 
obese or overweight compared to a national average of 62%. 

 
3.5. Nationally, physical inactivity directly contributes to 1 in 6 deaths and around a 

quarter of the population is inactive and 45% of women and 33% of men are not 
active enough to benefit their health.  The rise in excess weight is believed to be 
fuelled by a number of factors such as the increased consumption of high fat or 
energy dense meals, a reduction in physical activity (partly due to less manual  jobs 
and the digital age), changes in transportation and the increased availability of cheap 
unhealthy food.2 

 
 
3.6. The Council works with its partners, particularly Hyndburn Leisure, to attempt to 

address these challenges in the local community via a number of strategies and 
actions, to promote a healthy lifestyle and encourage activity and wellbeing. 

 
3.7. The Council has recently secured £400,000 of external funding in conjunction with 

Hyndburn Leisure to develop new ways of involving people in steps to improve their 
health.  The funding is provided from Sport England and is part of a series of pilots 
across the country aiming to test a wide variety of approaches to improving activity, 
health and wellbeing.  From the analysis and feedback from the pilots it is intended to 
produce national guidance on what works and what does not and to roll out the 
successful ideas across the country, supported by significant further funding to allow 
widespread adoption of the proposals. 

 
3.8. The Council has also received indications from Lancashire County Council that is will 

provide £26,000 of funding each year for the next three years to support a nutrition 
programme in Hyndburn. 

 
3.9. Also, over recent months the Council has been working with Sport England to assess 

the activity needs of Hyndburn and identify if there are gaps in the provision of 
facilities within the Borough.  Coupled with this piece of work the Council has also 
undertaken an Estates Review of its primary sports centres to determine their fitness 

                                                      
1
 Active Lives Survey 2017/18 

2
 Public Health England 2017 

Page 74



 

 

of purpose, their ability to support the findings from the Sport England review and 
whether future investment will be required in the existing buildings or would the 
development of new facilities provide better value for money. 

 
3.10. Sport England have offered £10,000 of financial support to assist the Council 

undertake some of the necessary work to provide the evidence and analysis needed 
to help map out the options for the Council and £30,000 from existing Budgets will be 
made available from Council resources in 2020/21 to take the project forward. 

 
3.11. With Mercer Hall and Hyndburn Sport Centre both key buildings in the Borough for 

health and wellbeing activities and both building requiring significant investment to 
maintain them over the medium to long term, it is possible that the Council will need 
to commit between £10m and £20m over the next two years to ensure it has the sport 
centres it needs to address the health and wellbeing challenges it faces in the local 
population.  If this level of funding is required the Council will need to consider a mix 
of funding sources including its own existing capital receipts, capital receipts due in 
the future, grants from outside organisations, working with funding partners and 
raising investment funds from the market. 

 
3.12. In developing any solution from the options that emerge the Council will wish to take 

into account the full environmental impact of any proposals and ensure that energy 
use and costs are lowered substantially whenever possible by harnessing emerging 
technology in this area such as the effective use of insulation, the micro generation of 
energy, energy storage and recovery systems, the installation of low cost efficient 
appliances including lighting and other new green energy initiatives. 

4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 

4.1. The Council could rely on the existing facilities and estate to provide the health and 
wellbeing sites for Hyndburn.   This option is rejected because Hyndburn continues to 
face a major health and wellbeing challenge where it has lower life expectancy than 
the rest of England and high levels of inactivity and obesity and if this is to change the 
Council needs to develop appropriate levels of provision for health and wellbeing in 
Hyndburn. 

5. Consultations 
 
5.1. Sport England have been consulted over the proposed way forward and Hyndburn 

Leisure have been actively engaged in developing this approach.  More detailed 
consultation will take place once potential options begin to emerge from the work that 
is currently underway. 

6.  Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 

There are no direct financial implications 
arising from this remote, except the 

Page 75



 

 

for the Council) 
 

commitment to spend £30,000 in relation to a 
study into the future health and wellbeing 
needs of Hyndburn in 2020/21. 
 
Major financial commitments may come out 
of the study, but these will be evaluated and 
assessed once they are known and go 
through the Council’s existing Capital 
Programme assessment process to 
determine if they provide value for money and 
should go ahead. 
 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

There are no legal or human rights 
implications from this report as it is for noting 
only at this time. 
 

Assessment of risk 
 

There are no specific significant risks 
identified with this proposal.  There will be a 
need to manage the production of the report 
to ensure it delivers appropriate options the 
Council can effectively assess. 
 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

There are no specific equality and diversity 
implications from this report as it is just for 
noting. 

 
 

7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985:List of Background 
Papers  

 
None 
 

Page 76

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


 

 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 18 March 2020 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Joyce Plummer - Resources 

REPORT AUTHOR: Wendy Redfern – Licensing Manager 

TITLE OF REPORT: Amendment to the Rules, Regulations and 
Procedures for Hackney carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication: N/A 

  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To seek approval for the amendment to the Rules, Regulations and Procedures for 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing so as to extend the issue of a 6 month 
licence plate to any electric or hybrid  vehicles up to the age of 15 years old. 

 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 Cabinet approves the amendment to the Rules, Regulations and Procedures for 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing.  
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 The Council are responsible for setting the vehicle testing frequency for hackney 

carriage and private hire vehicles, which in turn determines the period of the licence 
that is issued. Currently vehicles under the age of 2 years are tested annually and 
issued with a 12 month licence.  Vehicles between the age of 2 years and 10 years are 
tested every 6 months and issued with a 6 month licence and vehicles over the age of 
10 years are tested every 4 months and issued with a 4 month licence. A vehicle 
cannot remain licensed beyond the age of 15 years. 

 
3.2 Members will be aware that this Council has declared a climate emergency and all 

areas of the Council have been asked to consider ways to reduce our carbon footprint.  
At a recent Taxi Liaison Group a request was received from one of the representatives 
of the trade, for the Council to consider extending the issue of 6 months taxi licences to 
the age of 15 for all electric or hybrid vehicles that we licence. This will encourage 
drivers to purchase hybrid vehicles and will go some way to addressing the climate 
issue.  

 

Page 77

Agenda Item 8.



 

 

3.3 Members of the taxi trade have been consulted and asked to give their views on this 
matter.  There has been a very positive response from the trade and there have been 
no negative comments at all.  Some other neighbouring authorities already offer some 
incentive to applicants to try and encourage them to licence cleaner hybrid or electric 
vehicle.   

 
34 Officers now believe that the 6 month licence could be extended to include electric and 

hybrid vehicles up to the age of 15 years, to encourage the uptake of these types of 
vehicles and to help to improve the climate.  Officers are now carrying out frequent 
roadside inspections which would highlight any potential issues between tests.  

 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 The Council could take no action and continue with the current policy and frequency of 

testing, however as the Council has declared a climate emergency and this change of 
policy could assist in the reduction of carbon emissions in the  Borough by encouraging 
the use of cleaner vehicles, officers would recommend that member approve the 
change of policy. 

 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 Members of the trade have been consulted and although there have been no written 

responses received, officers are aware from verbal responses that this is a move that 
is highly supported by them. 
 

5.2 Further members of the trade have elected representatives to attend the taxi liaison 
group meetings to raise any issues and make any suggestions for improvements, and 
the taxi liaison group supports this proposal.  

 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

None relating to licensing although if there is 
a large uptake it would lead to less frequent 
testing required at the Council's Vehicle 
Maintenance Unit and therefore income from 
tests would be reduced. 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

None 
 

Assessment of risk 
 

No specific risks have been identified.  

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

The Council is subject to the public sector 
equality duty introduced by the Equality Act 
2010. When making a decision in respect of 
the recommendations in this report Cabinet 
must have regard to the need to: 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation; and 

 advance equality of opportunity 

Page 78

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


 

 

between those who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and those who 
don’t; and 

 foster good relations between those 
who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who don’t. 

For these purposes the relevant protected 
characteristics are: age, disability, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual 
orientation. To assist the Cabinet in this 
regard a Customer First Analysis has been 
carried out as part of the review process 
and is attached as Appendix 1 to this report. 
Cabinet is advised to consider the Customer 
First Analysis and its obligations in respect 
of the public sector equality duty when 
making a decision in respect of the 
recommendations contained in this report.  

 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
Rules, Regulations and Procedures for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing. 
 
Appendix 1 - Customer First Analysis. 
 
 
 
 

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

RULES REGULATIONS  
AND  

PROCEDURES 
FOR 

 
 

HACKNEY CARRIAGE 
 &  

PRIVATE HIRE  
 

LICENSING 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 81



2 
 

This policy sets out the manner in which applications for hackney carriage and  
private hire licences will be considered by Hyndburn Borough Council, ’The  
Council’. 
 
1.0  Background 

 
1.1  Hackney carriage and private hire vehicles have a specific role to play in 

an integrated transport system. They are able to provide services in 
situations where public transport is either not available (for example in 
rural areas, or outside normal hours of operation such as in the evenings 
or on Sundays), and/or for those with mobility difficulties. 
 

1.2  The aim of licensing the hackney carriage and private hire trade is, 
primarily, to protect the public as well as to ensure that the public have 
reasonable access to these services, because of the part they play in 
local transport provision. 
 
It is important that the Council’s hackney carriage and private hire 
licensing powers are used to ensure that licensed vehicles in the district 
are safe, comfortable, properly insured and available where and when 
required  

  
1.3  This guidance sets out what is considered to be best practice in terms of 

hackney carriage and private hire licensing. It does not seek to cover the 
whole range of possible licensing requirements. It seeks to concentrate 
only on those issues which are significant. 
 

2.0  Best practice Guidance and Legislation 
 

2.1  The Department For Transport (DFT) has national responsibility for 
hackney carriage and private hire legislation in England and Wales. 

   
2.2  In producing this policy the latest version of the Department For 

Transport (DFT) Best Practice Guidance which was published in 2010 to 
assist local authorities with the regulation of the hackney carriage and 
private hire trades has been considered. The DFT Guidance was 
directed at local authorities in England and Wales to “decide for 
themselves the extent to which they wish to make use of it or adapt it to 
suit their own purposes”. There was recognition, within the document, 
that it is for individual licensing authorities to reach their own decisions 
both on overall policies and on individual licensing matters.  

   
2.4  This document also takes account of the legislative basis of the Council’s 

taxi licensing powers, contained in the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 
and the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, as 
amended, the requirements of the Immigration Act 2016 and the 
requirements made under Sections 165 and 167 of the Equality Act 
2010. 
 
 
 

Page 82



3 
 

SI 2017/107 - The Equality Act 2010 (Commencement No. 12) Order 
2017 
 
This Order brings into force on the 6th April 2017 sections 165 and 167 
(in so far as they are not already in force) of the Equality Act 2010 (c.15).   
 
Section 165 imposes duties on the driver of a designated taxi and the 
driver of a designated private hire vehicle (“a designated vehicle”), to 
carry passengers who are either wheelchair users or wheelchair users 
accompanying passengers, so as to enable wheelchair users to access 
and exit designated vehicles. 
 
Section 165 also creates a new criminal offence if the driver of a 
designated vehicle fails to comply with the duties specified in section 
165. 
 
Section 166 provides that the driver of a designated vehicle is exempted 
from the duties imposed by section 165 if a licensing authority issues the 
driver with an exemption certificate which is in force and the prescribed 
notice of the exemption is exhibited in the designated vehicle in the 
prescribed manner. 
 
Section 166 also provides that a taxi or private hire vehicle is 
“designated” if it appears on a list maintained under section 167. 
 
Section 167 provides that for the purposes of section 165, a licensing 
authority may maintain a list of vehicles which are either taxis or private 
hire vehicles and conform to such accessibility requirements as the 
licensing authority thinks fit.  This authority intends to maintain a list of 
such vehicles 
 

3.0  Powers and duties 
 

3.1  This statement of licensing policy is written pursuant to the powers 
conferred by the Town Police Clause Act 1847and Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, as amended, which 
places on Hyndburn Borough Council (‘the Council’) the duty to carry out 
its licensing functions in respect of hackney carriages and private hire 
vehicles and drivers. 
 

3.2 
 
 

 The aim of the licensing process is to regulate the hackney carriage and 
private hire trade in order to promote well-run and responsible 
businesses that display sensitivity to the wishes and needs of the 
general public 
 

4.0  Policy Status 
 

4.1  In exercising its discretion in carrying out regulatory functions, the 
Council will have regard to this policy document. 
 

4.2  Notwithstanding the existence of this policy, each application or 

Page 83



4 
 

enforcement measure will be considered on its own merits. Where it is 
necessary for the Council to depart substantially from it’s 
policy, clear and compelling reasons will be given for so doing. 
  

4.3 
 

 This policy (and associated work procedures) will provide those Council 
Officers who are required to administer the licensing function with 
appropriate guidelines within which to act. The Council may need to 
consider applications outside the policy. 
 

4.4 
 

 The document is not intended to be a full and/or authoritive statement of 
the law or its associated guidance and does not in any way constitute 
legal advice. The relevant statutory provisions will take precedence. 
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 84



5 
 

  OPENING HOURS OF LICENSING OFFICE 
 

Monday-Friday  0900 – 1600   
 

 
Notes for the Guidance of Applicants 

For Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Drivers Licences 

 
Applicants for Hackney Carriage or Private Hire Drivers licences are required to have 
held for a minimum of one year a full driving licence issued in the UK at the date of 
application, the European Community (EC) or one of the other countries in the 
European Economic Area (EEA). 
 
All non-UK licence holders will still be required to provide a copy of their EC/EEA 
driving licence with their application. 
 
All applicants for hackney carriage and private hire drivers’ licences will be subject to 
an online DVLA check in relation to any points or disqualifications on their licence. 
 
Application forms for hackney carriage and private hire drivers licences can be 
obtained from Scaitcliffe House, Ormerod Street, Accrington or can be downloaded 
at www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk, or collected from customer services. 
   
The completed application forms should be returned to the Scaitcliffe House address. 
An appointment will be made for all new and renewal applicants at which time you will 
be required to complete an enhanced criminal record check, and produce the 
documents listed below.  
 

(a)  Current Full European Driving Licence, 
(b)  A full medical certificate in the prescribed form, issued by a general 
practitioner on first application and every 3 years thereafter (dated within 2 
months of application) Once a driver reaches the age of 65 he/she will be 
required to provide a full medical certificate annually. 
 

(i)  all medical checks must  be carried out by:- 
 

 the applicant’s own GP; 
 

 someone from the GP practice to which the applicant is 
registered; or 
 

 an agent appointed by the GP; 
  

(ii)   full access to the applicant’s medical records must be available to the 
GP carrying out the check at all times; 

  

Page 85



6 
 

  (iii)  the medical records must be taken into account when carrying out the 
medical  examination 

 
(c ) Appropriate fee. 
 
(d)  Proofs of identity for DBS check (further details will be given when        
 appointment is made) 
 

No licence will be granted until all required documents have been received and 
satisfactory DBS results have come back to us. Please note all application 
processes must be completed within 6 months of the date of issue of the DBS 
certificate or a new certificate will be required. 
 
If a person applying for an enhanced disclosure has not lived in the UK for five years 
or more, then an equivalent DBS check (certificate of good conduct duly 
authenticated) will need to be completed by the UK Embassy for the country in 
which the applicant has previously been living.  
 
Your right to work in the UK will be checked as part of your licence application. This 
could include the licensing authority checking your immigration status with the Home 
Office. We may share information with the Home Office. You must therefore provide 
a document or document combination that is stipulated as being suitable for this 
check. The list of documents is set out on our website 
https://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/download-package/proof-of-right-to-work/ 
 
You must provide the original document(s), such as your passport or biometric 
residence permit, as indicated in the published guidance, so that the check can take 
place. The document(s) will be copied and the copy retained by the licensing 
authority. The original document will be returned to you.  Your application will not be 
considered valid until all the necessary information and original document(s) have 
been produced and the relevant fee has been paid. 
 
If there are restrictions on the length of time you may work in the UK, your licence 
will not be issued for any longer than this period. In such circumstances the check 
will be repeated each time you apply to renew or extend your licence, If, during this 
period, you are disqualified from holding a licence because you have not complied 
with the UK’s immigration laws, your licence will lapse and you must return it to the 
licensing authority. Failure to do so is a criminal offence. 
 
All new applicants will be required to pass a local knowledge test.  The test will be 
based on topographical knowledge of the local area and knowledge of the local 
Rules, Regulations and Procedures for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing. There will be a fee payable for the test in advance.  If you fail the test you 
will not be issued with a licence. However you will be able to re sit the test until such 
time as you can pass it.  All re sits will be charged at the original test rate. 
Applicants are required to attend the Steering to Success course at Accrington and 
Rossendale College 
 

Details of convictions or cautions for any offence whether driving offences (including 
fixed penalty notices) or any other offence must be declared as part of your 

Page 86



7 
 

application. If you have convictions your application will be considered in accordance 
with the Council’s Convictions Policy and may be refused. 
 
Disclosure and Barring Service 
The applicant will be asked to detail, on the application form, any convictions, 
cautions or fixed penalties which have been recorded against them. By the provision 
of the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions)(Amendment)Order 2002, 
applications by prospective Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers must detail all 
convictions regardless of when they occurred, as the ‘spent’ convictions provisions 
do not apply to these occupations. The subsequent check to the Disclosure and 
Barring Service (DBS) will serve to confirm the information provided. You must not 
rely on that check to provide the correct information, as any application which does 
not supply the complete information at the outset may be considered to be 
incomplete and a view may be taken that a deliberate attempt has been made to 
conceal convictions which have not been declared. It is a criminal offence to make a 
false declaration to obtain a Licence. 
 
Statement of Policy Regarding Relevant Convictions 
When submitting an application for a licence to drive a Hackney Carriage or drive or 
operate a Private Hire Vehicle, individuals are requested to declare any convictions 
or cautions they may have. The information given will be treated in confidence by the 
Council (subject to it being required for legal proceedings or for the purpose of any 
legal obligation imposed on the Council) and will only be taken into account in 
relation to the application in question. Hyndburn Borough Council, as a Licensing 
Authority, is empowered in law to check with the Disclosure and Barring Service for 
the existence and content of any criminal record held in the name of an applicant. 
Information received will be kept in strict confidence subject to the above 
qualification while the application process takes its course and will be retained for no 
longer than is necessary. The disclosure of a criminal record or other information will 
not debar any applicant from obtaining a licence unless the Council considers that 
the conviction renders him or her unsuitable. In making this decision, the Council will 
consider the nature of the offence, how long ago and at what age it was committed 
and any other factors which may be relevant.  When making a decision the Council 
will have regard to its Convictions Policy. 
 
Any applicant refused a Licence on the grounds that he/she is not a fit and proper 
person to hold such a licence has the right of appeal to a Magistrates’ Court. 
 
Each case will be determined on its own merits, however the overriding 
consideration will be the protection of the public. 
 
A copy of the Councils Convictions Policy is available on our web site or from the 
Licensing Department, Scaitcliffe House, Ormerod Street, Accrington. 
 
IT IS AN OFFENCE FOR A PERSON TO DRIVE A LICENSED HACKNEY 
CARRIAGE OR PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE UNLESS AND UNTIL A HACKNEY 
CARRIAGE/PRIVATE HIRE DRIVER’S LICENCE IS GRANTED.  IT IS AN 
OFFENCE FOR THE PROPRIETOR OF A LICENSED HACKNEY CARRIAGE OR 
PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE TO EMPLOY ANY PERSON TO DRIVE SUCH A 
VEHICLE WHO IS NOT THE HOLDER OF A CURRENT HACKNEY 
CARRIAGE/PRIVATE HIRE DRIVER’S LICENCE 

Page 87



8 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

BYELAWS 

 
Made under Section 68 of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847, and Section 171 of the 
Public Health Act 1875, by the Council of the Borough of Hyndburn with respect to 
hackney carriages in the Borough of Hyndburn.   
 
 
1. Interpretation 
 
 Throughout these byelaws “the Council” means the Council of the Borough of 

Hyndburn and “the district” means the Borough of Hyndburn. 
 
2. Licence Plate 
 
 The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall:- 
 
 (a) not wilfully or negligently cause or suffer any licence plate issued by the 

Council to be concealed from public view while the carriage is standing or 
plying for hire; 

 
 (b) not cause or permit the carriage to stand or ply for hire with any such plate 

so defaced that any figure or material particular is illegible. 
 
3. Condition and Furnishings of Hackney Carriages 
 
 The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall:- 
 
 (a) provide sufficient means by which any person in the carriage may 

communicate with the driver; 
 
 (b) cause the roof or covering to be kept water-tight; 
 
 (c) provide any necessary windows and a means of opening and closing not 

less than one window on each side; 
 
 (d) cause the seats to be properly cushioned or covered; 
 
 (e) cause the floor to be provided with a proper carpet, mat or other suitable 

covering; 
 
 (f) cause the fittings and furniture generally to be kept in a clean condition, 

well maintained and in every way fit for public service; 

Page 88



9 
 

 
 (g) provide means for securing luggage if the carriage is so constructed as to 

carry luggage; 
 
 (h) provide and maintain in the vehicle at all times when it is in use or 

available for hire, a suitable and efficient fire extinguisher and a suitable 
first aid kit containing appropriate first aid dressings and appliances, such 
equipment to be carried in such a position in the vehicle as to be readily 
visible and available for immediate use in an emergency. 

 
4. Use of Taximeter 
 
 (a) The driver of a hackney carriage shall make use of the taximeter as 

follows:- 
 

  (i) as soon as the hirer commences his journey the driver shall 
bring the machinery of the taximeter into action by moving the 
key, flag or other device, so that the word “HIRED” is legible on 
the face on the taximeter and keep the machinery of the 
taximeter in action until the termination of the hiring; 

 
  (ii) cause the dial of the taximeter to be kept properly illuminated 

throughout any part of a hiring which is during the hours of 
darkness this being the time between half-an-hour after sunset 
to half an hour before sunrise and also at any other time at the 
request of the hirer. 

 
 (b) The driver shall not cause the fare recorded on the taximeter to be 

cancelled or concealed until the hirer has had a reasonable opportunity of 
examining it and has paid the fare unless credit is to be given. 

 
5. Interference with equipment 
 

 The driver of a hackney carriage shall not tamper with or permit any person to 
tamper with, any taximeter with which the vehicle is provided, with the fittings 
thereof, or with the seals affixed thereto, nor with any other equipment attached 
to or forming part of the vehicle. 

 
6. Advertisements etc. 
 

 (a) The driver of a hackney carriage shall not place or suffer to be placed any 
printed, written or other matter by way of advertisement on any part of the 
vehicle except with the written consent of the Council.  

 
7. Use of Stands 
 
 The driver of a hackney carriage shall, when plying for hire in any street and not 

actually hired; 
 
 (a) proceed with reasonable speed to one of the stands appointed by the 

Council; 

Page 89



10 
 

 
 (b) if a stand, at the time of his arrival, is occupied by the full number of 

carriages authorised to occupy it, proceed to another stand; 
 
 (c) on arriving at a stand not already occupied by the full number of carriages 

authorised to occupy it, station the carriage immediately behind the 
carriage or carriages on the stand and so as to face in the same direction; 

 
 (d) from time to time when any other carriage immediately in front is driven off 

or moved forward cause his carriage to be moved forward so as to fill the 
place previously occupied by the carriage driven off or moved forward. 

 
8. Importuning 
 
 A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage, when standing or plying for hire, 

shall not, by calling out or otherwise, importune any person to hire such 
carriage and shall not make use of the services of any other person for the 
purpose. 

 
9. Conduct of Driver 
 
 The driver shall:- 
 
 (a) at all times behave in a civil and orderly manner and take all reasonable 

steps to ensure the safety of passengers conveyed in, entering or 
alighting from the vehicle driven by him; 

 
 (b) not without the express consent of the hirer *smoke, drink or eat in the 

vehicle; 
 
 (c) not without the express consent of the hirer play any radio or sound 

reproducing instrument or equipment in the vehicle other than for the 
purpose of sending or receiving messages in connection with the 
operation of the vehicle; 

 
 (d) at no time cause or permit the noise emitted by any radio or other 

previously mentioned equipment in the vehicle which he is driving to be a 
source of nuisance or annoyance to any person, whether inside or outside 
the vehicle. 

 
  *N.B. It is now an offence to smoke or to allow any person to smoke 

in a licensed vehicle at any time.  All vehicles must display no 
smoking signs 

 
  *This includes any types of E Cigarette. 
 
10. Prompt Attendance 
 
 The driver of a hackney carriage shall, if he is aware that the vehicle has been 

hired to be in attendance at any appointed time and place or he has otherwise 
been instructed by the operator or proprietor of the vehicle to be in attendance 

Page 90



11 
 

at an appointed time and place, punctually attend at that time and place, unless 
delayed or prevented by sufficient cause. 

 
 
11. Passengers 
 
 (a) The driver shall not convey or permit to be conveyed in a hackney 

carriage a greater number of persons than that prescribed in the licence 
for the vehicle, provided however that for this purpose two children below 
the age of ten years may be counted as one person insofar as the rear 
seating only is concerned; 

 
 (b) The driver shall not allow there to be conveyed in the front of a hackney 

carriage:- 
 
  (i) any child below the age of ten years; or 
 
  (ii) more than one person above that age. 
 
12. Driver’s badge 
 
 The driver’s badge provided by the Council shall be worn by the driver of a 

hackney carriage in such position and manner as to be plainly visible.  
 
13. Assistance with luggage 
 
 The driver of a hackney carriage so constructed as to carry luggage shall, when 

requested by any person hiring or seeking to hire the vehicle:- 
 
 (a) convey a reasonable quantity of luggage; 
 
 (b) afford reasonable assistance in loading and unloading; 
 
 (c) afford reasonable assistance in removing it to or from the entrance of any 

building, station, or place at which he may take up or set down such a 
person. 

 
14. Lost Property 
 
 The driver of a hackney carriage shall:- 
 
 (a) immediately after the termination of any hiring or as soon as practicable 

thereafter, carefully search the vehicle for any property which may have 
been accidentally left therein; 

 
 (b) if any property accidentally left therein by any person who may have been 

conveyed in the vehicle be found by or handed to him carry it as soon as 
possible and in any event within 48 hours, if not sooner claimed by or on 
behalf of its owner, to a police station within the district where he should 
report it to the officer in charge of the station. 

 

Page 91



12 
 

 
 
 
 
15. Copy of Byelaws 
 
 The driver shall at all times when driving a hackney carriage carry with him a 

copy of these byelaws and shall make them available for inspection by the hirer 
or any other passenger on request. 

 
16. Written receipts 
 
 The driver shall, if requested by the hirer of a hackney carriage provide him with 

a written receipt for the fare paid. 
 
 
17. Animals 
 
 (a) The driver shall not convey in a hackney carriage any animal belonging to 

or in the custody of himself or the proprietor or operator of the vehicle.  
Any animals belonging to or in the custody of any passenger which is 
conveyed in the vehicle shall only be conveyed in the rear of the vehicle  

 
 (b) The driver of a hackney carriage shall, when requested by any person 

hiring or seeking to hire the carriage, carry a guide dog accompanying a 
visually handicapped passenger.  

 
  *N.B. Guide dogs are trained to travel in the passenger foot well and 

at the request of the handler this should be permitted. 
 
18. Rates or Fares 
 
 The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall be entitled to demand and 

take for the hire of the carriage the rate or fare prescribed for the time being by 
the Council, the rate or fare being calculated by distance unless the hirer 
expresses at the commencement of the hiring his desire to engage by time.  
Provided always that where a hackney carriage furnished with a taximeter shall 
be hired by distance the proprietor or driver thereof shall not be entitled to 
demand and take a fare greater than that recorded on the face of the taximeter 
save for any extra charges detailed in the fare table which it may not be 
possible to record on the face of the taximeter. 

 
19. Statement of Fares 
 
 (a) The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall cause a statement of the fares 

fixed by the Council in the form issued by the Council to be exhibited 
inside the carriage; 

 
 (b) The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage bearing a statement of fares 

in accordance with this byelaw shall not wilfully or negligently cause or 

Page 92



13 
 

suffer the letters or figures in the statement to be concealed or rendered 
illegible at any time while the carriage is plying or being used for hire. 

 
 
20. Penalties 
 
 Every person who shall offend against any of these byelaws shall be liable on 

summary conviction to a fine not exceeding one hundred pounds and in the 
case of a continuing offence to a further fine not exceeding five pounds for each 
day during which the offence continues after conviction thereof. 

 
*These matters do not constitute part of the Byelaws, however they are 
added to allow for changes in legislation and requirements. 

 
 

REQUIREMENTS 
LICENSED HACKNEY CARRIAGE DRIVERS 

 
. 

 
NOTE:          (1) Failure to adhere to this Code may result in suspension or 

revocation of the licence pursuant to Section 61(1)(b) of the Local 
government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1976. 

 
(2) This Code is equally applicable when the hackney carriage is 

being used for private hire purposes. 
 

 
1. Contracts for Private Hire 

 
 Where a Hackney Carriage vehicle is hired pursuant to a telephone call to a 

booking office linked by radio to the vehicle, the contract of hire shall be deemed 
to be made with the person or body operating the booking office, and shall not be 
set into operation until the hirer has commenced his journey. 

 
2.  Use of Taximeter/Table of Fares 
 

It is an offence for any hackney carriage driver to charge more than the metered 
rate for journeys within the District. Any driver found doing this may face 
revocation of his/her drivers licence or prosecution.  The meter must be set at the 
point of pick up. 

 
The driver may at his/her discretion require the payment of an agreed sum in 
advance of the journey.  A receipt will be given and the amount will be set against 
the metered fare. 

 
 
 

Page 93



14 
 

4. Child Seats/Seatbelts 
 
Rear facing baby seats MUST NOT be used in a seat protected by a frontal air-
bag unless the air-bag has been deactivated manually or automatically.  
 
It is impracticable to expect the right child seat or booster to be available in a taxi 
unless carers have brought one with them. Therefore, there is a qualified 
exception so that if child restraints are not available in a licensed taxi or licensed 
private hire vehicle. 
 
- under 3s may travel unrestrained but in the rear only; 
 
- those 3 years and above must use an adult belt in the rear seat only. 
 
Remember that a child up to 135cms in a front seat of ANY vehicle must use the 
correct child seat or booster 
 
The driver of the vehicle is responsible for seat belt wearing by children 
under 14 years (except in taxis with fixed partitions) 

 
6.     Animals 

 
(1) The Licensee shall at all times carry guide/hearing/assistance dogs, free of 

charge, unless he has a proven medical condition that would preclude such 
action and is in receipt of a Notice of Exemption issued by the Council, in 
accordance with section 169 Equality Act 2010 

 
(2) The Licensee has a responsibility to ensure that their company/employer is 

aware of such a medical condition when they are first employed.  
 

 *N.B. Guide dogs are trained to travel in the passenger foot well and at 
the request of the handler this should be permitted. 
  

7. Change of Address 
 

The licensee shall notify the Council in writing of any change of his address 
during the period of the licence within seven days of such change taking place. 
 

8. Convictions or Cautions 
 

The licensee shall within seven days disclose to the Council in writing details of 
any conviction, caution or fixed penalty imposed on him during the period of the 
licence. 

 
9.  Health 
 

The licensee shall inform the Licensing Manager without delay about the onset or 
worsening of any health condition likely to cause him to be a source of danger to 
the public when driving either now or in the future.  Examples are giddiness, 
fainting, blackouts, epilepsy, strokes, multiple sclerosis, Parkinson’s disease, 

Page 94



15 
 

heart disease, angina, ‘coronaries’, high blood pressure, arthritis, disorder of 
vision, mental illness, alcoholism, drug-taking, and loss of a limb or use of a limb.  
THIS LIST DOES NOT INCLUDE ALL THE DISABILITIES THAT MUST BE 
REPORTED.  THESE ARE EXAMPLES ONLY.  

 
Temporary conditions, other than recurrent ones, not expected to last more than 
three months need not be reported.  Drivers who are in doubt about whether or 
not their health condition is one which should be reported should consult their 
doctor. 

 
10. Suspension or Revocation of Licence 
 
 a) The breach by the licensee of any provision of this code or the byelaws may 

be treated by the Council as reasonable cause for the suspension or revocation 
of the licence under Section 61(1)(b) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act, 1976. 

 
Section 52 of the Road Safety Act 2006 has introduced 2 new sections into 
Section 61 as follows:- 

 
 Sub-section 2A provides that a suspension or revocation will take effect 21 days 

after the driver has received notification of the decision to suspend or revoke his 
licence. The day on which he receives notification will be day one. 

 
 Sub-section 2B provides that if the Council believe that it would be in the interest 

of public safety to suspend or revoke the licence with immediate effect it may do 
so provided that the usual decision notice given to the driver states that the 
licence is suspended or revoked immediately and explains why. 

 
11. Return of Licence and Badge 
 

In the event of the suspension or revocation of a licence the Licensee shall 
forthwith upon receiving written notice, return the licence and the driver’s Identity 
badge which may have been issued to him to the Licensing Office and such 
badge shall likewise be returned on the expiry of the licence without immediate 
renewal. 

 
12. Variation of Policy 
 

The Council may at any time during the period of the licence or upon renewal 
thereof vary in its discretion any provision of this policy. 

 
13.     Production of Driving Licence and Insurance 
 

The licensee shall, within 7 days of receiving written notice requiring him to do so, 
produce to the Licensing Office his current DVLA Driving Licence and insurance 
for inspection. 

 
 
 
 

Page 95



16 
 

REQUIREMENTS FOR PRIVATE HIRE DRIVERS 
 

 
1. Conduct of Driver 
 
             The driver shall: 

(a)    afford all reasonable assistance with passengers’ luggage. 

(b) at all times be clean and respectable in his dress and person and 
behave in a civil and orderly manner. 

(c) take all reasonable steps to ensure the safety of passengers 
conveyed in, entering or alighting from the vehicle driven by him. 

(d) not without the express consent of the hirer  drink or eat in the   
vehicle.  

(e) not without the express consent of the hirer play any radio or sound 
reproducing instrument or equipment in the vehicle other than for the 
purpose of sending or receiving messages in connection with the 
operation of the vehicle. 

(f) at no time cause or permit the noise emitted by any radio or other 
previously mentioned equipment in the vehicle which he is driving to 
be a source of nuisance or annoyance to any person, whether inside 
or outside the vehicle. 

(g) If the driver must use a telephone to take business calls whilst a 
customer is in his vehicle, the call must always be hands free and 
must be kept to an absolute minimum.  Prolonged conversations 
whilst driving could affect concentration and put the passenger and 
other road users at risk. 

NB. It is an offence to smoke in any licensed vehicle at any time.  
The Council does not permit the use of E Cigarettes in a licensed 
vehicle at any time. 

. 
2.  Seatbelts/Child Seats 
 

Rear facing baby seats MUST NOT be used in a seat protected by a frontal air-
bag unless the air-bag has been deactivated manually or automatically.  
 
It is impracticable to expect the right child seat or booster to be available in a taxi 
unless carers have brought one with them. Therefore, there is a qualified 
exception so that if child restraints are not available in a licensed taxi or licensed 
private hire vehicle. 
 
- under 3s may travel unrestrained but in the rear only; 
 
- those 3 years and above must use an adult belt in the rear seat only. 
 
Remember that a child up to 135cms in a front seat of ANY vehicle must use the 
correct child seat or booster 
 

Page 96



17 
 

The driver of the vehicle is responsible for seat belt wearing by children 
under 14 years (except in taxis with fixed partitions) 

 
 
3. Written Receipts 
 

The driver shall if requested by the hirer of a private hire vehicle provide him with 
a written receipt for the fare paid. 

 

4.  Animals 
 

The Licensee shall not convey in a Private Hire vehicle any animal belonging to or 
in the custody of himself or the proprietor or operator of the vehicle. 

 
The Licensee shall at all times carry guide/hearing/assistance dogs, free of 
charge, unless he has a proven medical condition that would preclude such action 
and is in receipt of a Notice of Exemption issued by the authority, in accordance 
with section 169 Equality Act 2010 The Licensee has a responsibility to ensure 
that their company/employer is aware of such a medical condition when they are 
first employed. 

 
5.   Prompt Attendance 
 

 The driver of a private hire vehicle shall, if he is aware that the vehicle has been 
hired to be in attendance at an appointed time and place or he has otherwise 
been instructed by the operator or proprietor of the vehicle to be in attendance at 
an appointed time and place, punctually attend at that appointed time and place. 

 

6.  Shortest Route 

The driver of a private hire vehicle when hired to drive to any particular destination 
shall, subject to directions given by the hirer, proceed to that destination by the 
shortest available route. 

 

7. Fare to be Demanded 
 
The driver shall not demand (from any hirer of a private hire vehicle) a fare in 
excess of any previously agreed for that hiring between hirer and the operator or, 
if the vehicle is fitted with a taximeter and there has been no previous agreement 
as to the fare, the fare shown on the face of the taximeter 

 

8. Deposit of Licence 
 

If the driver is permitted or employed to drive a private hire vehicle of which the 
proprietor is someone other than himself, he shall before commencing to drive 
that vehicle deposit a copy of his private hire drivers licence with that proprietor for 
retention by the proprietor until such time as the driver ceases to be permitted or 
employed to drive the vehicle or any other vehicle of the proprietor. 

Page 97



18 
 

 

9. Change of Address 
 

The driver shall notify the Licensing Office in writing of any change of his address 
during the period of the licence within seven days of such change taking place. 

 
10. Convictions and Cautions 

 
The driver shall within seven days disclose to the Licensing Office in writing 
details of any conviction, caution or fixed penalty imposed on him during the 
period of the licence. 

 

11.  Suspension/Revocation 

(a) The breach by the licensee of any provision of this code or may be   treated by 
the Council as reasonable cause for the suspension or revocation of the licence 
under Section 61 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1976. 
Section 52 of the Road Safety Act 2006 has introduced 2 new sections into 
Section 61 as follows:- 

 
 Sub-section 2A provides that a suspension or revocation will take effect 21 days 

after the driver has received notification of the decision to suspend or revoke his 
licence. The day on which he receives notification will be day one. 

 
 Sub-section 2B provides that if the Council believe that it would be in the interest 

of public safety to suspend or revoke the licence with immediate effect it may do 
so provided that the usual decision notice given to the driver states that the 
licence is suspended or revoked immediately and explains why. 

 
12.   Return of Licence and Badge 
 

In the event of the suspension or revocation of a licence the Licensee shall 
forthwith upon receiving written notice, return the licence and the driver’s Identity 
badge which may have been issued to him to the Licensing Office and such 
badge shall likewise be returned on the expiry of the licence without immediate 
renewal 

 
 
13.  Health 
 

The licensee shall inform the Licensing Manager without delay about the onset or 
worsening of any health condition likely to cause him to be a source of danger to 
the public when driving either now or in the future.  Examples are giddiness, 
fainting, blackouts, epilepsy, strokes, multiple sclerosis, Parkinson’s disease, 
heart disease, angina, ‘coronaries’, high blood pressure, arthritis, disorder of 
vision, mental illness, alcoholism, drug-taking, and loss of a limb or use of a limb.  
THIS LIST DOES NOT INCLUDE ALL THE DISABILITIES THAT MUST BE 
REPORTED.  THESE ARE EXAMPLES ONLY.  

 

Page 98



19 
 

Temporary conditions, other than recurrent ones, not expected to last more than 
three months need not be reported.  Drivers who are in doubt about whether or 
not their health condition is one which should be reported should consult their 
doctor. 

 
14.   Production of Driving Licence & Insurance 
 

The licensee shall, within 7 days of receiving written notice requiring him to do so, 
produce to the Licensing office his current Driving Licence & insurance for 
inspection  

 

15.  Variation of Policy 
 
 The Council may at any time during the period of the licence or upon renewal 

thereof vary in its discretion any provision of this policy. 
 

 

Notes for the Guidance of Applicants For 

Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Vehicle Licences 
 
Application forms for licences can be obtained from the Licensing Department, 
Scaitcliffe House, Ormerod Street, Accrington or can be downloaded at 
www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk. 
 
An applicant who is not already a licensed driver with this Council will be subject to a 
Disclosure and Barring Services check. 
 
Spent Convictions:Under the provisions of the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 
1974 you are not obliged to disclose any offences resulting in one of the sentences 
shown in the left-hand column below if the corresponding period in the right-hand 
column has elapsed. (It should be noted however that spent convictions, when 
revealed by other checks that the Council is permitted to undertake, may be 
taken into account if they are considered relevant in determining whether an 
applicant is a fit and proper person to hold a private hire or hackney carriage 
vehicle licence.)   

REHABILITATION PERIODS 

Sentence Rehabilitation period 
Age 18 or over when 
convicted from end of 
sentence including 
licence period 

Rehabilitation period 

Age under 18 when 
convicted from the end 
of sentence including 
rehabilitation period 

Community order or youth 
rehabilitation order* 

Total length of order plus 1 
year 

Total length of order plus 6 
months 

Page 99



20 
 

Prison sentence or detention 
in a young offender institution 
for 6 months or less 

Total length of sentence 
(including licence period) 
plus 2 years 

Total length of sentence 
(including licence period) 
plus 18 months 

Prison sentences of over 6 
months, and up to and 
including 30 months 

Total length of sentence 
(including licence period) 
plus 4 years 

Total length of sentence 
(including licence period) 
plus 2 years 

Prison sentences or 
detention in a young offender 
institution for over 30 months 
and up to 48 months 

Total length of sentence 
(including licence period) 
plus 7 years 

Total length of sentence 
(including licence period) 
plus 3.5 years. 

Imprisonment or detention in 
a young offender institution 
for over 48 months (4 years) 
or a public protection 
sentence 

Never spent Never spent 

Fines (even if subsequently 
imprisoned for fine default)*** 

1 Year 6 months 

Absolute discharge spent immediately  spent immediately 

Simple caution/youth 
caution** 

spent immediately Spent immediately 

Conditional caution/youth 
conditional caution 

3 months or when caution 
ceases to have effect if 
earlier 

3 months or when caution 
ceases to have effect if 
earlier 

Absolute discharge Spent immediately Spent immediately 

Bind over At the end of the order At the end of the order 

Conditional discharge order At the end of the order At the end of the order 

Compensation order**** When paid in full When paid in full 

Attendance centre order At the end of the order At the end of the order 

Care order When order ceases to have 
effect 

When order ceases to 
have effect 

Confiscation order When order ceases to have 
effect 

When order ceases to 
have effect 

Forfeiture order When order ceases to have 
effect 

When order ceases to 
have effect 

Hospital order When order ceases to have 
effect 

When order ceases to 
have effect 

Referral order At the end of the order At the end of the order 

Relevant order**** When order ceases to have 
effect 

When order ceases to 
have effect 

Reparation order Spent immediately Spent immediately 

Disqualifications When order ceases to have 
effect 

When order cease to have 
effect 

Page 100



21 
 

Endorsements 5 years 2.5 years 

*A community order or youth rehabilitation order which has no specified end date 
has a default rehabilitation period of two years from date of conviction or from the 
time the disposal is administered.  If the order is subsequently changed, this will not 
affect the rehabilitation period.  The rehabilitation period is not halved if the person 
was under 18 when convicted.  The changes made to the rehabilitation of 
Offenders Act 1974 by the Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 
2012 provided for all subsequent community orders to have an end date. 

**Youth caution replaces the disposals – reprimands and final warnings which were 
abolished in April 2013 

***The rehabilitation period of a fine applies even if the person is subsequently 
imprisoned for default of the fine.  Fines arising from fixed penalty notices and 
penalty notices for disorder (PND) are not covered by the Act as they do not form 
part of an individual’s criminal record so they do not have a rehabilitation period. 

****It is important that individuals obtain proof of payment of the compensation 
order from the court and keep this document to prove it has been paid in full.  This 
evidence may be required before a basic disclosure can be issued by Disclosure 
Scotland 

*****A relevant order (e.g. restraining order or sexual offences prevention order 
(SOPO) which has no specified end date has a default rehabilitation period of two 
years from the date of conviction or from the time the disposal is administered 

 

 
 
Vehicle Testing 
Before a vehicle licence can be issued the vehicle must be mechanically tested 
and inspected by the Council’s nominated garage. This process is referred to 
as “the Engineer’s Report” or “Certificate of Compliance”. 
 
The licence of any vehicle which fails its inspection will be automatically suspended 
until such time as the vehicle has been re-examined and the necessary pass 
certificates obtained. 
 
When a car already licensed by this Council reaches 2 years of age it will be 
required to pass the Council’s vehicle examination test twice yearly. Any vehicle 
over the age of 2 years will only be issued with a 6 month plate. When a vehicle 
reaches 10 years of age it will be subject to the Council’s vehicle examination test 
three times per year and it will only be issued each time with a four month licence. 
When a vehicle reaches the age of 15 years it will cease to be licensed. 
 
Vehicles cannot be licensed simultaneously for both public hire (hackney) and 
private hire. 
 
Vehicles which are licensed by another local authority will not be licensed by this 
(Hyndburn Borough Council) authority. 
 

Page 101



22 
 

Applicants for private hire vehicle licences, who intend to operate independently, 
must obtain a private hire operator's licence, and any necessary planning permission 
from the Council’s Planning Department, before such vehicle licence can be issued. 
 
All vehicles shall have an appropriate “Type Approval” which is either a European 
Community Whole Vehicle type approval (ECWVTA) or UK Low Volume Type 
Approval (UKLVTA) Vehicles shall not have been altered since that approval was 
granted.  A Single Vehicle Type approval (SVA) may be accepted for wheelchair 
accessible vehicles.  On 29th April 2009 the SVA was replaced by Individual Vehicle 
Approval (IVA).  
 
Vehicles presented for licensing, and while in use, shall comply with the Road 
Vehicles (Construction and Use) Regulations 1986 and any subsequent amendment 
or re-enactment thereof. 
 
Licensed vehicles which have M type approval (European Community Whole Vehicle 
Type Approval) and have been modified or have been subject to any alterations 
since manufacture will be considered for licensing provided that they are presented 
with: 

 
(i) United Kingdom Low Volume / Small Series Type Approval for 
Passengers Cars; or 
 
 (ii)United Kingdom Single Vehicle Type Approval: or 

 
     (iii)A ‘status’ certificate which certifies the seating arrangement to the   
          strength and anchorage positional requirements of 76/115/EEC for M1   
         loading mounted to a steel plate. The certificate will include the following  

 
 Signature, printed name and declaration of the engineer who 

fitted the seats and seat belt to state that they were fitted in the 
approved manner to meet M1 standards 

 
 Date the fitting of the seating arrangement took place. 

 
 The registration and chassis number of the vehicle to which the 

certificate applies. 
  

 Mileage of the vehicle when the conversion was certified. 
 

 
 The additional information to the Status certificate must be on 

letter headed paper and include the proprietor of the business. 
 

From 1st July 2013 motor vehicles which have N type approval (European 
Community Whole Vehicle Type Approval) will not be considered unless they are 
presented with United Kingdom Low Volume / Small Series Type Approval for 
Passenger Cars. 
 

Page 102



23 
 

Vehicles should have no damage affecting the structural safety of the vehicle. The 
authority will not licence any vehicle that has been a Category C insurance ‘write 
off’. 
 
Sufficient means shall be provided by which any person in the vehicle may 
communicate with the driver. 
 
When submitting applications for Hackney Carriage/Private Hire vehicle licences, the 
application should be accompanied by the following documentation: - 
 

(a) Registration document in name of applicant. 
(b) Current certificate of insurance. (Photocopies not acceptable) 
(c) Authority test certificate 
(d) Appropriate fee 
(e) Appropriate type approval 

 
Insurance policies – If insurance is not produced at the time of licence renewal or 
when requested by the Licensing Section, the vehicle licence will be immediately 
suspended to ensure public safety.  A copy of the certificate of motor insurance must 
be carried in the vehicle at all times that the vehicle is available for hire or hired. 

 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 1976 
 

HACKNEY CARRIAGE VEHICLE LICENCES 
 

     CONDITIONS OF LICENCE 
 
1. Specification and Maintenance of Vehicle 
 

The vehicle must have at least four doors, all of which are capable of being 
opened from the inside. 

 
The vehicle must be capable of carrying not less than four passengers but not 
more than eight. 

 

The vehicle shall be of right-hand drive manufacture and not converted as such.  
 

Any vehicle that is to be converted to Liquid Petroleum Gas (LPG) must be with 
the express permission of the Council.  Only a garage authorised to do so may 
carry out the conversion.  A Certificate of Compliance is to be obtained 
immediately after any such conversion and presented to the licensing department 
for inspection. All conversions must be carried out by a Department for Transport 
(DFT) approved centre and all conversions must be certified in writing by the 
approved centre that has carried out the conversion. 
 
Any vehicle that is presented for licensing and has already been converted to 
LPG, must have been converted at a DFT approved centre and any such 

Page 103



24 
 

conversion must be certified in writing by the approved centre that has carried out 
the conversion. 
 

There must be sufficient space between the seat cushions and the lowest part of  
the roof to safely accommodate the driver and passengers in reasonable 
comfort. Eighty six centimeters is the minimum requirement. 
 
There must be sufficient space between the front and back seats to safely 
accommodate the driver and passengers in reasonable comfort. There must be 
at least eighteen centimeters between the back of the front seat and the front of 
the next row of rear seats. 
 

    The seat provided for each passenger must have a minimum width of 405   
millimeters (16 inches) measured across its narrowest parts. 
 

All passenger seats shall be provided with a lap and diagonal 3 point seat belt 
which comply with the strength requirements specified in European Directive 
76/115 EC (as amended by Directive 96/38 EC) and Regulations 46 and 47 of 
the Road Vehicle (Construction and Use) Regulations 1986, whether or not those 
Directives or Regulations apply to that particular seat or the vehicle. 
 
The boot/luggage compartment should be empty except for spare wheel, fire 
extinguisher, essential tools and first aid kit, (to comply with Health and Safety 
(First Aid) Regs 1981).  The compartment should be clean and any covering free 
from major cuts, tears or other damage or staining. 
 
The vehicle glass is to be kept clear of all obstructions. 

 
Hackney carriage vehicles should be capable of carrying one average size piece 
of luggage per passenger carried.  The driver must make provisions to ensure 
that the luggage can be carried safely and securely, whilst still allowing room for 
the passengers to travel in comfort  

The vehicle and all its fittings and equipment shall at all times when the vehicle is 
in use or available for hire be kept in an efficient, safe, tidy and clean condition 
and all relevant statutory requirements (including in particular those contained in 
Motor Vehicles (Construction and Use) Regulations) shall be fully complied with. 

 
 All new or replacement hackney carriage vehicles must be;-  

 
a “London” type hackney carriage, or  a suitable wheelchair accessible     

     vehicle, approved by the Council, for licence numbers 54 to 62 
 

      a saloon car approved by the Council to be fitted with a swivel seat for   
      licence numbers 1 to 53 
 

Swivel seats must be fitted to compatible vehicles by an authorised 
company in accordance with the vehicle and seat manufacturers guidance 
and the company concerned must provide certification of compliance with 
these requirements; and 

 

Page 104



25 
 

The swivel seat must be fitted when the vehicle is presented for a taxi 
vehicle test.  If a swivel seat isn’t fitted, the vehicle will fail its test. 

 
      Swivel seats are not available for every make and model of vehicle   
       manufactured. Vehicles in which it is not possible to install such a  
       seat, will NOT be acceptable for licensing unless the height of the   
       seat (28” from the ground to highest part of seat squab) is such that it   
       offers no benefit to the disabled (e.g. some MPV’s and purpose built   
       people carriers).  
 
      A swivel seat is required to allow access for disabled or elderly people  
      in and out of the vehicle. The seat works by rotating 90° and then   
      sliding forwards. The person can then sit on the seat and rotate back   
      in to the vehicle. You must ensure that the seat is then locked back in   
      to position  
 
 A demonstration video can be found on www.elap.co.uk 

 
The vehicle shall have four road wheels of uniform standard, size and style,  
 which conform to construction and use regulations.  

 
  If the vehicle has been manufactured with a spare wheel well, the 

vehicle must be equipped with a spare wheel, a wheel brace and a 
jack.  

 
  Space-saver spare wheels will be accepted, but only if fitted as 

standard equipment to the vehicle by the vehicle manufacturer.  
 

   In all other cases, the spare wheel must be a standard road wheel that  
conforms to construction and use regulations and is of the same 
standard   and  size as the existing road wheels.  

 
  A vehicle presented for examination and test with a space saver spare wheel  
  in use as a road wheel will fail the test.  
 

If the vehicle has been manufactured without a spare wheel well /cage, the 
requirement to carry a spare wheel will not apply. In such cases:  

 
        The vehicle may be fitted with a full set of ‘run flat’ tyres, or  
 
        If a vehicle is not fitted with ‘run flat’ tyres, an inflation kit which  
  includes a puncture sealant must be provided which is in a serviceable 
           condition. 
 

In the event of the need arising for the fitting of a space saver tyre or the use 
of a run flat tyre or an inflation kit, then the appropriate remedial action to 
replace with ‘new’, as per original specification, must be undertaken upon 
completion of the journey”. 

 
 The Proprietor shall permit an authorised officer of the Council or a Police 
Officer to inspect and test the vehicle or any taximeter affixed to such vehicle 

Page 105



26 
 

at all reasonable times. If the officer is not satisfied as to the fitness of the 
Hackney Carriage or as to the accuracy of the taximeter, he shall be able to 
direct the vehicle to the Council's nominated inspection/testing centre 
immediately for further examination. If further inspection and testing is 
required, the licence shall then be suspended until such time as the officer is 
satisfied with the vehicle.  The plate shall, on suspension of the licence, be 
handed to the officer but will be returned upon reinstatement of the licence.  
However, if the officer is not so satisfied as to the fitness or condition of the 
vehicle within a period of two months, the licence shall be revoked.  

 
 
2. Insurance 
 

At all times, the Proprietor shall, during the currency of the vehicle licence, 
keep in force in relation to the user of the Hackney Carriage, a policy of 
insurance which covers third party liability both in respect of physical injury or 
death and in respect of damage to personal belongings.  A copy of the 
appropriate insurance certificate should be carried in the vehicle at all times 
that the vehicle is available for hire or hired, and made available for inspection 
by an authorised officer on request. 

 
3   Taximeter 
 

The taximeter provided in the vehicle must be tested, approved and sealed by 
the Council and must display only the tariff or tariffs to be charged at the 
relevant time as contained in the table of fares fixed by Hyndburn Borough  
Council.  

 

4      Alteration of Vehicle 
 

No material alteration or change in the specification, design, condition or 
appearance of the vehicle shall be made without the approval of the Council 
at any time while the licence is in force. 

 
5       Safety Equipment 
 

There shall be provided and maintained in the vehicle at all times when it is in 
use or available for hire a suitable and efficient fire extinguisher and a suitable 
first aid kit containing appropriate first aid dressings and appliances,(to 
comply with Health and Safety(First Aid) Regs 1981), such equipment to be 
carried in such a position in the vehicle as to be readily accessible for 
immediate use in an emergency and a notice shall be displayed in the vehicle 
as to where they are kept 

Your attention is drawn to your liability if rendering first aid, the kit 
carried is to enable ONLY those trained in its use to render assistance to 
third parties.  If the need for its use should arise it should only be used 
by a person who holds a current recognised first aid certificate. If a 
passenger requested the equipment then it may be provided for self 
administration by the customer in the interest of customer care. 

Page 106



27 
 

 
 
6.       Interior Markings 
 

The proprietor shall cause to be clearly marked and maintained inside the 
vehicle in such a position as to be visible at all times to persons conveyed 
therein the licence number and the number of passengers prescribed in the 
licence as well of the details and photograph of the driver. 

 

7.       Signs, Notices etc. 
 

The display of signs on Hackney Carriages shall be restricted to the roof.  A 
roof sign must be fitted and must be capable of illumination and be illuminated 
at all times when (and only when) the vehicle is available for hire.  
 
Advertising on any glasswork on a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle is 
prohibited 

The Hyndburn Borough Council licence plate must be permanently displayed 
on the outside rear of the vehicle, either immediately above or below the 
bumper without obstructing the registration plate. The plate must be displayed 
on the vehicle at all times whether the vehicle is plying for hire or not. 
 
The licence plate is the property of the Council, to whom it must be returned 
within seven days if the licence is ever suspended, revoked or not renewed for 
any reason. 
   
 A licensed vehicle must display a Council issued self-adhesive sticker in both 
rear passenger windows stating ‘if you have any comments regarding this 
vehicle or driver please contact the licensing office on 01254 380616. 
 
When a hackney carriage vehicle is being used to fulfil a booking made by a 
private hire operator the hackney carriage must have affixed to the 2 rear 
passenger doors the company door signs of the private hire operator that took 
the booking or of the private hire operator that the booking has been sub 
contracted to. 

 
All wheelchair accessible hackney carriage vehicles must display the 
nationally recognised wheelchair accessible sign in at least two prominent 
positions visible from the outside of the vehicle.  
 

    8.   Convictions and Cautions 
 

The proprietor shall within seven days disclose to the Licensing Office in 
writing details of any conviction or caution or fixed penalty  imposed on him 
(or, if the proprietor is a company or partnership, on any of the directors or 
partners) during the period of the licence. 

 

 

Page 107



28 
 

9. Deposit of Drivers’ Licences and Keeping of Records 
 

If the proprietor permits or employs any other person to drive the vehicle, he 
shall before that person commences to drive the vehicle cause the driver to 
deliver to him a copy of his hackney carriage driver’s licence for retention until 
such time as the driver ceases to be permitted or employed to drive the 
vehicle or any other vehicle of his. 

The proprietor of the vehicle shall keep a complete and accurate record of the 
name of the person driving the vehicle at any time.  This information must be 
kept for a period of six months and produced upon request to an authorised 
officer or constable.  

 
10.   Change of Vehicle Owner.  

 
If a proprietor transfers his/her interest in a vehicle to somebody else he/she 
must immediately give notice of the transfer in writing on the prescribed form 
to the licensing section, giving the name and address of the transferee. In no 
circumstances may the vehicle be used by the new owner until a new licence 
has been issued to that person and all documentation completed and any 
necessary fee paid. (Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, 
s 49 

 
11. Accidents  

 
If the vehicle is involved in an accident it must be reported to the licensing 
authority and an accident form completed within 72 hours. Replacement 
vehicles will have the original plate transferred to them. When the original 
vehicle has been repaired and tested the plate will be transferred back to it. 

 
 
12. Video/DVD 

 
There should be no DVD or Video systems operated in the vehicle for the 
entertainment of passengers or the driver. If these are fitted as standard they 
must be disconnected. (This is to ensure there is no distraction for the driver 
and to avoid the risk of unsuitable DVDs or videos being shown)  

  
Without prejudice to the above mentioned provisions, the Proprietor on receipt 
of any notice in writing from the Council, shall present the Hackney Carriage 
for inspection and testing by or on behalf of the Council within such period 
and at such a place as specified by the Council. The separate occasions of 
inspection and testing shall not exceed three in number in any one period of 
twelve months. 

 
13. Windows 
 

There will be no tinted windows allowed in licensed vehicles except where the 
windows are fitted as standard during the initial manufacture of the vehicle. 

 
 
 

Page 108



29 
 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 1976 

 
PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE LICENCES 

CONDITIONS OF LICENCE 
 
1.  Specification and Maintenance of Vehicle 

 
The vehicle and all its fittings and equipment shall at all times when the vehicle is 
in use or available for hire be kept in an efficient, safe, tidy and clean condition 
and all relevant statutory requirements (including in particular those contained in 
Motor Vehicles (Construction and Use) Regulations) shall be fully complied with. 

 
The vehicle must have at least four doors, all of which are capable of being 
opened from the inside. 
 
The vehicle must be capable of carrying not less than four passengers but not 
more than eight. 
 
The vehicle shall be of right-hand drive manufacture and not converted as such.  

 
Any vehicle that is to be converted to Liquid Petroleum Gas (LPG) must be with 
the express permission of the Council.  Only a garage authorised to do so may 
carry out the conversion. A Certificate of Compliance is to be obtained 
immediately after any such conversion and presented to the licensing department 
for inspection. All conversions must be carried out by a DFT approved centre and 
all conversions must be certified in writing by the approved centre that has 
carried out the conversion. 
 
Any vehicle that is presented for licensing and has already been converted to 
LPG, must have been converted at a DFT approved centre and any such 
conversion must be certified in writing by the approved centre that has carried out 
the conversion. 

 
All passenger seats shall be provided with a lap and diagonal 3 point seat belt 
which comply with the strength requirements specified in European Directive 
76/115 EC (as amended by Directive 96/38 EC) and Regulations 46 and 47 of 
the Road Vehicle (Construction and Use) Regulations 1986, whether or not those 
Directives or Regulations apply to that particular seat or the vehicle. 
 
The boot/luggage compartment should be empty except for spare wheel, fire 
extinguisher, essential tools and first aid kit, (to comply with Health and Safety 
(First Aid) Regs 1981).  The compartment should be clean and any covering free 
from major cuts, tears or other damage or staining. 
 
There must be sufficient space between the seat cushions and the lowest part of 
the roof to safely accommodate the driver and passengers in reasonable 
comfort. Eighty six centimeters is the minimum requirement. 

 
 

Page 109



30 
 

 
    There must be sufficient space between the front and back seats to safely 

accommodate the driver and passengers in reasonable comfort. There must be at 
least eighteen centimeters between the back of the front seat and the front of the 
next row of rear seats. 

 
The seat provided for each passenger must have a minimum width of 405 
millimeters (16 inches) measured across it’s narrowest parts. 

 
The vehicle glass is to be kept clear of all obstructions 
 
Tinted windows will not be acceptable in any licensed vehicle unless it is fitted as 
standard at manufacture.  

 
2. Alteration of Vehicle 
 

No material alteration or change in the specification, design, condition or 
appearance of the vehicle shall be made without the approval of the Council at 
any time while the licence is in force. 

 
3. Identification Plate/Signs 
 

On licensed vehicles there shall be displayed only on the two rear passenger 
doors a sign bearing the name and telephone number of the firm from which the 
vehicle is being operated at that time. This sign must be approved by the Council 
for that firm. The font size must be such that the sign can be read from a distance 
of 20 metres (about 5 car lengths) in good daylight by a person with “normal” 
eyesight or by a person wearing their usual glasses or contact lenses. The door 
signs must only include one company name that is the name of the private hire 
company in question and not any names which are incorporated.  
 
The dimensions and colour of these signs will be approved by the Council before 
applying them to the vehicle. 

 
    Minibuses may display the names and telephone number of the firm. This sign 

must be approved by the Council for that firm. The font size must be such that the 
sign can be read from a distance of 20 metres (about 5 car lengths) in good 
daylight by a person with “normal” eyesight or by a person wearing their usual 
glasses or contact lenses.  

 
 The dimensions and colour of these signs will need to be approved by the Council 

before applying them to the vehicle. 
 
     On all Private Hire Vehicles there shall be displayed two door signs supplied by 

the Council which must be, be self-adhesive non removable, issued and approved 
by the Council. The sign will state 'Private Hire Vehicle Insurance invalid unless 
you pre-book this vehicle with a Private Hire firm'. On saloon type vehicles these 
signs will be displayed on both front doors (middle of the panel). On multi-purpose 
vehicles and minibuses they will be displayed on both front doors. The insurance 
sticker will also display the vehicle number 

 

Page 110



31 
 

A licensed vehicle must display a Council issued self- adhesive sticker in both rear 
passenger windows stating ‘If you have any comments regarding this vehicle or 
driver please contact the licensing office on 01254 388111 
 
The Council will permit additional signage on vehicle bonnets as this will not 
distract attention from the mandatory signage. 

  
 The dimensions and colour of these signs will need to be approved by the Council 

before applying them to the vehicle. 
 
The plates identifying the vehicle as a private hire vehicle are required to be 
exhibited on the vehicle pursuant to section 48(6) of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 one shall be securely fixed to the rear of the 
vehicle in a conspicuous position and in such manner as to be easily removable 
by an authorised officer of the Council or a constable. The plate should never be 
removed from the vehicle whilst it remains licensed by this Council. 

 
Private hire vehicles are not permitted to have a top sign fitted at any time.  
 

 

4. Exemption from displaying licence plates and / or Council door signs 
 

Exemptions from displaying licence plates and / or Council door signs will only be 
given to vehicles which are primarily used, i.e. 95% for executive hire and/or 
corporate contracts.  

Executive hire would be work purely carried out for companies, collecting clients 
etc. from hotels, business premises, airports, train stations etc. Executive hire 
would also be any work where a vehicle has been hired by the hirer for a period of 
not less than 24 hours e.g. chauffer service.  

Operators or vehicle owners wishing to be exempt from displaying licence plates 
and / or Council door signs must submit their proposals in writing to the Council. 
The proposals must include the types of vehicles to be used and the type of 
executive or corporate contract work to be carried out.  

Evidence must be provided on initial application for exemption, of at least three 
months records of existing account work and thereafter every six months evidence 
will be required, that the exempt vehicle is still being used for 95% executive hire 
and/or corporate contracts. If the evidence isn’t provided the exemption will be 
removed. The evidence must prove that your vehicle is generally used almost 
exclusively (i.e. up to 95%) for account work and not used for any other booked 
work.  

It is not intended that all private hire vehicles should have access to this 
exemption. It is only considered appropriate to consider 

issue of exemption notices where the following requirements are met: 

Page 111



32 
 

 The vehicle to be exempted is of high quality both in terms of brand and 
condition. 

 Vehicles will normally be the accepted luxury brands such as Mercedes Benz, 
BMW, Jaguar, Rolls Royce, Bentley and Lexus. The highest specification 
executive type cars from other manufacturers may also be considered. The 
Licensing Manager will determine in each case whether these two conditions 
have been met 

 Vehicles will display a disc, issued by the Council, in the front windscreen. 
 The vehicle must have no visible defects, dents or blemishes to the external 

bodywork or internal trim. 
 

N.B The wording of the above paragraph was amended of 12th February 2018 
to provide clarification. 

 
5.   Interior Markings 
 

The proprietor shall cause to be clearly marked and maintained inside the 
vehicle in such a position as to be visible at all times to persons conveyed 
therein the licence number and the number of passengers prescribed in the 
licence as well as the details and a photograph of the driver 

6.    Safety Equipment 
 

There shall be provided and maintained in the vehicle at all times when it is in 
use or available for hire a suitable and efficient fire extinguisher and a suitable 
first aid kit containing appropriate first aid dressings and appliances, (to comply 
with Health and Safety (First Aid) Regs 1981), such equipment to be carried in 
such a position in the vehicle as to be readily accessible for immediate use in 
an emergency and a notice shall be displayed in the vehicle as to where they 
are kept. 

 
Your attention is drawn to your liability if rendering first aid, the kit 
carried is to enable ONLY those trained in its use to render assistance to 
third parties.  If the need for its use should arise it should only be used by 
a person who holds a current recognised first aid certificate. If a 
passenger requested the equipment then it may be provided for self 
administration by the customer in the interest of customer care. 

 
6.    Change of Address 
 

The proprietor shall notify the Council in writing of any change of his address 
during the period of the licence within seven days of such change taking 
place. 

 
7.       Convictions and Cautions 
 

The proprietor shall within seven days disclose to the Council in writing details 
of any conviction imposed on him  or caution or fixed penalty (or, if the 
proprietor is a company or partnership, on any of the directors or partners) 
during the period of the licence. 

Page 112



33 
 

 

8.      Deposit of Drivers’ Licences and Keeping of Records 
 

If the proprietor permits or employs any other person to drive the vehicle as a 
private hire vehicle, he shall before that person commences to drive the 
vehicle cause the driver to deliver to him a copy of his/her private hire driver’s 
licence for retention until such time as the driver ceases to be permitted or 
employed to drive the vehicle or any other vehicle of his. 

The proprietor of the vehicle shall keep a complete and accurate record of the 
name of the person driving the vehicle at any time.  This information must be 
kept for a period of six months and produced upon request to an authorised 
officer or constable.  
 

9.      Insurance 

At all times, the Proprietor shall, during the currency of the vehicle licence, 
keep in force in relation to the user of the private hire vehicle a policy of 
insurance which covers third party liability both in respect of physical injury or 
death and in respect of damage to personal belongings.  A copy of this 
certificate should be carried in the vehicle and made available for inspection 
by an authorised officer on request. 

 
10.      Accidents  
 

If the vehicle is involved in an accident it must be reported to the licensing 
authority and an accident form completed within 72 hours. Replacement 
vehicles will have the original plate transferred to them. When the original 
vehicle has been repaired and tested the plate will be transferred back to it. 

 
11.  Video/DVD 

 
There should be no DVD or Video systems operated in the vehicle for the 
entertainment of passengers or the driver. If these are fitted as standard they 
must be disconnected. (This is to ensure there is no distraction for the driver 
and to avoid the risk of unsuitable DVDs or videos being shown)  

  
Without prejudice to the above mentioned provisions, the Proprietor on receipt 
of any notice in writing from the Council, shall present the Hackney Carriage 
for inspection and testing by or on behalf of the Council within such period 
and at such a place as specified by the Council. The separate occasions of 
inspection and testing shall not exceed three in number in any one period of 
twelve months. 
 

 
12. Windows 
 

There will be no tinted windows allowed in licensed vehicles except where the 

windows are fitted as standard during the initial manufacture of the vehicle. 
 

Page 113



34 
 

Notes for the Guidance of Applicants  
For  

Private Hire Operators Licences 
 

 
Application forms for operators’ licences can be obtained from the Scaitcliffe House, 
Ormerod Street, Accrington or can be downloaded at www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk.  
 
An applicant who intends to operate private hire vehicles from premises must obtain 
any necessary planning permission before any licence can be issued. 
 
An applicant wishing to operate a private hire vehicle from domestic premises may 
require planning permission from the Council’s Planning Department before 
undertaking such an activity and before any licence can be issued. 
 
Applicants for private hire operators’ licences cannot use the same (or similar) name 
as any private hire firm currently operating within the district or any name previously 
used within the district and registered by the operator at Companies House. 
 
An applicant who is not already a licensed driver with this Council will be subject to a 
Basic Criminal Record Disclosure. 
 
It is the duty of all operators to ensure that the staff they employ to work in their 
operating office are suitable to do so and are not persons who may abuse their 
position to take advantage of any member of the public.  Operators are in receipt of 
certain information such as the details when a property will be left empty for a period 
of time, and details of customers phone numbers. For that reason it is paramount 
that the person receiving the information is honest and trustworthy and would not 
either abuse the information themselves or pass the information on to unscrupulous 
persons who may use the information to their own advantage. All employees of the 
private hire operator will be subject to a basic criminal record disclosure. Whilst the 
Council acknowledges that we are not in a position to dictate to an operator who 
should be working for them, a very serious view will be taken of any operator that 
does not ensure that the staff that they employ are honest and trustworthy and have 
not been convicted of any serious offence. This could cause the ‘fitness and 
propriety of the operator to be brought into question and could lead the Council to 
consider whether the operator’s licence should be suspended or revoked. 
 
Spent Convictions: 
Under the provisions of the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 you are not obliged 
to disclose any offences resulting in one of the sentences shown in the left-hand 
column below if the corresponding period in the right-hand column has elapsed. (It 
should be noted however that spent convictions, if revealed by any checks 
that the Council is permitted to carry out, may be taken into account if they are 
considered relevant in determining whether an applicant is a fit and proper 
person to hold a private hire operator’s licence.)   
 

Page 114



35 
 

REHABILITATION PERIODS 

Sentence Rehabilitation period Age 18 
or over when convicted from 
end of sentence including 
licence period 

Rehabilitation period 

Age under 18 when 
convicted from the end of 
sentence including 
rehabilitation period 

Community order or youth 
rehabilitation order* 

Total length of order plus 1 
year 

Total length of order plus 6 
months 

Prison sentence or detention in a 
young offender institution for 6 
months or less 

Total length of sentence 
(including licence period) plus 
2 years 

Total length of sentence 
(including licence period) 
plus 18 months 

Prison sentences of over 6 
months, and up to and including 
30 months 

Total length of sentence 
(including licence period) plus 
4 years 

Total length of sentence 
(including licence period) 
plus 2 years 

Prison sentences or detention in a 
young offender institution for over 
30 months and up to 48 months 

Total length of sentence 
(including licence period) plus 
7 years 

Total length of sentence 
(including licence period) 
plus 3.5 years. 

Imprisonment or detention in a 
young offender institution for over 
48 months (4 years) or a public 
protection sentence 

Never spent Never spent 

Fines (even if subsequently 
imprisoned for fine default)*** 

1 Year 6 months 

Absolute discharge spent immediately  spent immediately 

Simple caution/youth caution** spent immediately Spent immediately 

Conditional caution/youth 
conditional caution 

3 months or when caution 
ceases to have effect if earlier 

3 months or when caution 
ceases to have effect if 
earlier 

Absolute discharge Spent immediately Spent immediately 

Bind over At the end of the order At the end of the order 

Conditional discharge order At the end of the order At the end of the order 

Compensation order**** When paid in full When paid in full 

Attendance centre order At the end of the order At the end of the order 

Care order When order ceases to have 
effect 

When order ceases to have 
effect 

Confiscation order When order ceases to have 
effect 

When order ceases to have 
effect 

Forfeiture order When order ceases to have 
effect 

When order ceases to have 
effect 

Hospital order When order ceases to have 
effect 

When order ceases to have 
effect 

Referral order At the end of the order At the end of the order 

Relevant order**** When order ceases to have 
effect 

When order ceases to have 
effect 

Page 115



36 
 

Reparation order Spent immediately Spent immediately 

Disqualifications When order ceases to have 
effect 

When order cease to have 
effect 

Endorsements 5 years 2.5 years 

*A community order or youth rehabilitation order which has no specified and date 
has a default rehabilitation period of two years from date of conviction or from the 
time the disposal is administered.  If the order is subsequently changed, this will not 
affect the rehabilitation period.  The rehabilitation period is not halved if the person 
was under 18 when convicted.  The changes made to the rehabilitation of 
Offenders Act 1974 by the Legal Aid Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 
2012 provided for all subsequent community orders to have an end date. 

**Youth caution replaces the disposals – reprimands and final warnings which were 
abolished in April 2013 

***The rehabilitation period of a fine applies even if the person is subsequently 
imprisoned for default of the fine.  Fines arising from fixed penalty notices and 
penalty notices for disorder (PND) are not covered by the Act as they do not form 
part of an individual’s criminal record so they do not have a rehabilitation period. 

****It is important that individuals obtain proof of payment of the compensation 
order from the court and keep this document to prove it has been paid in full.  This 
evidence may be required before a basic disclosure can be issued by Disclosure 
Scotland 

*****A relevant order (e.g. restraining order or sexual offences prevention order 
(SOPO) which has no specified end date has a default rehabilitation period of two 
years from the date of conviction or from the time the disposal is administered 
 

 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 1976 
 

PRIVATE HIRE OPERATORS’ LICENCES 

CONDITIONS OF LICENCE 
 
1. Records 
 

(1) The record required to be kept by the operator under Section 56(2) of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 shall be kept in a suitable book, 
the pages of which are numbered consecutively, (an electronic version is 
acceptable), and the operator shall enter or cause to be entered therein, before 
the commencement of each journey, the following particulars of every booking of 
a private hire vehicle invited or accepted by him:- 
 

(a) The time and date of the booking. 

(b) The name and address of the hirer. 

(c) How the booking was made (i.e. by telephone, personal call etc.). 

Page 116



37 
 

(d) The time of pick-up. 

(e) The point of pick-up. 

(f) The destination. 

(g) The time at which a driver was allocated to the booking. 

(h) The registration number of the vehicle allocated for the booking. 

(i) Remarks (including details of any sub-contract). 

 
The operator shall also keep records of the particulars of all private hire vehicles 
operated by him. These particulars shall include details of the owners, registration 
numbers and drivers of such vehicles, together with any radio call sign used. 
 
All records kept by the operator shall be preserved for a period of not less than six 
months following the date of the last entry. 

 
 

2. Standard of Service 
 

The operator shall provide a prompt, efficient and reliable service to members of 
the public at all reasonable times and for this purpose shall in particular:- 

(a) Ensure that when a private hire vehicle has been hired to be in 
attendance at an appointed time and place, the vehicle shall, unless 
delayed or prevented by sufficient cause, punctually attend at that 
appointed time and place. 

(b) Keep clean, adequately heated, ventilated and lit any premises which 
the operator provides and to which the public have access, whether for 
the purpose of booking or waiting. 

(c) Ensure that any waiting area provided by the operator has adequate 
seating facilities. 

(d) Ensure that any telephone facilities and radio equipment provided are 
maintained in a sound condition and that any defects are repaired 
promptly. 

 
3. Change of Address 
 

The operator shall notify the Council in writing of any change of his address 
(including any address from which he operates or otherwise conducts his 
business as an operator) during the period of the licence within seven days of  

such change taking place. 

 

4. Convictions 
 

The operator shall within seven days disclose to the Council in writing details of 
any conviction or caution or fixed penalty imposed on him (or if the operator is a 
company or partnership, on any of the directors or partners) during the period of 
the licence. 

Page 117



38 
 

 

5. Drivers 

An operator must only use drivers and vehicles that hold the relevant licences 
issued by Hyndburn Borough Council. Operators must keep a copy of all private 
hire drivers licences, and photographs of drivers, that are used by them. If 
operators intend to sub contract work to a company outside of Hyndburn Borough 
Council, they must ensure that the operator holds an appropriate licence and only 
uses appropriately licensed vehicles and drivers. 

When a customer is sent a text message to inform them that their vehicle has 
arrived, the operator must also inform the customer in that text of the cost of the 
journey.  This will help to ensure that a disagreement in relation to the requested 
fare does not arise between the driver and the passenger 

 

General Licence Conditions Applying To All Drivers, Proprietors and 
Operators 
 
All drivers/operators/proprietors shall operate strictly within the terms of any 
licence issued, all relevant legislation and other conditions within this handbook, 
but these may not necessarily be exhaustive.  
 
N.B. Any lapse in any licence will result in any application being treated as a new 
application and not renewal and full application requirements will have to be 
satisfied.  Only in exceptional circumstance will late applications for renewal be 
considered.  Each matter will be dealt with on its own merit. 

 

Page 118



39 
 

  
 

 

 

Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank



 UNCLASSIFIED  
 

1 of 2 

 

 

Hyndburn Borough Council 
 
 Customer First Analysis 
 

 
What is it for? 
 
Our corporate values include putting the customer first, providing opportunities for bright futures and 
narrowing inequality across the Borough. 
 
From 1 April 2011, a new legal duty applies to all public authorities.  It covers these protected 
characteristics: 
 

 age; 

 disability; 

 gender reassignment; 

 pregnancy and maternity; 

 race; 

 religion or belief; 

 gender; 

 sexual orientation; and, for some aspects, 

 marriage and civil partnerships. 
 
The duty means that – as previously - we should analyse the effect of existing and new policies and 
practices on equality.  It does not specify how we should do this.  However, legal cases on the 
meaning of the previous general equality duties make it clear that we must carry out the analysis 
before making the relevant policy decision, and include consideration as to whether we can reduce 
any detrimental impact.   
 
The framework overleaf – our Customer First Analysis - is suggested when making a written record of 
the analysis.  This replaces Equality Impact Assessments. 
 
The Analysis should be proportionate to the policy decision being taken.  In some cases the written 
record will be a quick set of bullet points or notes under each heading, to deal with any questions 
which are relevant (or briefly explain why if they aren’t).  Others will need to be much more detailed.  A 
meaningful Analysis will help the Council make the best decision or formulate a policy which best 
meets our customers’ needs. 
 
Please return completed Customer First Analyses to Human Resources.  I can guide you through the 
process if this would be helpful. 
 
If you have any suggestions for improving this process, please let me know. 
 
 
 
Kirsten Burnett 
Head of HR 

Page 121



 UNCLASSIFIED  
 

2 of 2 

Customer First Analysis 
 

1. Purpose 
 

 What are you trying to achieve with the policy / service / function? 
 
The uptake of electric and hybrid vehicles to be licensed as hackney carriage and private hire 
vehicles to assist in the climate change crisis. 
 

 Who defines and manages it? 
 
 Licensing Officers/ Licensing Manager and the Executive Director of Legal and Democratic 
 Services. 
 

 Who do you intend to benefit from it and how? 
 

Hackney carriage and Private Hire owners, members of the public and the Council 
   

 What could prevent people from getting the most out of the policy / service / function? 
  
 Failure to have regard to the policy when making decisions. 
 

 How will you get your customers involved in the analysis and how will you tell people about it? 
 

Letters to all proprietors.  Publication of the updated policy on our website 
 
2. Evidence 
 
 Greater uptake of cleaner vehicles.  
 
3. Impact 
 
The policy will ensure that the uptake of cleaner private hire and hackney carriage vehicles is 
incentivised and should contribute to addressing the climate emergency.  There is no reason to 
believe there will be any adverse impact arising from this change in policy on any of the protected 

characteristics groups. 
 
 

 
Name:   Wendy Redfern                              Signed: _________________________ 
 
Service Area:  Licensing                          Dated: 26th February 2020 

 
If applicable, please attach copy of – or website link to - the cabinet report for reference. 

 
 

Don’t forget to return your written record to HR. 
 

Page 122



Document is Restricted

Page 123

Agenda Item 10.
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3. Minutes of Cabinet
	4. Minutes of Boards, Panels and Working Groups
	Minutes
	Cabinet Committee (Street Naming) - Minutes 24 February 2020
	Minutes


	6. B with Us Allocations Policy
	Appendix 1 - B with Us Allocations Policy
	Appendix 2 - Customer First Analysis

	7. Health and Wellbeing
	8. Amendment to the Rules, Regulations and Procedures for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing
	Appendix 1 - Rules, Regulations and Procuedures
	Appendix 2 - Customer First Analysis

	10. Barnfield & Hyndburn Limited

